

University of Iowa Iowa Research Online

Theses and Dissertations

Spring 2018

Dynamics of skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation with age

William Edward Hughes University of Iowa

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.uiowa.edu/etd

Copyright © 2018 William Edward Hughes

This dissertation is available at Iowa Research Online: https://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/6142

Recommended Citation

Hughes, William Edward. "Dynamics of skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation with age." PhD (Doctor of Philosophy) thesis, University of Iowa, 2018. https://doi.org/10.17077/etd.rc51qwn1

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.uiowa.edu/etd



DYNAMICS OF SKELETAL MUSCLE BLOOD FLOW AND VASODILATION WITH AGE

by

William Edward Hughes

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Physical Rehabilitation Science in the Graduate College of The University of Iowa

May 2018

Thesis Supervisor: Assistant Professor Darren P. Casey



Copyright by

William Edward Hughes

2018

All Rights Reserved



Graduate College The University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

PH.D. THESIS

This is to certify that the Ph.D. thesis of

William Edward Hughes

has been approved by the Examining Committee for the thesis requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Physical Rehabilitation Science at the May 2018 graduation.

Thesis Committee:

Darren P. Casey, Thesis Supervisor

Gary L. Pierce

Richard K. Shields

Stacey L. DeJong

Vitor A. Lira



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor and thesis advisor Dr. Darren Casey for the opportunity to pursue a Ph.D. at the University of Iowa, as well as the innumerable hours of mentorship, encouragement, and leadership. He has played a pivotal role in my development as an independent scientist. Additionally, he has provided countless hours of talk about Syracuse basketball.

I would also like to thank and acknowledge my committee members for their thoughtful insights and encouragement to improve the impact of this work.

I would like to thank and acknowledge members of the Human Integrative and Cardiovascular Physiology lab, both past and present. They have provided countless hours of inspiration, support and feedback. Without their help, none of this work would have been possible.

I would especially like to thank and acknowledge those that have supported me through my endeavor of moving to Iowa to pursue a Ph.D. I am exceptionally grateful to my parents and siblings for their love, support, and encouragement throughout my education. Furthermore, extended gratitude to my extended family who were thrilled to have family move west of the Mississippi River, and have provided many opportunities during holidays, and for road trips back to New York. I am continually grateful for their continuous love, support and encouragement.



ii

ABSTRACT

Aging is associated with attenuated blood flow and vasodilator responses during rhythmic exercise. Older adults also demonstrate attenuated blood flow and vasodilator responses following single skeletal muscle contractions (contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation, ROV) within the forearm. These age-associated attenuations within the forearm have been demonstrated to be a result of endothelial and neural mechanisms. The objective of this research was to examine: 1) whether age-associated attenuations within the forearm are from mechanical factors; 2) whether age-associated attenuions in ROV are present within the leg, as well as explore potential mechanisms for these age-associated attenuations in ROV; 3) examine whether aging is associated with a slower rate of adjustment in vasodilation (vasodilator kinetics) during rhythmic exercise preceding steady-state exercise; and 4) examine approaches to ameliorate age-related attenuations in blood flow and vasodilation within the leg across the entire exercise transient (onset to steady-state).

The novel findings of this research are that 1) age-associated attenuations in ROV within the forearm are independent of mechanical factors; 2) older adults demonstrate attenuated ROV responses within the leg; 3) age-related attenuations in ROV within the leg are not explained by enhanced sympathetic adrenergic vasoconstriction; 4) older adults exhibit prolonged vasodilator kinetics preceding steady-state exercise; and 5) when examined in a cross-sectional design chronic exercise training improves ROV, vasodilator kinetics, as well as steady-state blood flow and vasodilator responses in older adults; 6) acute supplementation with dietary nitrate fails to exert any effect on blood flow and vasodilator responses during any domain of exercise. Collectively, this work establishes that aging is associated with reductions in blood flow and vasodilation across the entire exercise transient (onset to steady-state) within the leg, which is



iii

offset by chronic exercise training. Mechanistically, the current data suggests that mechanical and sympathetic factors do not explain age-related reductions in ROV in the arm and leg, respectively. Furthermore, acute supplementation of dietary nitrate does not impact leg blood flow and vasodilator responses in older adults during any domain of the exercise transient.



PUBLIC ABSTRACT

Advancing age is associated with reductions in blood flow and vasodilation in response to rhythmic exercise. Recent data within the forearm suggests that these reductions are apparent following a single muscle contraction, and prolong the rate of adjustment for blood flow and vasodilation preceding steady-state exercise. These age-associated maladaptations may lead to general intolerance to exercise. However, most of these findings are exclusive to the forearm, and it is unknown whether these age-associated reductions are also present within the leg. The goal of this research was to examine 1) mechanisms that contribute to the age-related reductions in blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of exercise; and 2) how blood flow and vasodilation adapt to rhythmic exercise, and whether this is altered with age. Additionally, we sought to determine whether chronic exercise training or consuming dietary nitrate improves the blood flow and vasodilator responses to single, as well as rhythmic contractions in older adults. We demonstrate mechanical factors do not play a role within age-associated reductions in ROV within the forearm. Furthermore, we demonstrate similar age-associated reductions in ROV between the forearm and leg, and this is not due to enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction. Moreover, the rate of adjustment for vasodilation is prolonged in older adults preceding steadystate exercise. Finally, chronic exercise training, but not acute dietary nitrate, improves these responses in older adults, such that there are no differences from young adults. Together, these studies demonstrate that the mechanisms that contribute to age-associated reductions in blood flow and vasodilation are multi-factorial, but chronic exercise training acts to preserve these responses. Future studies using short-term exercise training interventions are needed to determine whether improvement in aerobic capacity are able to offset the effect of advancing age on blood flow and vasodilation in response to skeletal muscle contractions.



www.manaraa.com

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF LITERATURE	1
Overview of Blood Flow and Vasodilation during Exercise	1
Contraction-induced Rapid Vasodilation	3
Feed-forward to Dynamic Exercise	4
Vascular Aging	5
Limb Differences in Vascular Responsiveness	7
Mechanisms of Blood Flow Regulation with Advancing Age	9
Mechanical Mechanisms	10
Sympathetic Mechanisms	12
Endothelial Mechanisms	14
Summary	19
Specific Aims	21
CHAPTER 2: AGE-ASSOCIATED IMPAIRMENTS IN CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION WITHIN THE FOREARM ARE INDEPENDENT OF MECHANICAL FACTORS	24
Introduction	24
Methods	26
Subjects	27
Experimental Protocol	27
Single Muscle Contractions and External Mechanical Compression	28
Measurements	28
Forearm Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance	29
Data Analysis and Statistics	29



Results	30
Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions and Single Extra-vascular Compressions	31
Influence of Perfusion Pressure on Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions and Single Extra-Vascular Compressions	31
Mechanical Contribution to Contraction-Induced ROV in Young and Older Adults	32
Relationships between Upper Limb Arterial Stiffness and Contraction-Induced ROV	32
Discussion	33
Mechanical Contribution to ROV with Age	33
Perfusion Pressure and Contraction-Induced ROV with Age	34
Peripheral Arterial Stiffness and Contraction-Induced ROV	36
Experimental Considerations	36
Conclusion	38
CHAPTER 3: RAPID ONSET VASODILATION WITH SINGLE MUSCLE CONTRACTIONS IN THE LEG: INFLUENCE OF AGE	45
Introduction	45
Methods	46
Subjects	46
Body Composition, Forearm, and Leg Tissue Mass	47
Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure	47
Pre-Study Day Measurements: Determination of Work Rate Maximum	48
Study Day: Single Muscle Contractions	48
Measurement of Blood Flow	49
Data Analysis and Statistics	49
Results	50
Characterizing ROV in the Leg with Aging	51



Examination of Potential Limb Differences with Aging	51
Discussion	52
Experimental Considerations	56
Conclusion	57
CHAPTER 4: SYMPATHETIC NERVOUS SYSTEM ACTIVATION REDUCES CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION IN THE LEG OF HUMANS INDEPENDENT OF AGE	65
Introduction	65
Methods	67
Subjects	67
Systemic Hemodynamic Measurements	67
Leg Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance	68
Single Muscle Contractions	68
Cold-Pressor Test	69
Experimental Protocol/Design	69
Data Analysis and Statistics	70
Results	71
Baseline (resting) Hemodynamic Responses across Trials	71
Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Muscle Contractions with Age	72
Vasoconstrictor Responsiveness to Single Leg Contractions	72
Absolute Workload Sub-Analysis	73
Potential Sex Differences in Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Leg Knee-Extension with Acute Sympathetic Stimulation	73
Discussion	74
Lower Limb Vasoconstrictor Responses and Age-associated Reductions in Contraction-Induced ROV	75
Sympathetic Vasoconstriction, ROV and Sex Differences	76



Feedforward Mechanisms to Dynamic Exercise	76
Experimental Considerations	78
Conclusion	80
CHAPTER 5: CHRONIC ENDURANCE EXERCISE TRAINING OFFSETS THE AGE- RELATED ATTENUATION IN CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION	N 89
Introduction	89
Methods	90
Subjects	90
Pre-Study Day Measurements	91
Body Composition, Forearm, and Leg Tissue Mass	91
Measurement of Exercise Capacity	91
Determination of Work Rate Maximum	92
Study Day Measurements	92
Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure	93
Single Muscle Contractions	93
Measurement of Blood Flow	93
Data Analysis and Statistics	94
Results	95
Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Muscle Contractions in Train Older, Untrained Older, and Young Adults	ned 95
Relationship between Exercise Capacity and ROV within the Arm and Leg	96
ROV, Age, and Physical Fitness: Influence of Workload	97
Discussion	99
Benefits of Exercise Training on Blood Flow in Older Adults	99
Training Benefits Beyond "Active" Tissue	100
Possible Mechanisms	101



Experimental Considerations	102
Conclusion	103
CHAPTER 6: HABITUAL EXERCISE TRAINING IN OLDER ADULTS OFFSETS THE AGE-RELATED PROLONGATION OF VASODILATION WITHIN THE LEG DURING SINGLE LIMB LOWER BODY EXERCISE	110
Introduction	110
Methods	112
Experimental Protocol	112
Pre-Study Day Measurements	113
Study Day Measurements	114
Data Analysis and Statistics	116
Results	118
Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions.	118
Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Leg Contractions	118
Relationship between ROV and Vasodilator Kinetics	119
Discussion	120
Aging and Vasodilator Kinetics	120
Exercise Training and Vasodilator Kinetics	121
Relationship between Vasodilator Kinetics and Contraction-Induced ROV	122
Experimental Considerations	123
Conclusion	124
CHAPTER 7: IMPACT OF ENHANCING NITRIC OXIDE BIOAVAILABILITY ON LEO BLOOD FLOW AND VASODILATOR KINETICS WITH AGE	G 130
Introduction	130
Methods	131
Experimental Protocol	132



Pre-Study Day Measurements:
Study Day Measurements
Results
Plasma Measures of $[NO_3^-]$ and $[NO_2^-]$
Contraction-Induced Rapid Onset Vasodilation 138
Vasodilator Kinetics
Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Leg Contractions
Discussion 140
Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses 140
Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Vasodilator Kinetics
Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Contractions
Experimental Considerations 143
Conclusion
Chapter 8: CONCLUSIONS
Specific Aims
Specific Aim 1 (Chapter 2) 154
Specific Aim 2 (Chapter 3) 155
Specific Aim 3 (Chapter 4) 155
Specific Aim 4 (Chapter 5) 156
Specific Aim 5 (Chapter 6) 157
Specific Aim 6 (Chapter 7) 158
References



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Subject Characteristics for Aim 1
Table 2: Baseline Hemodynamics Prior to Each Condition 41
Table 3: Subject Characteristics for Aim 2
Table 4: Baseline Hemodynamics under each Condition 59
Table 5: Comparison of Absolute and Relative Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance not normalized for Muscle Mass
Table 6: Comparison of Absolute Change in Rapid Vasodilation in the Arm and Leg of Young and Older Adults at Similar Intensities 61
Table 7: Subject Characteristics for Aim 3
Table 8: Baseline (resting) Hemodynamics under Each Condition
Table 9: Leg Hemodynamics at Rest and Following a Single Contraction at ~10W
Table 10: Subject Characteristics for Aim 4
Table 11: Subject Characteristics for Aim 5
Table 12: Systemic and Leg Hemodynamics at Rest and during Exercise
Table 13: Subject Characteristics for Aim 6
Table 14: Resting Hemodynamics 148
Table 15: Systemic and Leg Hemodynamics



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Experimental timeline. Study procedures were randomized (at, above, below) and counterbalanced (contraction vs. compression) within each subject prior to the study day
Figure 2: Change in vascular conductance (Δ vascular conductance) over 30 cardiac cycles following a single forearm contraction (20% MVC; A & B) and single mechanical compression (200 mmHg; C & D) with changes in arm position relative to heart level (above, at, and belowheart level) in young (A & C) and older adults (B & D)
Figure 3: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction and single mechanical compression of the forearm in young and older adults across experimental trials (above-, at-, and below-heart level). * $P < 0.05$ vs. atheart level during single skeletal muscle contraction. † $P < 0.05$ vs. atheart level during single external compression. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ vs. young adults during single skeletal muscle contraction. # $P < 0.05$ vs. young adults during single external compression
Figure 4: Relative mechanical contribution to peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in young and older adults across experimental trials (above-, at-, and below-heart level). * $P < 0.05$ vs. at-heart level
Figure 5: Hyperemic (change [Δ] in blood flow [BF] and (B) vasodilator (Δ vascular conductance [VC] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following single leg extension contractions at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR _{max}
Figure 6: Immediate (A; first cardiac cycle post-contraction); peak (B), and total (C) hyperemic (Δ BF) and vasodilator (Δ VC) responses normalized for muscle mass to single leg-extension contractions between young and older adults at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR _{max}
Figure 7: Peak and total ΔVC normalized for muscle mass at 20% (A & B), and 40% (C & D) exercise intensity in the arm and leg
Figure 8: Experimental timeline. CPT, cold-pressor test, BL, baseline, WR _{max} , work-rate maximum
Figure 9: Hyperemic [change (Δ) in blood flow (BF); A and B] and vasodilator [Δ vascular conductance (VC); C and D] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following a single leg knee extension at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR _{max} (B and D) during control and sympathetic stimulation (cold-pressor test; CPT) conditions in young and older adults
Figure 10: Peak hyperemic (A and B) and vasodilator (C and D) responses in young and older adults at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR_{max} (B and D). * P<0.05 vs. young; [†] P<0.05 vs control 86
Figure 11: Total hyperemic (A and B) and vasodilator (C and D) responses in young and older adults at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR_{max} (B and D). * P<0.05 vs. young; [†] P<0.05 vs. control 87
Figure 12: Percent reduction (% Δ) in peak (A) and total (B) vasodilator responses to single leg knee extension at 20% and 40% WR _{max} in response to sympathetic stimulation in young and



older adults. Open circles (°) represent females and closed circles (•) represent males of each age group
Figure 13: Hyperemic [change (Δ) in blood flow (BF); A & B] vasodilator [Δ vascular conductance (VC); B & D] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following single muscle contractions at the highest arm (A & C; 40% MVC) and leg exercise intensities (B & D; 60% WR _{max})
Figure 14: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the arm for young, untrained and trained older adults. * $P < 0.05$ vs. untrained older adults
Figure 15: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg for young and untrained and trained older adults. $* P < 0.05$ vs. untrained older adults
Figure 16: Relationship between exercise capacity (VO _{2peak}) and peak vasodilator responses (ΔVC peak) in the arm (A) and leg (B) of young and older adults
Figure 17: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg at an absolute workload of ~11 W for young adults and untrained and trained older adults. * $P < 0.05$ vs. untrained older adults
Figure 18: Expected experimental timeline. WR_{max} , work rate maximum; VO_{2peak} , peak oxygen consumption. Diagonal hash marks indicate a period of 20 minutes of quiet rest
Figure 19: Group mean fit for the on-transient blood flow and vasodilator kinetics at 20% and 40% WR _{max}
Figure 20: Mean response time for blood flow (A) and vasodilator (B) kinetics in young, older untrained and older trained adults during dynamic knee-extension exercise at 20% and 40% WR_{max} . * P < 0.05 vs. young adults, † vs. older trained adults
Figure 21: A. Experimental timeline overview. B: Pre and post measurements within each study day. C: Within study day time line
Figure 22: Rapid vasodilator responses to single skeletal muscle contractions in response to acute supplementation with dietary nitrate and placebo
Figure 23: Group kinetic responses at 20% and 40% work-rate maximum (WR _{max}) prior to and post-supplementation with dietary nitrate and placebo
Figure 24. Mean response time pre and post supplementation with dietary nitrate and placebo at 20% and 40% work-rate maximum (WR _{max})



List of Equations

Equation 1: Relative Mechanical Contribution to ROV	30
Equation 2: Exponential Model for Blood Flow and Vasodilator Kinetics 1	16
Equation 3: Mean Response Time for Comparison between Multiple Components 1	17
Equation 4: Exponential Model for Blood Flow and Vasodilator Kinetics 1	37
Equation 5: Mean Response Time for Comparison between Multiple Compartments 1	37



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Overview of Blood Flow and Vasodilation during Exercise

Dynamic exercise elicits hemodynamic responses such that skeletal muscle blood flow in humans is capable of exceeding 100-fold of resting values during maximal exercise, and this blood flow response is linearly related to the metabolic demands of contracting tissue (3, 31, 94, 109, 153, 259). Regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow and perfusion during dynamic exercise necessitates a complex integration of central (e.g. cardiac output), local (e.g. vasodilators and vasoconstrictors), as well as mechanical factors (52, 68, 70, 112, 130, 190, 248, 250), such that vasodilation is the driving force for this increase in blood flow. This integration of local and central factors acts synergistically in such a way that: 1) oxygen (O₂) delivery is tightly coupled to the metabolic demand of working tissue; and 2) systemic arterial blood pressure (BP) is maintained. Movement (e.g. exercise) is produced by a coordinated recruitment of skeletal muscle motor units and subsequent contraction of skeletal muscle. Energy for skeletal muscle contraction results from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) generated from various sources of metabolism. At rest, skeletal muscle is reliant on oxidative metabolism to ensure adequate matching of O₂ supply to metabolic demand (109, 130). With the transition into dynamic exercise, there is an immediate increase in ATP utilization from high-energy phosphate metabolism. Further generation of ATP is dependent on both the intensity and duration of skeletal muscle activity, resulting from anaerobic and aerobic sources. Collectively, the integration of central, local and mechanical factors contribute to vasodilation driving the increase in blood flow during dynamic exercise.

During the transition from rest to exercise (e.g. exercise onset), skeletal muscle O_2 consumption (VO_{2m}) increases exponentially, while microvascular partial pressure of oxygen



www.manaraa.com

drops in order to meet metabolic demand, however some evidence indicates that this response is not instantaneous (127, 240). The delay in VO_{2m} is suggested to be due to intracellular factors (metabolic inertia), rather than O_2 delivery at this junction (98). However, these results may be constrained to exercise utilizing small muscle mass (145, 162, 207, 208, 240). In this context, steady-state exercise responses utilizing larger muscle mass in young healthy adults demonstrate that VO_{2m} is not constrained by O₂ delivery as demonstrated by experiments which manipulate O₂ delivery with exogenous ATP or hypoxic exposure (increasing and decreasing O₂ delivery, respectively) (47, 98). Furthermore, enhancing O₂ delivery via exogenous ATP transiently reduces leg VO₂ after 30 seconds of high intensity knee extensor exercise (37, 38, 125, 205). When taken with available human data (47), it is apparent that the magnitude and rapidity of O_2 delivery is inherently linked to VO_{2m} and thus capacity to perform and maintain exercise. Indeed, inadequate matching of O_2 delivery to demand results in slowed pulmonary and muscle VO_2 kinetics, promoting exercise tolerance (16, 17, 114, 225). From this, it can be concluded that delays in O₂ delivery may influence O₂ utilization during the rest to exercise transition. Therefore any feedback during this adaptation period is critical in establishing an adequate O₂ delivery response. Matching of O_2 delivery (that is, blood flow) to O_2 consumption (VO_{2m}) is a critical regulator of functional/exercise capacity and tolerance.

By far, the majority of data concerning local regulation of exercise hyperemia and vasodilation has been examined during steady-state exercise (e.g. after a few minutes of exercise). Previous work has demonstrated that no one single vasoactive substance or mechanical component is solely responsible for the increase in blood flow and vasodilation during steady state exercise (130). Rather, an intricate pattern of redundancy is present, whereby when one signaling pathway is inhibited or reduced, skeletal muscle blood flow preserved (52,



132, 183, 246, 248). This vasodilator redundancy effectively ensures that skeletal muscle blood flow is protected when other vasodilating substances are experimentally inhibited, or their mechanism of action blunted (130). By the nature of these studies and associated measurements examining solely steady-state responses, mechanisms of blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of exercise are largely ignored despite regulatory responses evident as soon as after a single skeletal muscle contraction. Blood flow and vasodilator responses following a single muscle contraction suggest that rapid vasodilation is integral in initiating the increase in blood flow (O₂ delivery) requisite for dynamic exercise (54, 57, 59, 68, 121, 252, 295). Subsequently, examination of exercise onset (e.g. following a single skeletal muscle contraction) and transitions between exercise intensities may be more physiologically relevant as humans rarely operate at a steady-state response, yet rather are in a constant transition between workloads of varying metabolic costs. In this context, examination of blood flow and vasodilator responses across an exercise transient (onset to steady-state) glean insight into the dynamic vascular control mechanisms that initiate exercise hyperemia as well as those that sustain hyperemia during steady-state exercise. With this in mind, no previous work has characterized blood flow and vasodilator responses across an exercise transient (onset to steady-state) within the same subjects.

Contraction-induced Rapid Vasodilation

At the onset of exercise (rest-to-exercise transition) there is an immediate increase in skeletal muscle blood flow that is a function of exercise intensity (54, 121, 139, 295, 297). This immediate increase in skeletal muscle blood flow following a single skeletal muscle contraction is termed contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation (ROV). Of particular interest to ROV are the peak (change from baseline) and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses. Accordingly,



ROV reaches peak values approximately 5-7 cardiac cycles post-contraction (59, 61, 121, 295). (39, 59, 61, 121, 242, 252, 295). Examination of hyperemic and vasodilator responses to a single skeletal muscle contraction is important as it permits interrogation of vascular regulatory responses without the confounding influence of subsequent skeletal muscle contractions. In this way, much of the mechanical impedance due to repetitive muscle contractions is avoided. While a single skeletal muscle contraction is not entirely representative of normal physical activity as a whole, it does provide information on the underlying mechanisms that initiate exercise hyperemia.

Feed-forward to Dynamic Exercise

Rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction are postulated to act as a feed-forward mechanism into steady-state rhythmic exercise (39, 51, 53, 54, 139, 223). As previously mentioned, this immediate and robust increase in blood flow and vasodilation is dependent on the intensity of muscle contractions, such that O₂ delivery matches O₂ demand. The initiation of blood flow and vasodilation are in part a result of rapid vascular regulatory mechanisms, which are critical at the onset of exercise (rest-to-exercise transition) as well as during changes in exercise intensity (exercise-to-exercise transition) (54, 121, 252, 270, 295, 297). Hyperemic responses to rhythmic exercise are driven not only by exercise intensity, but also the time-course/rate of adaptation (kinetic response) to reach, and maintain steady-state blood flow. Calculation of the kinetic responses to exercise is an important indicator of one's ability adapt to constant load exercise (127, 243). Blood flow during rhythmic exercise is bi-phasic in nature, plateauing (e.g. steady-state) within a few minutes of the onset of exercise (212, 242, 251, 252, 267-269). The kinetic response of blood flow and vasodilation may be separated into three distinct phases. The rapid increase (phase I) in blood flow and



www.manaraa.com

vasodilation at the onset of rhythmic contractions (5-7 seconds) is thought to feed-forward such that blood flow adequately meets metabolic demand, which may be related to contractioninduced ROV (242, 251, 252, 268, 295, 296). Mechanistically, phase I responses are postulated to be due to the repetitive mechanical compression of skeletal muscle microvasculature, however it has come to light that there is indeed a rapid vasodilation that acts synergistically with mechanically-induced vasodilation (251, 252, 270, 294-297). Phase II describes a slower response that demarcates the transition into steady-state responses, eventually plateauing (2-6 minutes). Phase II mechanisms include integration of vasodilators such that steady-state blood flow is adequate to meet the augmented metabolic demand. Phase III may emerge as a slower response, usually only apparent during heavy or high-intensity exercise (296). Collectively, these vascular regulatory responses are crucial in the ability of the vasculature to respond to changes in the frequency and magnitude of contractile activity (e.g. exercise intensity). Historically, this plateau during phase II has been used to characterize steady-state blood flow and vasodilator responses to dynamic exercise, however utilization of this response fails to account for the time course between the onset of exercise and this plateau phase. Blood flow and vasodilator phase responses to dynamic exercise can be interrogated by approaching the exercise transient from a systems control perspective. Application of a systems control analysis models the different phases of the blood flow and vasodilator responses to dynamic exercise, both the magnitude and timing of these responses may be elucidated, giving insight into regulation of the vasculature during exercise (127, 224, 243).

Vascular Aging

A growing body of evidence indicates that the aging process enhances susceptibility to the development of chronic diseases, particularly cardiovascular related diseases (202). By the



year 2030, one in five Americans will be over the age of 65 (227). As the aging population is rapidly expanding, the mounting pervasiveness of chronic diseases grows in parallel with the prevalence of physical inactivity (28, 29, 149, 150, 192, 298). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, over 750,000 deaths per year are attributed to cardiovascular disease, with 35% of deaths occurring in adults over the age of 65 (194). A hallmark of cardiovascular aging is a dysfunctional arterial phenotype, termed endothelial dysfunction, which is the initial step in atherogenesis (100). Endothelial dysfunction is an antecedent to cardiovascular disease, and is most notably associated with reduced nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability and/or signaling, as well as enhanced sympathetic outflow (79, 134, 149, 150, 281, 283, 285). Despite reductions in mortality using modern medicine, cardiovascular disease remains one of the leading causes of death and disability within the United States (1, 4, 64).

While advanced age is one of the primary risk factors in the development of a dysfunctional arterial phenotype, sedentary time or reduced physical activity also contributes to enhanced cardiovascular disease risk (1, 4, 27-29, 64, 171, 298). Older adults report the highest rate of physical inactivity and poorer physical health (1, 4, 194). Furthermore, aging is associated with alterations in the structure and function of the cardiovascular system (90), resulting in adverse cardiovascular responses to exercise relative to young adults. These age-associated maladaptations manifest as declines in aerobic capacity (e.g. VO_{2peak}) which may be due to impaired O₂ delivery to skeletal muscle. This reduction in aerobic capacity is strongly and inversely related to all-cause mortality, and peak limb vasodilation in older adults (24, 45, 83, 118, 143). Indeed, maximal O₂ consumption declines each decade of life after the age of 30 by approximately 10% per decade (35), which is exacerbated by lifestyle and chronic diseases (28, 284).



Activities of daily living and standardized clinical physical performance tests,

characterized by repeated short bursts of activity (222), rely on the capability of the vasculature to rapidly respond to situations of varying metabolic cost to maintain performance (e.g. sit-tostand; timed up-and-go) (12, 36, 305). Many activities of daily living are improved with exercise training (20, 49, 115). Coupled with declines in aerobic capacity, exercise tolerance, and skeletal muscle blood flow, age-associated impairments in O_2 delivery may be related to poorer physical function, and reduced exercise intolerance (101, 129, 172, 179, 201). Given that blood flow and vascular conductance exhibit adaptive responses across an exercise transient (i.e. phases I, II, III), and that no information presently exists on the kinetics of these responses within the leg in the aging population, this presents an important gap within the literature concerning how local regulation of blood flow and vasodilation are altered with age across the entire exercise transient and whether chronic exercise training to preserve aerobic capacity mitigates these adverse effects. The mechanisms behind these age-related reductions are multi-factorial, with no one underlying mechanism solely responsible, but are postulated to be due to endothelial, neural, as well as mechanical components. Chapters 5 and 6 examine whether exercise training mitigates age-related reductions in blood flow and vasodilation during exercise. A version of Chapter 5 has previously been published within the Journal of Applied Physiology (118). A version of Chapter 6 has recently been submitted for review also within the Journal of Applied Physiology.

Limb Differences in Vascular Responsiveness

The majority of evidence regarding the local regulation of blood flow during exercise has been examined utilizing a forearm model, while a paucity of information has been gleaned using a leg model. The forearm model presents ideal experimental conditions to interrogate the vasculature of a limb with relatively small muscle mass, thus reducing contribution of central



cardiovascular mechanisms (heart rate, mean arterial pressure, cardiac output) from confounding the measurement of local regulation of blood flow during exercise (249). However, it can be argued that the lower limbs represent a more physiologically relevant vascular bed when examining exercise responses, as humans are bipedal in nature. Coupled with this, the lower limbs likely have a greater propensity to develop peripheral vascular disease (7, 167, 168). Furthermore, the lower limbs are subject to greater hydrostatic forces and are integral in helping to maintain systemic arterial pressure due to the relatively high sympathetic innervation and a greater percentage of cardiac output is directed towards the lower limbs (244).

At rest, blood flow is reduced in older adults in the lower, but not upper limbs even when normalized for muscle mass (73, 80). When exposed to exogenous vasodilators, the forearm and leg vasculature exhibit heterogenous responses, in that the forearm vasculature adjusts more rapidly than the leg for a given increase in blood flow with pharmacological manipulation (195). Accumulating evidence indicates that aging is associated with attenuated exercise hyperemia and vasodilation in the upper limbs following a single muscle contraction (39, 141) as well as during steady state exercise (80, 155, 226, 234, 300). Additionally, endothelial functional is reduced with age, even when normalized for shear rate, a stimulus for vasodilation, is taken into account in both the upper and lower limbs (198, 216, 241, 257, 283). This suggests that endothelial function may mediate some of the age-related reductions in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation in the lower limbs with age. It should be noted however, that age-associated attenuations in forearm steady-state blood flow with aging is not a universal finding (80, 141, 198, 239). However, older adults consistently exhibit reductions in blood flow and vasodilation during knee extensor exercise across exercise intensities concomitant with elevations in arterial pressure (e.g.



pressor response) relative to young adults (15, 80, 155, 226, 229). Collectively, these findings suggest that processes that alter skeletal muscle tone with aging may be limb specific.

In addition to the aforementioned information, blood flow dynamics (e.g. kinetic response) appear to be altered between limbs (296). Furthermore, aging alters the dynamics of skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation within the forearm across the rest to exercise transition that is consistent with a reduction in NO bioavailability (41). It remains unknown whether these responses may be extrapolated to the leg. Collectively, these data indicate that exercise hyperemia and vasodilation are severely attenuated with age; however the mechanisms and magnitude for age-related reductions appear to differ between limbs. *Chapter 2 of this dissertation addresses the gap in literature pertaining to mechanisms for the age-related reduction in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation within the forearm, and a version of this chapter has recently been published in Experimental Physiology (116). Chapter 3 of this dissertation addresses whether there are limb differences with age in respect to contraction-induced rapid vasodilation and a version of this Chapter has been previously published in Physiological Reports (120).*

Mechanisms of Blood Flow Regulation with Advancing Age

Mechanisms responsible for the regulation of blood flow and vasodilation are complex, involving mechanical, neural, and endothelial factors (52, 110, 130). Extending this concept, blood flow to any vascular bed is dependent upon vascular tone and perfusion pressure across the vascular bed (52). In a broad sense, regulation of vascular tone is dependent upon the balance between vasodilator and vasoconstrictive substances (52, 248, 261). As previously noted, signaling of vasodilation is fundamentally redundant, with no single factor being solely responsible for vasodilation (52, 112, 130, 213). Given such redundancy in the control of blood



flow and vasodilation during exercise, substances or factors that modulate blood flow and vasodilation must be rapidly acting (<5 sec), and should not desensitize over time (52, 112, 261).

Mechanical Mechanisms

Mechanical compression of blood vessels occurring during contraction of skeletal muscle elicits a rapid increase in blood flow and vasodilation (53, 139, 297). Mechanosensitive endothelial and smooth muscle cells respond to changes in intramuscular pressure, as well as changes in intra-luminal frictional forces (e.g. shear stress) (51). During a skeletal muscle contraction, compression of a vascular bed forces blood out of venous capacitance vessels, thereby lowering venous pressure, increasing the arteriovenous pressure gradient, and eliciting a greater influx of arterial flow (93, 297). The arteriovenous pressure difference across a vascular bed imparts a mechanical component to hyperemia, aptly termed the skeletal muscle pump (130). Altering perfusion pressure via limb position manipulation modifies the arteriovenous pressure gradient, due to the influence of gravity. This notion is supported by evidence demonstrating that, when a given limb is positioned below heart level, the resultant elevation in gravitational forces enhance perfusion pressure thus, creating an augmented pressure and flow response (61, 124, 294, 295, 297).

Conversely, facilitation of venous emptying by positioning a limb above heart level markedly reduces hyperemic responses (294). Due to the rapid hyperemia with extra-vascular compression and the influence of perfusion pressure, the skeletal muscle pump has been postulated to act as one of the mechanisms by which rapid vasodilation occurs after a single skeletal muscle contraction (54, 139, 297). Indeed, mechanical compression of blood vessels within the forearm elicits a rapid hyperemic and vasodilator response (139, 297). Kirby et. al. (139) showed that sustained extra-vascular compressions of the forearm evoke a greater



vasodilation than single compressions alone, such that mechanically evoked contractions share a non-linear relationship with increases in extravascular pressure and peak vasodilator responses (139). Credeur et. al. (61) extended upon these findings by showing a rapid vasodilator response was present in the legs of young adults and that extra-vascular compression (300 mmHg) elicited rapid hyperemic responses within the leg. These ROV responses were found to be greater when the leg was positioned below-heart level, thereby enhancing perfusion pressure. These results collectively indicate that blood flow and vasodilation may increase as products of perfusion pressure manipulation and mechanical distortion in the vasculature of the lower limbs.

While mechanical compression of vascular beds elicits a rapid hyperemia and vasodilation, this response is of considerably less magnitude compared to single skeletal muscle contractions, independent of limb (139, 297). Both Tschakovsky and Credeur (61, 297) showed that following a single muscle contraction a rapid vasodilation is observed, with a magnitude that is greater when the forearm was positioned below heart level (augmented perfusion pressure). Accordingly, these rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses have been shown to be dependent upon contraction-intensity (295). Further evidence for a mechanical contribution to hyperemic and vasodilator responses stems from animal studies, wherein increasing contraction frequency and intensity elicit robust hyperemic and vasodilator responses, which have been shown to be independent of neural and endothelial factors (263-265). Interestingly, the rise in blood flow and vasodilation appear to be disassociated with the onset of locomotion (263-265). Sheriff (263) showed that with alterations in treadmill grade or speed muscle blood flow corresponded to changes in contraction frequency suggesting a direct mechanical coupling between contraction frequency and skeletal muscle blood flow within experimental animal models.



Recent evidence has suggested that properties intrinsic to the arterial wall may modulate the hyperemia and vasodilation with exercise (34, 52, 53, 124). In this context, aging is associated with increases in blood pressure, presumably as a result of reductions in the elastic properties and arterial wall remodeling (303). Increased vascular stiffness may create an environment not conducive to vasodilation during exercise. This age-related increase in vascular stiffness may create an inertia that the smooth muscle is required to overcome at a given level of vasoconstriction. These adverse alterations with age have previously been shown to propagate pulsatile penetrations of blood pressure and blood flow into the microvasculature of the brain (174) and kidney (174, 176). During exercise skeletal muscle blood flow may increase up to 100fold of resting values, therefore it too may be considered a high-flow organ during exercise. Conversely, the microvasculature of skeletal muscle may be relatively well protected against age-related elevations in pulsatile projections due to vascular wall hypertrophy, arterial remodeling and higher resistance to flow at rest serving to offset reductions in arterial compliance (174, 175). Collectively, this evidence indicates that the skeletal muscle pump in concert with rapid vasodilation plays a role in initiating the hyperemic response at the onset of exercise (e.g. following a single contraction) as evidenced by a greater magnitude of response with the dependent limb below, as compared to at or above heart level. Whether the mechanical component of contraction-induced rapid vasodilation is changed with age is currently unknown.

Sympathetic Mechanisms

Dynamic exercise elicits a large systemic hemodynamic response which involves a balance between activation of sympathetic nervous system vasoconstriction and peripheral vasodilation of active muscle tissues. At the onset of dynamic exercise the autonomic nervous system is integral in blood flow re-distribution. In order for exercise to continue, blood flow is



re-distributed to active contracting tissue in order to match O_2 demand (147, 236, 286, 287). Parasympathetic withdrawal allows for an increase in heart rate, and enhanced sympathetic outflow increases cardiac output, and the redistribution of blood flow to active skeletal muscle. Concomitant to the increase in cardiac output, enhanced sympathetic outflow elicits increases in vascular tone. In general, vascular tone within skeletal muscle resistance vasculature is primarily controlled by α -adrenergic receptors on smooth muscle. During dynamic exercise α -adrenergic receptor responsiveness to sympathetic outflow is reduced in active skeletal muscle, facilitating an increase in blood flow (O_2 supply) to metabolically active contracting tissue (i.e. functional sympatholysis). Functional sympatholysis is graded with exercise intensity and reflects a delicate balance between maintenance of systemic arterial pressure, and adequate O_2 supply to contracting tissue. In this context, sympathetic restraint of blood flow during exercise is critical for maintenance of arterial blood pressure as the vasodilator capacity of skeletal muscle far exceeds the ability of the heart to increase cardiac output (244). However, many of these studies fail to examine the temporal responses of sympathetic vasoconstriction. Indeed, there appears to be evidence for rapid blunting of sympathetic vasoconstriction at the onset of exercise, apparent even after a single muscle contraction (forearm) (67, 293). How sympatho-excitatory stimuli influence exercise blood flow is of on-going investigation as responses may vary with age and training status.

Aging is associated with increased muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) and attenuated responsiveness to sympathetic vasoconstriction at rest relative to young adults in both the arm and leg (62, 63, 72, 73, 274). Moreover, age-related elevations in MSNA are associated with increased systemic arterial blood pressure, however this effect is not observed in young men and women (11, 131). Koch et. al. (142) demonstrated that older adults exhibit greater



sympathetic responsiveness during cycling exercise, a phenomenon that has been replicated with forearm handgrip and knee-extension exercise (75, 82, 140, 185). Conversely, Richards et. al. (237) provided evidence that elevations in sympathetic vasoconstriction may not act to restrain forearm skeletal muscle blood flow and vascular conductance during exercise in young or older adults. Interestingly, lifelong exercise training/physical activity acts to preserve this ability to attenuate sympathetic vasoconstriction during exercise (185).

Attenuation of sympathetic vasoconstriction has been observed as early as after a single skeletal muscle contraction in young healthy males (67, 293). Casey et al. (40) showed that sympathetic stimulation reduces contraction-induced peak and total forearm hyperemic and vasodilator responses in young adults, whereas older adults exhibit no such reductions. Subsequent administration of a non-selective α -adrenergic agonist (phentolamine) abolished these age-related differences in peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses. Collectively, these results indicate that α -adrenergic modulation may explain some of the age-related differences in the rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses at least within the forearm at the onset of exercise. It remains unknown whether the lower limbs exhibit similar responses as they represent a larger vascular bed and are more responsive to sympathetic activation. *Whether enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to the attenuated contraction-induced ROV response within the leg of older adults is the focus of Chapter 4 and a version of this Chapter has been previously published in the Journal of Applied Physiology (117).*

Endothelial Mechanisms

The most widely recognized vasodilator, NO, has a host of physiological regulatory functions in conjunction with other signaling molecules, converging on the modulation of vascular tone both at rest and during exercise (52, 112, 235, 257). NO is synthesized within the



endothelium via endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through hydroxylation of L-arginine to N ω -hydroxy-L-arginine in the presence of co-factors, subsequently oxidized to L-citrulline and NO (31, 94, 200, 277). Additionally, NO is synthesized endogenously from eNOS via site specific phosphorylation in response to laminar fluid shear stress (e.g. blood flow) (89, 273, 304). Endothelial-derived NO is rapidly transported to localized vascular smooth muscle where it induces production of the secondary messenger cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) which in turn inhibits calcium re-uptake concomitant with cell hyperpolarization, lowering intra-cellular calcium, and inducing vascular smooth muscle relaxation (89, 91, 92, 97).

It is generally recognized that the reliance on NO to elicit vasodilation in the skeletal muscle vasculature declines with age, precipitating development of endothelial dysfunction (102, 186, 187, 215). It is unclear whether this is due to reductions in bioavailable NO or alterations to NO signaling (2, 69, 271). Taken together, reductions in NO bioavailability or signaling, concomitant with age-related endothelial dysfunction, may act to shift the vasodilator balance towards a more vasoconstrictive phenotype contributing to impaired local control of blood flow and vasodilation (78, 79, 96, 157, 203). Although the role of NO in modulating resting vascular tone is apparent, the role NO plays in exercise hyperemia is complex and inadequately understood in aging humans.

NO, while not solely obligatory for exercise hyperemia, plays a key role in modulating the hyperemic and vasodilator responses (81, 99, 111, 235, 253, 254). Historically, the role of NO in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation has been predominately studied by inhibiting endogenous NO production at the level of the endothelium by non-specific inhibition of NO synthase (eNOS). Within the forearm, local inhibition eNOS reduces the hyperemic and vasodilator responses to both single contractions as well as during steady-state dynamic exercise



(33, 41, 43, 104, 254, 266). Within the leg of young adults, inhibition of eNOS reduces resting blood flow, vascular conductance, O_2 delivery, and increases O_2 extraction ultimately resulting in unaltered leg VO₂ (185, 204, 235). Inhibition of eNOS during passive leg movement (PLM) reduces the hyperemic response in young adults approximately 80-90%, with no apparent increases in O_2 extraction or leg VO₂ (47, 48, 185, 204, 205, 255). However, not all studies have demonstrated reductions in blood flow in response to eNOS inhibition during PLM (235). This blunted response during PLM with eNOS inhibition indicates that both the immediate increase in blood flow at the onset of movement as well as continuous movement (beyond 10s) is dependent, at least in part, on NO. Conversely, NO does not appear to play an essential role during dynamic exercise as demonstrated by the lack of effect of eNOS inhibition on blood flow during kneeextensor exercise (30, 111, 112, 254).

When combined with non-selective cyclooxygenase inhibition (double blockade), leg blood flow is further reduced at rest and during passive leg exercise as well as during dynamic knee-extensor exercise (48, 111, 182, 183, 255). Combined blockade of NO and prostanoids reduces vascular conductance both at rest and during exercise (47, 48, 182, 183, 205), but has been reported to subsequently return to control values (255) during leg-extensor exercise. This double blockade of NO and prostanoids reduce leg O₂ delivery during PLM, with reductions persisting into dynamic exercise, while O₂ extraction is increased at rest as well as during PLM, persisting for almost a minute into dynamic leg exercise (48). These alterations in O₂ delivery and extraction may not be enough to offset a decrease in leg VO₂ during double blockade during the first two minutes of dynamic leg exercise (48). These findings demonstrate that reductions in O₂ delivery may blunt muscle O₂ uptake during the initial phases of dynamic leg exercise, and may be more apparent as exercise intensity increases (48, 183, 208). Collectively, these results



not only highlight the intricate redundancy of vasodilators in modulating vascular tone at rest and during exercise, but also the importance of examining hyperemic responses across an exercise transient as opposed to steady-state levels alone.

In older adults eNOS inhibition reduces leg blood flow and vascular conductance at rest (289). In response to PLM, eNOS inhibition does not necessarily have an effect on leg blood flow, but reduces peak leg vascular conductance, mainly due to an increase in MAP (289). Within the forearm, eNOS inhibition reduces the hyperemic and vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise at low and moderate intensities (10-20% maximal voluntary contraction; MVC) but not at higher intensities (40% MVC) (43). Importantly, although ROV responses were reduced with inhibition of eNOS in older adults, they were still significantly reduced relative to young adults. Additionally, eNOS inhibition reduces the forearm hyperemic response during steady state-exercise by approximately 12% (253), and prolongs the kinetic response (i.e. the speed at which steady-state is achieved) of blood flow and vasodilation within the forearm during the transition from rest to steady-state exercise in young adults, with no changes in older adults (41). Park, et. al. (215) showed that within cannulated skeletal muscle feed arteries of older adults, endothelial-dependent vasodilation (via acetylcholine), as well as flow-induced vasodilation are attenuated relative to young adults. These reductions were coupled with a slower vasodilator kinetic profile, in part due to an NO-mediated mechanism. Furthermore, these attenuations were concomitant to a greater fold-change in phosphorylated eNOS to total eNOS ratio in young adults, relative to older adults in response to flow-induced vasodilation, suggesting an enhanced signaling in young adults. When taken in context with previous data, vascular responsiveness is improved with exercise training, suggesting these age-related reductions may be ameliorated (15, 278).



Consequently, enhancing NO bioavailability offers a new avenue to mitigate reductions in blood flow and vasodilation in populations where NO bioavailability is reduced. In efforts to potentiate NO bioavailability, infusion of the antioxidant ascorbic acid (AA) enhances steadystate hyperemic and vasodilator response in older, but not young adults, presumably through a NO-mediated mechanism (e.g. enhanced endothelium-dependent vasodilation) (141, 292). However, AA failed to improve hyperemic and vasodilator responses to single skeletal muscle contractions suggesting that oxidative stress may play a regulatory role during steady-state exercise, but not at the onset of exercise (141). Conversely, available data from the human leg suggests that infusion of the antioxidants (N-acetylcysteine or AA) thereby potentiating NO bioavailability abolishes age-related differences in vascular conductance at rest but does not augment exercise hyperemia in older sedentary subjects. These discrepant findings have been attributed to limb differences with exercise hyperemia as well as NO playing a larger role in forearm exercise hyperemia relative to the leg. Furthermore, it should be noted however, administration of antioxidants such as AA and N-acetylcysteine may benefit vascular tone through reductions in oxidative stress, but not necessarily enhancing NO bioavailability (195, 196, 204, 206, 232, 235, 248, 253, 254). Extending this concept within the context of aging, Limberg et. al. (160) demonstrated that in the forearm of young healthy adults, potentiation of NO bioavailability via phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibition did not have any effect on forearm blood flow and vasodilation in response to exercise. Conversely, Nyberg (209, 210) showed that PDE-5 inhibition augmented O₂ delivery, which was related to elevations in O₂ uptake selectively in the leg of older, but not young adults.

Despite the plethora of evidence for the role of NO acting as a vascular regulatory molecule, the rapidity of vascular responses to single contractions suggests metabolic


vasodilators also hold a key role. Indeed, interstitial potassium (K^+) has been shown to play a role in the regulation of vascular tone with exercise and active hyperemia (5, 6, 46, 106, 151). Evidence from animal models indicate that altering the vascular membrane potential via ouabain (Na^+/K^+ ATP_{ase} inhibitor) delayed the timing of vasodilation to electrical stimulations, as well as attenuating the timing of perfusion pressure to reach steady state levels (46). Furthermore, Armstrong (5) demonstrated that smooth muscle cell hyperpolarization elicited by K^+ as a result of muscle contraction elicited a rapid, robust vasodilation via inwardly rectifying K^+ channels and sodium potassium ATP_{ase}. Within the human forearm, inhibition of K^+ channels and sodium potassium ATP_{ase} reduces peak vasodilation following a single skeletal muscle contraction by approximately 30-45%, with further reductions evident with combined inhibition of NO and prostaglandins (approximately 60% attenuation) (59). Additionally, inhibition of inwardly rectifying K^+ channels reduces steady-state blood flow by approximately 30% of control values (60).

Collectively, this evidence suggests that endothelial factors such as NO and K⁺ play a role in exercise hyperemia across the lifespan. Namely, there is a reduction in NO-mediated vasodilation during exercise with advanced age, and this reduction in NO bioavailability or signaling acts to impair exercise hyperemia and vasodilation with age. Whether enhancement of bioavailable NO in older adults improves exercise hyperemia and vasodilation is unknown. *Chapter 7 examines whether potentiation of NO bioavailability via inorganic nitrate supplementation mitigates age-related differences in both onset and steady-state exercise hyperemia within the leg.*

Summary



Given that advancing age is associated with alterations in blood flow distribution within exercising skeletal muscle, the ratio of O_2 demand to O_2 delivery may be altered at exercise onset, promoting generalized exercise intolerance. This evidence, coupled with reduced aerobic capacity/physical function in older adults suggests that the age-associated reductions in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation may contribute to increased frailty and reduced independence of older adults. In this way, the aging vasculature may not retain the ability to adapt to rapid transitions from rest to exercise or between changes in exercise intensity. Given the uncertainties listed, key questions remain unanswered regarding how the local regulation of blood flow is altered with age. Specifically, it is currently unclear as to 1) whether mechanical influences mediate immediate exercise hyperemia in older adults; 2) whether ROV responses vary between limbs (arm vs. leg); 3) whether sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to age-related attenuations in contraction-induced ROV responses within the leg (similar to what has been shown in the arm); 4) whether chronic exercise training preserves blood flow and vasodilator responses in response to single skeletal muscle contractions with age; 5) whether aging results in a prolonged vasodilator kinetic response within the leg and whether this is offset by chronic exercise training; and 6) whether potentiation of NO bioavailability mitigates age-associated attenuations in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation both at the onset of exercise as well as during steady state exercise. Collectively, this research will address the physiological mechanisms for reductions in blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of exercise in older adults, as well as characterize how advancing age impacts the blood flow and vasodilator responses across an entire exercise transient (onset, kinetics, and steady-state). Additionally, interventions to ameliorate these age-related reductions will be explored from both a chronic exercise training, as well as a nutraceutical stand-point.



Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1 (Chapter 2)

Specific Aim 1.1 Examine whether the relative mechanical contribution to contractioninduced ROV is altered in older adults.

Hypothesis 1.1 Due to increases in peripheral artery stiffness, extravascular compression will not elicit similar elevations in vasodilation as compared to contraction-induced ROV.

Specific Aim 1.2 Examine the influence of perfusion pressure on contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of young and older adults.

Hypothesis 1.2 Elevation of perfusion pressure will augment contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of both young and older adults.

Specific Aim 1.3 Examine the relationship between peripheral arterial stiffness and contraction-induced ROV in young and older adults.

Hypothesis 1.3 Elevations in peripheral arterial stiffness will be inversely associated with contraction-induced ROV within young and older adults.

Specific Aim 2 (Chapter 3)

Specific Aim 2.1 Characterize the influence of age on contraction-induced rapid vasodilation within the leg.

Hypothesis 2.1 Advanced age will reduce contraction induced rapid onset vasodilation within the leg of older adults.

Specific Aim 2.2 Examine whether age-related ROV responses vary between limbs.

Hypothesis 2.2 The lower limbs will exhibit a greater reduction in contractioninduced rapid vasodilation in older adults relative to the upper limbs.



Specific Aim 3 (Chapter 4)

Specific Aim 3.1 Determine whether enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to the attenuated contraction-induced ROV response observed in the leg of older adults.

Hypothesis 3.1 Acute elevations in sympathetic nervous system activity will reduce ROV to a greater extent in young compared to older adults.

Specific Aim 4 (Chapter 5)

Specific Aim 4.1 Determine whether long term exercise training can prevent the reductions in ROV that occurs in untrained older adults.

Hypothesis 4.1 Chronic endurance exercise training in older adults will ameliorate the age-related impairments in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation.

Specific Aim 4.2 Characterize the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, age, and contraction-induced ROV.

Hypothesis 4.2 A higher cardiorespiratory fitness will be strongly related to contraction-induced rapid vasodilation across the age-span.

Specific Aim 5 (Chapter 6)

Specific Aim 5.1 Examine whether the kinetics of blood flow and vasodilation are impaired within the leg of sedentary older adults as a function of age, or physical training.

Hypothesis 5.1 Aging will result in attenuated vasodilator kinetics within the leg of older adults, which will be mitigated by chronic exercise training in older adults

Specific Aim 5.2 Characterize the relationship between hyperemic and vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise to the kinetics of blood flow and vasodilation during steady-state exercise in the leg.



Hypothesis 5.2 The blood flow and vasodilator responses following a single muscle contraction will be inversely related to the overall kinetic profile of blood flow and vasodilation during steady-state exercise.

Specific Aim 6 (Chapter 7)

Specific Aim 6.1 Examine whether dietary nitrate improves leg blood flow and vasodilation in older adults, both at the onset, as well as during steady-state exercise.

Hypothesis 6.1 Dietary nitrate will improve leg blood flow and vasodilation in older adults across an exercise transient in older adults.



CHAPTER 2: AGE-ASSOCIATED IMPAIRMENTS IN CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION WITHIN THE FOREARM ARE INDEPENDENT OF MECHANICAL FACTORS

A version of this Chapter has been previously published: Age-associated impairments in contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation within the forearm are independent of mechanical factors. 2018. *Exp Physiol*. Epub ahead of print.

Introduction

The mechanisms involved in exercise-induced hyperemia have been examined for decades, however no one cohesive mechanism has been found to be responsible for the initial phase of exercise hyperemia (130). Following a single skeletal muscle contraction blood flow rapidly increases, peaking within $\sim 4 - 5$ seconds, termed contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation. In young adults, contraction-induced ROV is generated through a series of factors, including endothelial (43, 59, 141), and mechanical factors (51, 54, 297). With regard to the latter, evidence from both human and animal models suggest that the mechanical compressive changes (due to muscle contraction) within the microvasculature act synergistically with vasoactive factors (e.g. nitric oxide, potassium channels etc.) to elicit a rapid vasodilation that feeds-forward into steady-state exercise in young healthy humans (51). However, contraction-induced ROV is reduced in older adults, with the mechanisms for this attenuation attributed to local (endothelial) and neural (sympathetic adrenergic) factors (40, 43, 141). Whether mechanical factors are implicated as a mechanism for age-related attenuations in contraction-induced ROV is currently unknown.

Mechanical factors profoundly influence skeletal muscle blood flow, as demonstrated from both human and animal models (51, 61, 124, 262). It has previously been shown that posture or limb position evokes gravitational (i.e. hydrostatic) fluid shifts, which subsequently



modify the arterio-venous pressure gradient and alter skeletal muscle blood flow (61, 124, 294, 297). In a similar sense, contraction-induced ROV responses may be influenced via manipulation of the forearm by placing the experimental limb at different positions relative to heart level (e.g. above vs. below-heart level). In this way, gravity-induced increases in perfusion pressure elicit greater hyperemic and vasodilator responses (and *vice versa*) following a single skeletal muscle contraction in young adults, and this has traditionally been attributed to the influence of the skeletal muscle pump (61, 297). Additionally, evidence from both animal and human models indicate that acute extra-vascular compression may closely mimic muscle contraction, but without the confounding influence of muscle activation, eliciting an ROV response (51). This response is temporally disassociated with that of a single skeletal muscle contraction such that the time course of vasodilation due to mechanical compression occurs much sooner (~2-3 cardiac cycles) than a single skeletal muscle contraction (~5 cardiac cycles) (61, 139), resulting in alterations in total blood volume moved. The majority of the evidence for mechanical factors influencing skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise has been examined in young, healthy populations, with virtually no data examining whether advancing age influences this contribution of mechanical factors.

Advancing age results in an increased arterial stiffness due to adverse structural (collagen and elastin remodeling) and functional mechanisms (reduced endothelial function) predisposing this population to elevated risk for cardiovascular disease, as well as contributing to ageassociated attenuations in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation (169, 170, 192, 280, 283). Indeed, evidence from the Framingham Heart Study demonstrates that carotid-femoral pulse-wave velocity (PWV), an index of central artery stiffness, is inversely associated with reactive hyperemic flow velocity (56, 163, 177). However, aortic PWV as estimated by carotid-femoral



PWV, does not necessarily reflect the "stiffness" that the isolated forearm exercise model is exposed to. There is some evidence to suggest that peripheral artery stiffness (e.g. carotid-radial PWV) is altered with age (8, 95) however, these results are not universal (174, 175). Given that advancing age is associated with structural and functional changes within the vasculature, mechanical forces may modulate hyperemic and vasodilator responses to exercise, particularly at the onset (e.g. ROV).

Given that ROV is an important component of blood flow regulation at the onset of exercise, and due to the fact that older individuals exhibit a reduced steady state exercising blood flow, investigating whether the mechanical contribution to ROV changes with age, as well as examining the mechanical components of the hyperemic and vasodilatory responses under changes in perfusion pressure is relevant in the context of reductions in functional performance and work capacity with age. The present study sought to examine the mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV in both young and older adults. We tested the hypothesis that 1) the mechanical contribution to ROV within the forearm is not different between young and older adults, 2) manipulation of perfusion pressure modulates ROV responses, such that enhanced perfusion pressure augments ROV responses to a similar extent in young and older adults, and 3) upper limb conduit artery stiffness would be inversely related to contraction-induced ROV within the forearm is not different in young and older adults.

Methods

Ethical approval

The nature, risks, and benefits of all study procedures were explained to the subjects, and their written informed consent was obtained before participation in the study. All procedures



were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa and complied with the latest version of the *Declaration of Helsinki*.

Subjects

A total of 24 healthy normotensive young (n=12) and older adults (n=12) participated in the study. All subjects completed written, informed consent and a general health history screening. Subjects were generally healthy, non-obese (body mass index: \leq 30 kg/m²), nonsmokers, and not taking any prescription medications that would influence blood pressure or exercise hyperemia. Additionally, all young female subjects were studied during the early follicular phase of their menstrual cycle, or during the placebo phase if on an oral contraceptive. Older female subjects were post-menopausal, and not taking any hormone replacement therapies. Studies were performed in the morning after an overnight fast, with subjects refraining from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory.

Experimental Protocol

Following 15 minutes of quiet supine rest, carotid-radial PWV (c-rPWV) was performed in duplicate with the experimental arm position at-heart level ($\sim 0^{\circ}$). For contraction and extravascular compression trials (via pneumatic cuff inflation), subjects lay in the supine position with the experimental (left) arm in three different randomized positions: above (45°), at ($\sim 0^{\circ}$), and below (45°) heart level (Figure 1). These positions (above and below) were used to manipulate forearm perfusion pressure (124, 297) with the at-heart level position ($\sim 0^{\circ}$) used as a reference condition. Therefore, comparisons were made relative to the control condition (at-heart level) to interrogate the influence of hydrostatic forces by using the following arm positions: 1) aboveheart level to decrease perfusion pressure and facilitate venous emptying, and 2) below-heart level to enhance perfusion pressure (124, 297). Prior to each contraction/compression trial the



experimental arm was positioned to the given position, and 5 minutes of rest was allowed for stabilization of haemodynamics.

Single Muscle Contractions and External Mechanical Compression

Subjects performed single dynamic forearm contractions (1s concentric-eccentric contraction followed by relaxation) at 20% of the subject's maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) using a custom-made, handgrip device attached to a simple pulley system (moving hanging weights ~4 - 5 cm). Each subject's MVC was determined prior to experimental trials using an isometric handgrip dynamometer (Stoelting, Chicago, IL). External mechanical compressions (200 mmHg; 1s inflation followed by rapid, complete deflation) was achieved using a rapidly inflating/deflating pneumatic cuff placed around the maximal circumference of the forearm (Hokansen E20, Bellevue, WA). This level of external compression was used to mimic intramuscular pressures observed during skeletal muscle contractions, and is based on previous evidence wherein higher levels of external compression do not elicit any further increases in hyperemia (59, 124, 139). Single forearm skeletal muscle contractions and compressions were performed in duplicate across all three arm positions. Study procedures were randomized (above vs. at vs. below-heart level) and counterbalanced (contraction vs. compression) within each subject. Following each contraction/compression trial the dependent arm was always positioned at-heart level, and 15 minutes of rest preceded the next trial.

Measurements

Heart rate was measured via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram (ECG) and systemic blood pressure (BP) was measured continuously (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin, Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) on the non-exercising (right) hand, which was kept at-heart level throughout the study. Prior to the experimental protocol, and



following a 15-minute rest period in a supine position, brachial BPs were taken in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA). ECG-gated crPWV was then recorded at the left carotid and radial artery using a pencil type micromanometer (Millar Instruments, Houston, Texas) and SphygmoCor system (AtCor Medical, Sydney, Australia) to assess arterial stiffness of the upper-limb vessels.

Forearm Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance

Brachial artery diameter (cm) and blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) were determined with a 12-MHz linear array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI). Blood velocity was measured with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60°. Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Brachial artery diameter measurements were obtained at end-diastole during rest (baseline; before contraction). Forearm blood flow (BF) was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) and brachial artery cross-sectional area (cm²) and expressed as millilitres per minute (ml·min⁻¹). Vascular conductance (VC) was calculated as the quotient of BF and mean arterial pressure (MAP) x 100 (expressed as ml·min⁻¹·100 mmHg⁻¹).

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data were collected at 250 Hz and analysed offline with signal-processing software (WinDaq, DATAQ Instruments). Beat-to-beat arterial pressure was derived from the Nexfin pressure waveform and was recorded simultaneously with beat-to-beat blood velocity measurements. Baseline BF and MAP represents an average of the last 30-seconds of the baseline period before each single contraction or compression, and were used to quantify the hyperemic response. Of particular interest are the peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator



responses post-contraction and compression. Peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses are expressed as the absolute change (Δ) in BF and VC from baseline in each respective arm position. Total BF (ml) and VC (ml·100 mmHg⁻¹) were defined as the area under the curve over 30 cardiac cycles post-contraction after respective baseline values were subtracted for a given flow or conductance curve (164). The relative mechanical influence on contraction-induced ROV responses was calculated as (297):

Equation 1: Relative Mechanical Contribution to ROV

$$\frac{VC_{compression}}{VC_{contraction}} * 100\%$$

Data are expressed as means \pm SE. Baseline data was compared between young and older adults using analysis of variance (ANOVA). In order to address the primary question, ROV responses (peak, total, relative mechanical contribution) were compared between young and older adults at-heart level via independent t-tests. In order to address the influence of perfusion pressure on ROV responses, two-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare responses relative to at-heart level (e.g. above-heart vs. at-heart, below-heart vs. at-heart) on contraction and compression-mediated vasodilation (age x position) as well as the relative mechanical influence on contraction-induced ROV. Pearson product-moment correlations were used to examine the relationship between contraction-induced ROV and peripheral arterial stiffness. All statistical analyses were completed using SigmaStat software version 12.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Significance was set *a priori* at P < 0.05.

Results

All 24 subjects completed the experimental protocol. Subject characteristics measured prior to experimental trials are shown in Table 1. Older adults had higher BMI, brachial BP (SBP, DBP, and MAP) and carotid-radial PWV than the young adults.



Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions and Single Extra-vascular Compressions

Resting haemodynamic (prior to each condition), brachial artery BF and VC responses are presented in Table 2. There were no differences in MAP, BF, or VC across conditions (above, at, and below) or between groups (contraction vs. compression) either in older or young adults. Figure 2 illustrates the temporal rapid vasodilator responses in young (A & C) and older adults (B & D) following single forearm contractions and single forearm mechanical compressions with changes in perfusion pressure (above, at, and below-heart level). In general, each response (contraction and compression) elicited a robust hyperemic and vasodilatory response in both young and older adults, peaking within ~2-5 cardiac cycles post-contraction, returning back to baseline within 10-15 cardiac cycles during each arm position.

Figure 3 illustrates peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction and single mechanical compression of the forearm. At-heart level responses to single muscle contractions were attenuated in older vs. young adults for total ROV (14±2 vs. 19±3 ml·100 mmHg⁻¹; P < 0.05) but not peak ROV (75±7 vs. 93±16 ml·min⁻¹·100 mmHg⁻¹; P = 0.13). Older adults also demonstrated attenuated peak (28±4 vs. 42±6 ml·min⁻¹·100 mmHg⁻¹; P < 0.05) and total (4±1 vs. 8±2 ml·100 mmHg⁻¹; P < 0.05) vasodilator responses to single mechanical compressions relative to young adults. The relative mechanical contribution to at-heart level ROV responses were not different between young and older adults for either peak (46±4% vs. 40±5%; P = 0.21) or total ROV (37±6 vs. 32±5%; P = 0.27).

Influence of Perfusion Pressure on Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions and Single Extra-Vascular Compressions



Reductions in perfusion pressure by placing the arm above-heart level reduced peak and total BF but not VC responses to single skeletal muscle contractions. Conversely, reductions in perfusion pressure reduced total BF, as well as peak and total VC during extra-vascular compression trials in both young and older adults (Figure 3; main effect of position P < 0.05). Enhancing perfusion pressure (e.g. arm below-heart level) augmented peak BF and VC responses to single skeletal muscle contractions (main effect of position P < 0.05) as well as peak BF and VC responses to extra-vascular compression (main effect of position P < 0.05) in both young and older adults. A main effect of age was observed for total VC during single skeletal muscle contractions while the arm was positioned below-heart level (main effect of age P < 0.05), but not above-heart level (main effect of age P = 0.12), however there were no significant age x position interactions (P = 0.14-0.77).

Mechanical Contribution to Contraction-Induced ROV in Young and Older Adults

Figure 4 illustrates the relative mechanical contribution to ROV within young and older adults with reductions and elevations in perfusion pressure relative to at-heart level. Reductions in perfusion pressure did not alter the mechanical contribution to ROV in young or older adults (main effect of position P = 0.07-0.45), while elevations in perfusion pressure (e.g. arm below-heart level) enhanced the mechanical contribution to peak BF, VC and total VC in both young and older adults to a similar extent (main effect of position P < 0.05). A main effect of age was observed for peak and total VC (P < 0.05), however there were no significant age x position interactions (P = 0.23-0.44).

Relationships between Upper Limb Arterial Stiffness and Contraction-Induced ROV

Older adults exhibited elevated c-rPWV relative to young adults at rest (Table 1; P < 0.05). However, there were no associations between c-rPWV and peak VC (r = 0.02; P = 0.93) or



total VC (r = -0.01; P = 0.96) at-heart level in the group as a whole, or when separated by agegroups (r = 0.24-0.39; P = 0.21-0.72). Similarly, there were no associations between c-rPWV and peak or total VC at the above-heart level position (r = 0.18 and -0.14; P = 0.41 and 0.52) or at the below-heart level position (r = -0.09 and -0.14; P = 0.67 and 0.51) when examined for the entire group. When separated into age groups (young and older), no associations were observed between c-rPWV and peak VC or total VC (r = -0.30 - 0.49; P = 0.11-0.77).

Discussion

This investigation sought to explore whether the mechanical contribution to ROV within the forearm is altered with age, and whether contraction-induced ROV is related to peripheral artery stiffness. Additionally, we examined whether vascular responses to single skeletal muscle contractions or compressions are modulated by changes in perfusion pressure in healthy young and older adults. Our novel findings are: 1) the mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV within the forearm is not altered with advancing age; 2) manipulating perfusion pressure alters the rapid hyperemic response and vasodilator response, as well as the mechanical contribution to ROV in young and older adults to a similar extent; and 3) peripheral artery stiffness (c-rPWV) is not related with ROV, despite age-related differences in c-rPWV. Collectively, our findings demonstrate that mechanical factors do not appear to play a significant role in the age-related attenuations in ROV within the forearm, and contraction-induced ROV responses are largely independent of peripheral artery stiffness. Additionally these results extend upon previous findings in young adults and highlight an important role of perfusion pressure modulating contraction-induced ROV responses within the forearm in healthy young and older adults.

Mechanical Contribution to ROV with Age



Prior work in young adults and animals has demonstrated that an acute increase in extravascular/intraluminal pressure elicits a rapid vasodilatory response (51, 53, 139, 263, 297). The present study corroborates these findings by demonstrating that acute external compression (200 mmHg) elicits a rapid vasodilation that peaks within ~2-3 cardiac cycles post-compression in young adults (Figure 2 C & D). Furthermore, our findings are similar to those of Tschakovsky, et. al. (297) and Kirby, et. al. (139), demonstrating external compression of the forearm contributes approximately 20-60% to peak BF and/or VC responses depending on the position of the experimental arm relative to heart level (Figure 4). Interestingly, with the arm positioned atheart level, older adults demonstrated attenuated peak and total VC responses to single external compression (Figure 3), suggesting that the isolated skeletal muscle pump may be slightly impaired in older adults. However when considered with the age-related lower contractioninduced responses, the relative mechanical contribution to ROV within the forearm remains unaltered (Figure 4). While external compression of resistance microvasculature may not represent the actual mechanical distortion that occurs with a muscle contraction *per se*, our data, along with previous work, indicates that the mechanical contribution to rapid vasodilation when the arm is in a neutral position (at-heart level) is similar between young and older adults (124, 297). In this context, the mechanisms for the age-related attenuation in contraction-induced ROV within the forearm have previously been shown to be due to local factors (e.g. endothelial nitric oxide signaling/bioavailability) (43, 141) as well as enhanced α -adrenergic vasoconstrictor tone (40). Collectively, it appears as though age-related reductions in contraction-induced ROV are not due to mechanical influences within the forearm.

Perfusion Pressure and Contraction-Induced ROV with Age



The idea that hydrostatic forces contribute significantly to perfusion pressure are supported by both animal and human data (93, 262, 297). Mechanical contributions attributed to the skeletal muscle pump (e.g. arterio-venous pressure gradient) in concert with ROV are postulated to be important determinants responsible for the rapid increase in blood flow at the onset of contractions, at least in young adults (297). This evidence stems from experimental manipulation of arterio-venous pressure gradients through venous emptying eliciting transient elevations in BF and vasodilation both with and without skeletal muscle contractions (294, 297). Conversely, it could be argued that the immediate hyperemic and vasodilator responses within this experimental paradigm are not due to the skeletal muscle pump, but rather is a function of perfusion pressure (i.e. when arm is positioned below-heart level). In a similar sense, Jasperse et. al. (124) demonstrated, using both *in vivo* and *in vitro* protocols, that positional differences in reactive hyperemia (as opposed to active hyperemia) are predominately due to changes in perfusion pressure eliciting alterations in vasodilation, and these differences are likely attributed to changes in vascular function *per se*. Therefore, the greater hyperemic and vasodilator responses are predominately observed when perfusion pressure is enhanced (105, 124, 291).

Previous evidence within the forearm of young adults, demonstrates that manipulation of perfusion pressure via changes in arm position relative to heart level alters ROV responses following a single contraction (297). Within the current study, our findings demonstrate that when perfusion pressure is increased or decreased relative to at-heart level (i.e. below or above heart-level) rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses to single skeletal muscle contractions and extra-vascular compression are altered to a similar extent in young and older adults. Interestingly, a main effect of age was observed for total VC responses with the arm positioned below-heart level, suggesting that age-associated differences apparent with the arm at-heart level



persist despite enhancements in perfusion pressure. Additionally, we demonstrate that the relative mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV is greater when perfusion pressure is enhanced (Figure 4).

Peripheral Arterial Stiffness and Contraction-Induced ROV

Advanced age is associated with increases in arterial stiffening and structural remodeling (154, 170, 192, 280). Given that reduced arterial vascular function is associated with reductions in exercise hyperemia (103), we reasoned that basal muscular artery stiffness would be inversely related to contraction induced ROV. Within the current study, age-associated differences were observed for c-r PWV, however, in contrast to our hypothesis, no significant associations were observed between non-invasively measured resting upper-limb arterial stiffness and contraction-induced ROV. Acknowledging that muscular artery stiffness (c-rPWV) does not always follow the same drastic increase with age as aortic PWV (carotid-femoral PWV) (174), these results suggest that muscular artery stiffness may not directly influence exercise hyperemia within the forearm of young and older adults.

Experimental Considerations

There are a few experimental considerations that warrant discussion. First, it cannot be determined whether forearm cuff inflations at 200 mmHg truly mimic the internal compressive forces (intramuscular pressures) elicited by voluntary skeletal muscle contractions at 20% MVC. In the present study, high external pressures (200 mmHg) were employed to mimic peak hyperemic responses observed in response to single submaximal voluntary contractions, similar to previous evidence (59, 124, 139). In this context, it should be noted that a non-linear relationship between external pressure and ROV has been previously demonstrated (139). That is, step-wise increases in external pressure did not result in similar percent increases in ROV



with responses plateauing at 100 mmHg with no further vasodilation observed until 300 mmHg. In keeping with previous evidence in young adults, 200 mmHg was chosen for the current study. Furthermore, within the leg, no differences in the ROV are apparent with graded external compression (61). In contrast, contraction-induced ROV has been shown to be linearly related to exercise intensity [e.g. MVC] (139). The high external pressures induced by cuff inflation in the present study resulted in a transient but lower hyperemic response compared to single voluntary dynamic contractions regardless of arm position (i.e. perfusion pressure) in healthy young and older adults. Evidence from various animal models indicate that the intra-muscular pressure elicited by both electrical stimulation and extra-vascular compression may widely vary, however Mohrman & Sparks showed that within canine gastrocnemius, tension developed as a result of electrical stimulation was linearly related to intra-muscular balloon pressure (178). These findings support the idea that the microvasculature is affected by the intramuscular environment when an external stimulus is applied.

Second, it is important to note that intramuscular pressure is also dependent on muscle architecture. Previous studies examining intramuscular pressure responses to applied external pressure or voluntary muscle contractions have utilized the pennate fibres of the vastus lateralis and medialis (245, 260). In the context of the current study, we did not specifically measure intramuscular pressure, and it is unknown if specific fibre types influence intramuscular pressure during skeletal muscle contractions. Finally, upper-limb conduit artery stiffness was measured via c-rPWV. This measurement uses a time delay between two pressure recordings (carotid and radial arteries) to measure the velocity of the pulse-wave. This measure of peripheral artery stiffness may not truly reflect the stiffness of the microvessels within the forearm as there are numerous branching points between the carotid and radial arteries. Nonetheless, age-associated



differences were observed for c-rPWV, however this was not associated with the vasodilator response to single skeletal muscle contractions within the forearm.

Conclusion

This study has provided novel evidence regarding the mechanical influences on contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of young and older adults. Specifically, age-related reductions in contraction-induced ROV within the forearm do not appear to be influenced by mechanical factors, and ROV responses are independent of peripheral artery stiffness. Furthermore, contraction-induced ROV responses are innately influenced by alterations in perfusion pressure to a similar extent in young and older adults. Collectively, our present data suggest that while mechanical factors may not play a role within age-related reductions in contraction induced ROV within the forearm, manipulation of perfusion pressure modulate these responses and alter the mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of both young and older adults to a similar extent.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 1: Experimental timeline. Study procedures were randomized (at, above, below) and counterbalanced (contraction vs. compression) within each subject prior to the study day.



Variable	Older (n=12)	Young (n=12)
Age (year)	67±1	24±1
Sex (M/F)	6/6	8/4
Height (cm)	169±2	174±4
Weight (kg)	74±3	69±5
Body Mass Index $(kg \cdot m^2)$	25.9±0.8*	$22.4{\pm}1.0$
MVC (kg)	34±3	37±3
Brachial SBP (mmHg)	126±4*	113±3
Brachial DBP (mmHg)	79±2*	68 ± 2
MAP (mmHg)	95±2*	83±2
Brachial PP (mmHg)	47±3	45 ± 2
Carotid-radial PWV (m·s ⁻¹)	10.4±0.3*	9.3±0.5

 Table 1: Subject Characteristics for Aim 1

Values are mean \pm SE. MVC, maximal voluntary contraction; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MAP; mean arterial pressure; PP, pulse pressure; PWV, pulse-wave velocity * P < 0.05 vs. young adults



		Contraction		Compression					
		Above	At	Below	Above	At	Below		
Young	MAP (mmHg)	94±3	92±2	93±3	93±3	92±2	94±3		
	BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	34±5	35±4	35±5	29±4	33±4	35±6		
	VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·100 mmHg ⁻¹)	37±6	38±6	38±6	31±5	36±5	38±7		
Older	MAP (mmHg)	106±3	103±3	106±3	106±3	105 ± 2	102 ± 2		
	BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	34±6	39±6	38±5	34±7	37±4	32±5		
	VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·100 mmHg ⁻¹)	33±6	39±6	37±6	34±8	37±5	32±4		

Table 2: Baseline Hemodynamics Prior to Each Condition

Mean±SE. MAP, mean arterial pressure; BF, forearm blood flow; VC, forearm vascular conductance





Figure 2: Change in vascular conductance (Δ vascular conductance) over 30 cardiac cycles following a single forearm contraction (20% MVC; A & B) and single mechanical compression (200 mmHg; C & D) with changes in arm position relative to heart level (above, at, and below-heart level) in young (A & C) and older adults (B & D)



www.manaraa.com



Figure 3: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction and single mechanical compression of the forearm in young and older adults across experimental trials (above-, at-, and below-heart level). * P < 0.05 vs. at-heart level during single skeletal muscle contraction. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ vs. at-heart level during single external compression. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ vs. young adults during single skeletal muscle contraction. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ vs. young adults during single external compression.





Peak Blood Flow

Figure 4: Relative mechanical contribution to peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in young and older adults across experimental trials (above-, at-, and below-heart level). * P < 0.05 vs. at-heart level



www.manaraa.com

Peak Vascular Conductance

CHAPTER 3: RAPID ONSET VASODILATION WITH SINGLE MUSCLE CONTRACTIONS IN THE LEG: INFLUENCE OF AGE

A version of Chapter 3 has previously been published: Hughes WE, Ueda K, Treichler DP, Casey DP. Rapid onset vasodilation with single muscle contractions in the leg: influence of age. *Physiol. Rep.* 2015; 8:e12516.

Introduction

At the onset of exercise there is an obligate, rapid rise in blood flow and vasodilation, ultimately contributing to the fine-tuning of exercise hyperemia and meeting the metabolic demands of contracting tissue during steady state exercise. The immediate exercise hyperemia and vasodilation following a single muscle contraction tends to peak within approximately five cardiac cycles post-contraction, is graded with exercise intensity, and has been termed ROV (51, 54, 191, 295, 297). The rapid vasodilation following a contraction is inherently linked to steadystate blood flow, acting as a feed-forward mechanism, contributing to the rapid transition between exercise workloads (252, 268). The local regulation of contraction-induced rapid vasodilation has been attributed to a complex interplay between endothelial (5, 43, 59), mechanical (139, 297), and adrenergic factors (40, 123), with no one factor having an obligatory role in this immediate hyperemic and vasodilator response.

In humans the majority of the evidence for contraction-induced rapid vasodilation has been characterized in the forearm. Collectively, this evidence has shown that older adults exhibit an attenuated rapid vasodilator response compared to young adults, which may be due to a diminished role of nitric oxide (NO) signaling, enhanced α -adrenergic vasoconstrictor tone and/or a reduced ability to blunt sympathetic vasoconstriction (40, 43). While these studies contribute to the knowledge of local regulation of blood flow and vasodilation, it is not known if



age-related impairments in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation can be generalized to the lower limbs. Recent evidence suggests that rapid vasodilation following a single isometric contraction is observed in the leg of young men, and the magnitude of this response is similar between the arm and leg (61). However, it is unclear how aging influences contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg. In this context, the lower limbs are subject to greater hydrostatic forces (e.g. gravity), and locomotion presents a constant hemodynamic challenge to the leg vasculature (244). Moreover, evidence suggests that limb-specific differences in vasodilator responsiveness exist with aging. That is, the blood flow and vasodilator responses to exogenous vasodilators, limb ischemia, and steady- state exercise in the leg of older individuals are attenuated to a greater extent relative to the forearm (80, 195, 199, 216, 231, 241). Furthermore, the lower limbs have a greater propensity to develop atherosclerotic lesions, and have a higher prevalence of peripheral arterial disease (301). Collectively, these findings suggest that older adults would exhibit an impairment of contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg, and this impairment is potentially greater than what has been demonstrated in the forearm (39, 40, 43, 141). Therefore, the primary purpose of this study was to characterize the effects of aging on contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg. Additionally, we aimed to examine whether potential age-related impairments in rapid vasodilation following a single muscle contraction were greater in the leg compared to the forearm.

Methods

Subjects

A total of 14 young (9 men and 5 women, age: 20-26 yr) and 16 older (10 men and 6 women, age: 60-72 yr) subjects volunteered to participate in this study. Subjects completed a general health history screening and written informed consent. Subjects were generally healthy,



nonobese (body mass index: \leq 30 kg/m²), nonsmokers, not taking any vasoactive medications, and were self-reported as sedentary to recreationally active, with no regular physical training. Studies were performed after an overnight fast, and subjects refrained from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory. Young female subjects were studied during the early follicular phase of their menstrual cycle or the placebo phase of oral contraceptives to control for the potential influence of sex hormones on primary outcome variables (44, 173). All older female subjects were post-menopausal and were not taking any form of hormone replacement therapy. All study protocols were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa.

Body Composition, Forearm, and Leg Tissue Mass

Body composition was determined by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA; Hologic software version APEX 4.0). Total mass and fat free mass of the left forearm and right leg were determined from regional analysis from the whole-body DEXA scan using bony landmarks for normalization of blood flow and vascular conductance responses for between group and between-limb comparisons. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body weight (kg) divided by height (meters) squared.

Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure

Heart rate (HR) was recorded via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram, and systemic blood pressure was assessed (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin; Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) on the non-exercising hand. Brachial artery pressure was measured in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA) prior to beginning exercise trials while the subjects were in a supine position following 15 minutes of rest.



Pre-Study Day Measurements: Determination of Work Rate Maximum

Work rate maximum (WR_{max}) was determined from a single leg knee extensor incremental maximal exercise test completed during a familiarization session prior to the study day. Subjects were seated in a semi-recumbent position on a modified adjustable bucket seat that accommodated variable body and leg lengths allowing each subject's lower leg to move through a 90-180 degree range of motion during the knee extension exercise. Both knees were flexed at 90 degrees with a form fitting orthopedic boot attached to the right ankle. The boot was attached to a leg shaft located behind the knee that had a one way clutch bearing that allowed for no resistance as the leg returns to 90 degrees flexion (eccentric). Resistance was developed by contracting (concentric) against the leg shaft with the device electronically developing the torque. WR_{max} testing consisted of an initial workload of 5W that incrementally increased every minute by 3W and 5W in female and male subjects, respectively. Subjects kicked dynamically through a full range of motion at a cadence of 40 kicks per minute. The single leg knee extensor incremental maximal test continued until the subject could not maintain a full range of motion or 40 contractions per minute. The final workload completed was recorded as maximal kicking load from which relative workloads were calculated (158).

Study Day: Single Muscle Contractions

Subjects performed single knee extension contractions on the custom-made, computer controlled leg ergometer (described above) at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR_{max} with the order of exercise intensities randomized across subjects. Subjects were instructed to contract and relax on a verbal command from laboratory personnel. To compare rapid hyperemic and dilator responses between limbs (leg vs. arm), single forearm contractions were performed with a handgrip device at 10%, 20%, and 40% of the subject's maximal voluntary contraction (MVC),



determined (using a handgrip dynamometer) as the average of three maximal squeezes performed on the pre-study measurement day. While supine, the weight for each respective exercise intensity was lifted 4 to 5 cm over a pulley for a single, 1-second muscle contraction. WR_{max} and MVC intensities were randomized prior to the experimental protocol and each contraction intensity was performed in duplicate to calculate the average response for each subject for a given condition. Each contraction (leg and arm) was visually observed by the laboratory personnel to ensure proper timing of contraction and two minutes of relaxation were given between each contraction to allow continuous measures of limb hemodynamics postcontraction. All single muscle contractions (knee extensions and forearm contractions) were performed on the same day.

Measurement of Blood Flow

Common femoral (~2-3 cm proximal to bifurcation) and brachial artery diameter and blood velocity were determined with a 12-MHz linear-array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI). Blood velocity was measured with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60°. Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Artery diameter measurements were obtained at end diastole at rest (before contraction) and 1 minute post-contraction. Limb blood flow (BF) was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) and artery cross-sectional area (cm²) and expressed as milliliters per minute (ml·min⁻¹).

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data were collected at 250 Hz and analyzed offline with signal processing software (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments). Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was derived from the Nexfin



pressure waveform and heart rate was determined from the electrocardiogram. Baseline BF and MAP represent an average of the last 30 s of the resting time period before each muscle contraction and were used to quantify the hyperemic response. Vascular conductance (VC) was calculated as BF/MAP (and expressed as ml·min⁻¹·mmHg⁻¹). Rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses are expressed as the change in (Δ) BF and VC, respectively. Of particular interest are the immediate (i.e. 1st cardiac cycle post-contraction), peak, and total dilator responses post-contraction. Total BF (ml) and VC (ml·mmHg⁻¹) were defined as the area under the curve for 30 cardiac cycles post-contraction after respective baseline values were subtracted for a given flow or conductance curve. To account for the possible influence of muscle mass, BF and VC were normalized to muscle mass (kg) (80, 217).

All values are expressed as mean \pm SE. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze demographic variables between age groups. To address the primary question of whether contraction-induced rapid vasodilation is impaired in the leg with aging, a 2-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to evaluate leg blood flow and vasodilator differences between age groups (young vs. older) across exercise intensities (20%, 40% and 60%). To compare responses between limbs, BF and VC at 20% and 40% MVC and WR_{max} were analyzed via independent two-way ANOVA (20% and 40%). When significance was detected, Tukey's post hoc analysis was used to identify differences between groups. All statistical analyses were completed using SigmaStat software version 12.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Statistical difference was set a priori at P < 0.05.

Results

Subject characteristics are shown in Table 3. Young and older subjects were of similar height, weight, and body mass (P>0.05), but older adults had a higher percent body fat (P<0.05).



Additionally, young and older subjects exhibited similar brachial blood pressures, forearm and leg muscle masses, and forearm MVC (P>0.05), but WR_{max} in the leg was lower in the older adults (P<0.05).

Characterizing ROV in the Leg with Aging

Baseline (i.e. resting) BF, MAP, and VC did not differ with age across each trial (Table 4). When expressed as the absolute change from baseline, the immediate, peak, and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses following single knee extension contractions were attenuated in older adults across exercise intensities (Table 5; P < 0.05). Similarly, the relative change from baseline in the immediate and peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses were also blunted in the older compared to young adults at each workload (Table 5; P < 0.05). Figure 5 illustrates the time course for the absolute rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses normalized for muscle mass following single knee extension contractions at 20%, 40% and 60% WR_{max} in young and older adults. The immediate, peak, and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses (normalized for muscle mass) were substantially attenuated in the older adults across exercise intensities (P < 0.05; Figure 6 A-C). Moreover, when the relative change in immediate and peak hyperemia and vasodilation normalized for muscle mass was examined, older adults still exhibited lower responses (data not shown).

Examination of Potential Limb Differences with Aging

Table 6 shows all parameters of absolute rapid vasodilation (immediate, peak, and total) at both 20% and 40% exercise intensity. At the 20% exercise intensity all parameters of absolute rapid vasodilation (immediate, peak and total) were substantially greater in the leg compared to the forearm in both young and older adults. To account for the inherent volume and muscle mass differences between the thigh and forearm, we also compared the vasodilator responses



normalized for muscle mass in each respective limb. Utilizing this approach revealed a significant main effect of limb on the peak and total vasodilator response at 20% and 40% exercise intensity (P < 0.05). However, when normalized for muscle mass, greater vasodilator responses were observed in the forearm (Figure 7). Of particular interest to the current study, there was also a main effect of age but not a significant age x limb interaction. That is, despite older adults having lower vasodilator responses compared to their young counterparts, the degree of attenuation was similar between the arm and leg (Figure 7).

Discussion

Previous studies by our group, as well as others, have demonstrated that contractioninduced rapid vasodilation is blunted in the forearm of older adults (39, 40, 43, 141). In the present study we examined whether age-related impairments in the hyperemic and vasodilator response to a single muscle contraction are also present in the leg. Furthermore, we aimed to examine whether the potential age-related reduction in leg vasodilation following a single muscle contraction is greater than that seen in the forearm. Our primary novel findings are 1) older adults exhibit a substantially attenuated rapid hyperemic and vasodilator response in the leg and 2) the age-related reductions in rapid vasodilation appear to be similar between the arm and the leg.

To the best of our knowledge, only one other study has examined rapid vasodilation after a single skeletal muscle contraction in the leg. Credeur and colleagues (61) demonstrated that in young men, a single isometric contraction in the leg produced an intensity dependent increase in blood flow and vasodilation, similar to that seen in the forearm. They also found that the vasodilator response to single isometric contractions was influenced of body position (greater when leg was positioned below heart level), and largely independent of mechanical factors. The



results in young adults from our current study are in agreement with Credeur et al.(61), in that a single dynamic muscle contraction in the leg (e.g. knee extension) produced an intensity dependent increase in blood flow and vascular conductance. The novelty of our current findings is that the rapid hyperemic and vasodilator response following a dynamic muscle contraction in the leg is substantially attenuated in older adults across a range of intensities. Additionally, the blunting of rapid vasodilation in the leg with aging is evident regardless of expressing the response in absolute or relative terms (Table 6) and is independent of muscle mass (Figure 6).

Similar to previous reports (80, 306) the older adults in the present study had a lower WR_{max} compared to their young counterparts (Table 3) and consequently performed single contractions at a lower absolute workload in each trial. Therefore, it could be argued that the blunted rapid vasodilation in the older adults is simply due to a lower absolute workload performed at each relative intensity. However, close examination of our data suggest this is not likely the case. When we compare the hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the older adults at 60% WR_{max} (~17W) to that of the young adults at 40% WR_{max} (~16W), there is still a significant age-related difference in the immediate, peak and total BF and VC (expressed for both absolute and normalized for muscle mass). Additionally, if we were to match a subset of the subjects (n = 9 for each age group) for identical workloads within each relative exercise intensity and effectively eliminate any difference in WR_{max} between age groups, the attenuated hyperemic and vasodilator responses in older adults still persist. This is true for the immediate, peak, and total BF and VC and is independent on whether the response is quantified in absolute terms or normalized for muscle mass.

There is strong evidence that aging is associated with a wide number of modifications to arterial structure and function (149, 192). Moreover, the control of blood flow to dynamically



contracting skeletal muscle is altered with aging during submaximal exercise (80, 141, 155, 226, 229, 234, 253). Studies in both animals and humans suggest that the age-related impairments in the control of muscle blood flow are apparent at the very onset of exercise [i.e. as early as the first contraction] (39, 40, 43, 123, 141). To date, all evidence for age-related differences in rapid onset vasodilation in humans has been restricted to the forearm as a model (39, 40, 43, 141). Nonetheless, findings from these studies clearly demonstrate that the peak blood flow and vasodilator response to a single muscle contraction is significantly blunted in older compared to young adults.

Recent evidence from our lab has pointed to a role for reduced NO bioavailability and/or signaling as well as enhanced α -adrenergic vasoconstriction as possible mechanisms for the blunting of rapid vasodilation in the forearm with aging (40, 43). Therefore, it is conceivable that the attenuated rapid vasodilation in the leg of older adults in the present study might also be due to alterations in each of or a combination of the aforementioned mechanisms. In support of this notion, endothelium-dependent vasodilation (as assessed by flow-mediated dilation) is reduced in the leg of older adults (199, 216), with some of the evidence suggesting that the age-related impairments are greater in the leg compared to the arm (198). Moreover, the leg blood flow response to passive leg movement is severely blunted with aging and the contribution of NO to this response in older adults is significantly reduced (289). Additionally, intra-arterial infusions of an α -adrenergic receptor antagonist (phentolamine) effectively removes sympathetic restraint in the forearm and abolishes the age-related differences in hyperemic and vasodilator responses to single muscle contractions (40). Although it is unclear whether sympathetic restraint of the rapid vasodilator response in the lower limbs exists, some studies suggest the legs demonstrate an enhanced vasoconstrictor tone and augmented adrenergic responsiveness compared to the


forearm in young adults (76, 219). With respect to aging, older adults have a greater tonic vasoconstriction in the leg when compared to their young counterparts (274), however the α -adrenergic vasoconstrictor responsiveness to agonist-mediated stimulation is reduced (274, 306). Furthermore, during dynamic exercise, sympathetic vasoconstrictor responsiveness appears to be augmented in older men (142). Taken together with our current results, these previous findings suggest a possible role for NO-mediated mechanisms as well as enhanced α -adrenergic vasoconstriction in the leg of older adults as a possible explanation for the age-related differences in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation.

In the present study we also examined whether the age-related blunting of rapid vasodilation in response to a muscle contraction is more pronounced in the leg compared to the forearm. In both young and older adults the absolute change in all parameters of contractioninduced vasodilation (immediate, peak, and total) was greater in the leg as compared to the forearm at similar relative exercise intensities (20% and 40% MVC WR_{max} and MVC, respectively). The greater rapid vasodilation observed in the leg as compared to the forearm is in agreement with previous studies in young males (61). However, these limb differences observed in both age groups of the current study may simply be a product of the leg having a greater volume and muscle mass than the forearm. To try to circumvent these inherent differences between limbs we normalized the vasodilator responses for the muscle mass of either the forearm or thigh. This approach revealed a greater rapid vasodilator response in the forearm in both young and older adults (Figure 7). However, it should be noted that the muscle mass values derived via DEXA used to normalize the responses in the leg included the entire thigh. This in turn, likely led to an overestimation of the muscle mass involved in the contraction. Therefore, the significantly lower rapid vasodilator responses observed in the leg after normalizing for



muscle mass might be explained by the large denominator used in the calculation. Along these lines, when estimates of quadriceps muscle mass (via anthropometric methods) are used to normalize blood flow and vasodilator responses during steady state exercise at similar relative intensities, the response is substantially greater in the leg compared to the forearm (Donato et al. 2006). Nonetheless, our results indicate that, regardless of how vasodilator responses are expressed (absolute or normalized for muscle mass) the age-related attenuation of contraction-induced rapid vasodilation appears to be similar between limbs.

Experimental Considerations

There are a few experimental considerations for the current study that warrant discussion. First, the type of muscle contraction performed in the forearm and leg differed slightly. That is, the single leg knee extensor model employed in the present study consisted of a passive relaxation (e.g. no resistance during the eccentric portion), whereas the weight was constant during the contraction and relaxation phases of the forearm contractions (no passive relaxation). Therefore, it is conceivable that the differences in the blood flow and vasodilator responses between limbs are confounded to some degree by the type of muscle contraction performed. Second, our present findings suggest that the age-related attenuation of contraction-induced rapid vasodilation appears to be similar between limbs. However, it should be noted that the older adults demonstrated a similar handgrip strength (MVC) as their young counterparts, but had a significantly (~30%) lower exercise capacity (WR_{max}) in the leg. Since relative workloads were used to examine the rapid vasodilator response of the arm and leg, the discrepancy in strength/exercise capacity between limbs with aging may have masked a greater age-related deficit in rapid onset vasodilation in one limb vs. the other.



Lastly, in the current study we did not observe age-related differences in leg blood flow at rest (Table 4). This is in contrast to several other studies that have demonstrated that older adults have lower resting leg blood flow (73, 180, 274). However, it should be noted that these previous studies reflect supine blood flow, whereas, the resting blood flow measurements in the present study were performed with the subjects in a semi-recumbent position. Indeed, Donato et. al. (80) also reported that resting blood flow is similar in upright seated young and older adults. They speculated that the equal resting leg blood flow and vascular conductance between age groups while seated was potentially due to a pronounced increase in leg vascular tone in the young adults, while older individuals have a diminished response while in an upright position.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate that aging blunts contractioninduced rapid vasodilation in the leg across exercise intensities and is largely independent of muscle mass. These findings are in agreement with previous studies demonstrating a reduced rapid vasodilator response in the forearm of older adults (39, 40, 43, 141). Our current data also suggest that age-related impairments in contraction-induced vasodilation do not appear to be different between limbs (arm vs. leg). The primary mechanism(s) and their interactions which contribute to the substantially attenuated rapid hyperemic and vasodilator response in the leg of older adults remains unknown, but due to similar age-related reductions in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation between the leg and arm, it can be hypothesized that the mechanisms might be similar between limbs.



Table 3: Subject Characteristics for Aim 2

Variable	Young Adults (n=14)	Older Adults (n=16)
Age (years)	23 ± 1	66 ± 1
Men/Women	9/5	10/6
Height (cm)	174 ± 2	172 ± 2
Weight (kg)	75 ± 3	78 ± 3
Body Mass Index (kg·m ²)	24.7 ± 0.6	26.5 ± 0.7
% Body Fat	27.1 ± 1.9	31.9 ± 1.7 *
Forearm Muscle Mass (kg)	0.94 ± 0.08	0.90 ± 0.06
Thigh Muscle Mass (kg)	7.5 ± 0.5	$6.9\ \pm 0.3$
MVC (kg)	41 ± 3	41 ± 3
WR _{max} (Watts)	41 ± 4	$29 \pm 2*$
Systolic BP (mmHg)	117 ± 2	123 ± 3
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	72 ± 2	75 ± 2
MAP (mmHg)	87 ± 2	91 ±2

Values are means \pm SE. MVC, maximal voluntary contraction; WR_{max}, work rate maximum. * P < 0.05 vs. young adults



Table 4:	Baseline	Hemody	vnamics	under	each	Condition
----------	----------	--------	---------	-------	------	-----------

			Factor P-Values						
		Young			Older				
	20%	40%	60%	20%	40%	60%	Age	Intensity	Interaction
	WR _{max}								
Diameter (cm)	0.89±0.03	0.89±0.03	0.89±0.03	0.95±0.03	0.97±0.03	0.96±0.03	<0.05	0.97	0.98
MAP (mmHg)	94±3	95±3	95±3	98±3	98±2	99±2	0.06	0.92	0.99
BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	172±13	173±14	167±13	175±20	176±16	180±18	0.64	0.99	0.94
VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	1.8±0.1	1.7±0.2	1.8±0.1	1.8±0.2	1.8±0.2	1.8±0.2	0.92	0.99	0.94
HR (bpm)	65±3	65±3	64±3	61±1	61±1	62±1	0.06	0.99	0.89
	Arm						Factor P-Values		
		Young			Older				
	10%	20%	40%	10%	20%	40%	Age	Intensity	Interaction
	MVC	MVC	MVC	MVC	MVC	MVC			
Diameter (cm)	0.37 ± 0.02	0.37±0.02	0.37 ± 0.02	0.41 ± 0.02	0.41 ± 0.02	0.41±0.02	< 0.05	0.99	0.99
MAP (mmHg)	89±3	89±3	89±3	95±2	95±2	95±2	< 0.05	0.98	0.99
BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	38±6	39±6	41±6	47±3	50±4	52±4	< 0.05	0.66	0.98
VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	0.45 ±0.1	0.46±0.1	0.48±0.1	0.50±0.03	0.53±0.04	0.55±0.04	0.17	0.78	0.98
HR (bpm)	64±3	63±2	63±3	64±2	64±2	65±2	0.68	0.98	0.95

Mean±SE. MAP, mean arterial pressure; BF, blood flow; VC, vascular conductance; HR, heart rate; WRmax, work rate maximum; MVC, maximal voluntary contraction



			Young Adults		0	Older Adults			Factor P-values		
		20% WR _{max}	40% WR _{max}	60% WR _{max}	20% WR _{max}	40% WR _{max}	60% WR _{max}	Age	Intensity	Interaction	
				<u>Absolu</u>	te Responses	<u>.</u>					
	Immediate	285±39	320±47	373±48	118 ± 18	195±21	181±22	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.18	
Δ Blood Flow (m1 min ⁻¹)	Peak	598±57	724±68	802±83	354±27	431±34	485±29	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.14	
(1111-11111)	Total	108 ± 15	127±16	137±21	47±5	68±7	72±6	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.47	
	Immediate	3.1±0.4	3.4±0.5	4.0±0.6	1.2 ± 0.2	2.0 ± 0.2	1.9±0.2	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.24	
Δ Vascular Conductance	Peak	6.9 ± 0.7	8.2 ± 0.8	9.0±1	3.7±0.3	4.6±0.4	5.0 ± 0.3	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.26	
(mi-min -minrig)	Total	1.1 ± 0.2	1.3±0.2	1.4 ± 0.2	0.5 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.1	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.46	
	Relative Responses										
% Δ Blood Flow	Immediate	170±21	189±26	223±20	75±14	119±12	118±19	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.28	
$(ml \cdot min^{-1})$	Peak	356±28	422±30	488±34	221±24	272±29	308±30	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.19	
$\% \Delta$ Vascular	Immediate	1.7 ± 0.2	1.8±0.3	2.2 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	1.2±0.2	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.17	
Conductance (ml·min ⁻¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	Peak	3.8±0.3	4.5±0.3	5.1±0.4	2.2±0.2	2.8±0.3	3.2±0.3	< 0.05	< 0.05	0.41	

Table 5: Comparison of Absolute and Relative Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance not normalized for Muscle Mass

Values are mean \pm SE. WR_{max}, work rate maximum



		You	ung		Older	I	Factor P-values			
		Δ Leg VC (ml·min ⁻ ¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	Δ Arm VC (ml·min ⁻ ¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	Δ Leg V (ml·mi ¹ ·mmHg	$\begin{array}{ccc} & \Delta \text{ Arm VC} \\ n^{-} & (ml \cdot min^{-}) \\ g^{-1} \end{pmatrix} & {}^{1} \cdot mmHg^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$	Age	Limb	Interaction		
200/	Immediate	3.1±0.4 ^{*†}	0.4±0.1	1.2±0.2	2^* 0.4±0.03	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		
20% Workload	Peak	$6.9{\pm}0.7^{*\dagger}$	1.2 ± 0.1	3.7±0.3	3^* 0.8±0.06	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		
	Total	$1.1{\pm}0.2^{*\dagger}$	0.1 ± 0.02	0.5 ± 0.1	l* 0.1±0.01	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		
400/	Immediate	$3.4{\pm}0.5^{*\dagger}$	0.7±0.1	2.0±0.2	2 [*] 0.5±0.1	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		
40% Workload	Peak	$8.2{\pm}0.8^{*\dagger}$	1.6 ± 17	4.6±0.4	4 [*] 1.1±0.1	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		
workioau	Total	$1.3 \pm 0.2^{*\dagger}$	0.2 ± 0.02	0.7 ± 0.1	1 [*] 0.3±0.02	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05		

Table 6: Comparison of Absolute Change in Rapid Vasodilation in the Arm and Leg of Young and Older Adults at Similar Intensities

Mean ± SE. VC, vascular conductance; 20% workload, WR_{max} (leg), MVC (arm); 40% workload, WR_{max} (leg), MVC (arm). * P < 0.05 vs. arm; † P < 0.05 vs. Older



Figure 5: Hyperemic (change [Δ] in blood flow [BF] and (B) vasodilator (Δ vascular conductance [VC] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following single leg extension contractions at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR_{max}



Figure 6: Immediate (A; first cardiac cycle post-contraction); peak (B), and total (C) hyperemic (Δ BF) and vasodilator (Δ VC) responses normalized for muscle mass to single leg-extension contractions between young and older adults at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR_{max}





Figure 7: Peak and total ΔVC normalized for muscle mass at 20% (A & B), and 40% (C & D) exercise intensity in the arm and leg



CHAPTER 4: SYMPATHETIC NERVOUS SYSTEM ACTIVATION REDUCES CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION IN THE LEG OF HUMANS INDEPENDENT OF AGE

A version of Chapter 4 has been previously published: Hughes WE, Kruse NK, Casey DP. Sympathetic nervous system activation reduces contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg

of humans independent of age. J Appl Physiol. 2017; 123(1):106-115.

Introduction

Advancing age is associated with a decline in skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation at rest and during dynamic exercise (73, 76, 155, 180, 196, 226, 229, 300). However, a large majority of the studies examining age-related alterations in blood flow of contracting skeletal muscle have focused primarily on responses during steady-state submaximal exercise (130, 233). By the nature of these studies and associated measurements, regulation of blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of exercise has been largely ignored, despite evidence to suggest rapid vasodilation is integral in initiating the increase in blood flow requisite for dynamic exercise (51, 54, 296). In this context, increases in skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation are apparent immediately following a single skeletal muscle contraction [i.e. contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation, ROV]. Evidence from our group as well as others suggests that older adults demonstrate a significantly lower hyperemic and vasodilator response to single muscle contractions [i.e. attenuated ROV] compared to their young counterparts (39, 40, 43, 120, 141). Although the majority of the human studies demonstrating age-related impairments in ROV have done so in the forearm (39, 40, 43, 120, 141), we have recently shown that ROV is also blunted in the leg of older adults and the magnitude of this impairment appears to be similar between limbs (120).



One mechanism potentially contributing to the impaired ROV in older adults is an enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction. Advancing age is associated with a progressive increase in muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) and norepinephrine concentrations, acting to increase peripheral vascular resistance and thereby enhance vasoconstriction (21, 193, 274, 279). Along these lines, sympathetic stimulation via lower-body negative pressure attenuates the ROV response in the forearm of young, but not older adults (40). Additionally, subsequent non-selective blockade of α -adrenergic receptors (via phentolamine) abolishes age-related differences in ROV (40). Moreover, ROV in animals is attenuated via α -adrenergic stimulation (272) and age-related differences are abolished with α -adrenergic blockade (123). Collectively, this evidence indicates that impairments in blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of exercise with aging are due in part to an enhanced sympathetic restraint at least in the forearm.

Within the context of human locomotion, the lower limbs represent a large vascular bed exposed to greater hydrostatic forces relative to the upper limbs, and may be more representative of the physiological environment of normal activity. Interestingly, older adults exhibit reductions in resting leg blood flow and vascular conductance, which has been attributed to enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction as well as increased oxidative stress (73, 76, 122, 180, 196). Furthermore, during dynamic exercise, leg blood flow and vasodilation are reduced with aging (185, 226, 229, 234, 300), and this attenuation does not appear to be due to a reduction in endothelial vasodilators, but rather enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction (142, 185, 247). Specifically, the leg vasculature of older adults appears to be more responsive to acute sympathetic stimulation during dynamic exercise (142). Despite evidence supporting sympathetic vasoconstriction contributing to age-related reductions in leg blood flow during dynamic steady-state exercise, it is unclear if this is apparent at the onset of exercise. Therefore,



the aim of the present investigation was to determine whether enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to the attenuated contraction-induced ROV response observed in the leg of older adults. We hypothesized that acute elevations in sympathetic nervous system activity would reduce ROV to a greater extent in young compared to older adults. Additionally, we hypothesized that the larger reduction in ROV with acute sympathetic stimulation in young adults would effectively abolish the age-related differences in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg of humans.

Methods

Subjects

A total of 25 healthy normotensive adults participated in the study. All subjects were healthy, non-obese (body mass index: \leq 30 kg/m²), nonsmokers and not taking any vasoactive medications as self-reported via a health history screening questionnaire. Additionally, subjects who reported having Raynaud's Disease were excluded from participation in this study. Studies were performed in the morning after an overnight fast and refraining from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory. Young female participants were studied during the early follicular phase of their natural menstrual cycle or the placebo/low hormone phase of oral contraceptives to control for the influence of sex hormones on exercise hyperemia (159, 173). All older female subjects were postmenopausal and were not taking any form of hormone replacement therapy. Subjects completed written informed consent and all study protocols were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa.

Systemic Hemodynamic Measurements



Following a 15-minute rest period in a semi-recumbent position, brachial blood pressure (BP) was measured in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA). If BP values deviated by more than 5 mmHg, a third measurement was taken. Heart rate (HR) was measured via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram and systemic BP was assessed (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin, Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) over the middle phalanx of the left hand.

Leg Blood Flow and Vascular Conductance

Common femoral artery diameter (~2 cm proximal to bifurcation) and blood velocity were determined with a 12-MHz linear array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI). Blood velocity was measured with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60°. Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Femoral artery diameter measurements were obtained during end-diastole at rest (before contraction) and 1-min post-contraction. Leg blood flow (BF) was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) and artery cross-sectional area (cm²) and expressed as milliliters per minute (ml·min⁻¹). Vascular conductance (VC) was calculated as the quotient of BF and mean arterial pressure (MAP) (expressed as ml·min⁻¹·mmHg⁻¹).

Single Muscle Contractions

Subjects performed dynamic single contractions in the right leg as previously described at 20% and 40% of their maximum work rate (WR_{max}) determined on a previous study day (118, 120). Subjects were seated in a semi-recumbent position on a modified adjustable bucket seat that accommodates variable body and leg lengths allowing the subject's lower leg to move through a full range of movement (90° flexion to ~0° extension). Both knees were flexed at 90°



with a form fitting orthopedic boot attached to the right ankle. The boot is attached to a leg shaft located behind the right knee that has a one-way clutch bearing allowing for no resistance as the leg returns to 90° flexion (eccentric). Resistance (torque) is developed by contracting (concentric) against the leg shaft with the device electronically developing the torque via an alternating current motor turning at a constant RPM transferred to the leg shaft. A dedicated computer monitors the elapsed time and the angle of the leg controlling the actual torque presented to the leg during contraction. In this way, the subject was required to develop enough power to extend the leg through a full range of motion against a given torque eliminating any inertial load. Subjects were instructed to contract and relax through a full range of movement $(90^{\circ} \text{ flexion to } \sim 0^{\circ} \text{ extension})$ within ~1s, on a verbal command from laboratory personnel. WR_{max} intensities were randomized prior to the experimental protocol, and each contraction intensity was performed in duplicate to calculate the average response for each subject for a given condition. Each contraction was visually observed by the laboratory personnel to ensure proper timing of contraction. One minute of relaxation were given between each contraction to allow continuous measures of limb hemodynamics post-contraction.

Cold-Pressor Test

The cold-pressor test (CPT) was used to examine the influence of increased sympathetic nervous system activity on ROV following single muscle contractions in the leg. Local cold stimulation has previously been shown to elicit a robust sympathetic stimulus, effectively increasing muscle sympathetic nerve activity two-fold, within 1-2 minutes (256, 299). During each CPT trial, the subject's contralateral (left) foot (at the level of approximately 5-7 cm above the malleolus) was lowered into the ice water (4°C) for a total of four minutes (108, 142).

Experimental Protocol/Design



Following a 15-minute rest period in a semi-recumbent position and baseline brachial BP measurements subjects underwent a familiarization CPT at the start of the study. The initial (familiarization) CPT was utilized because the first exposure to cold has been shown to cause exaggerated increases in MAP when compared to subsequent CPTs (108). Therefore we aimed to avoid having the first exposure to cold and potential exaggerated pressor responses occur during one of the leg kicking trials. Following the CPT familiarization trial, subjects performed a total of four [two CPT and two non-CPT/control] leg-kicking trials (Figure 8). The order of control (no CPT) and CPT trials, as well as exercise intensity (20% vs. 40% WR_{max}) were randomized prior to the study day, and 20 minutes of quiet rest separated each trial that contained a CPT. Each trial consisted of 2 single contractions at either 20% or 40% WR_{max}. For the CPT trials, the contractions took place during the final 2 minutes of foot immersion within the ice bath. HR, systemic arterial BP, and femoral artery mean blood velocity were captured continuously throughout each trial.

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data were collected at 250Hz and analyzed offline with signal-processing software (WinDaq, DATAQ Instruments). Beat-to-beat MAP was derived from each Nexfin BP waveform and was synchronized to blood velocity (via Doppler ultrasound) measurements. Baseline BF and MAP represent an average of the last 30 seconds of the rest prior to each single contraction. To account for baseline changes in BF and VC with CPT, rapid flow and vasodilator responses after muscle contraction were adjusted (i.e., post-contraction value - baseline value) and expressed as the change in (Δ) BF and VC. Of particular interest to this study, the peak Δ VC and total VC responses post-contraction were analyzed between conditions. Total leg BF (ml) and VC (ml·mmHg⁻¹) were defined as the area under the curve over 30 post-contraction cardiac



cycles after subtracting respective baseline values for a given flow or conductance curve. In order to further investigate age-related differences in the hyperemic and vasodilator response to sympathetic stimulation (CPT), the percent reduction (% Δ) between age-groups were compared. Given evidence for the potential confound of absolute work driving the age-related differences in exercise hyperemia and vasodilation (306) we performed additional analyses on a subset of subjects matched for an approximate absolute workload (~10W). Additionally, due to the potential influence of sex on ROV (40) we also performed additional analyses to compare responses within and between age groups based on sex.

Group data are expressed as mean±SE. Baseline characteristics between groups were analyzed via one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Hemodynamics prior to single leg contractions were analyzed with a two-way repeated measure ANOVA. Age and sex related differences of the primary outcome variables post-contraction (peak Δ BF and Δ VC and total BF and VC) were analyzed using two-way repeated measures ANOVA. Percent reductions in the primary outcome variables were analyzed with independent one-way ANOVA's. When significant F-ratios were detected, post-hoc comparisons were made using Tukey's post hoc test for pair-wise comparisons. Significance was set a priori at P<0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using SigmaStat software version 12.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA).

Results

Subject characteristics are shown in Table 7. Older adults had a higher BMI and lower WR_{max} relative to young adults (P<0.05). There were no age differences for any of the BP variables (P>0.05).

Baseline (resting) Hemodynamic Responses across Trials



Baseline hemodynamics during control and CPT trials prior to single leg contractions are shown in Table 8. Compared to control trials, exposure to the CPT increased baseline MAP in both young and older adults (P<0.05). CPT also caused an increase in HR in the young adults (P<0.05), whereas no chronotropic effect was observed in older adults. Baseline levels of VC were reduced during the CPT in young adults across exercise intensities and at 20% WR_{max} in older adults (P<0.05).

Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Muscle Contractions with Age

Figure 9 illustrates the temporal rapid hyperemic (A & B) and vasodilator (C & D) responses in young and older adults following single contractions during control and CPT trials at 20% and 40% WR_{max}. Peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses tended to occur during the 6th cardiac cycle post-contraction in both young and older adults. Under control conditions, peak (Figure 10) and total (Figure 11) hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction were attenuated in older compared to young adults at 20% and 40% WR_{max} (main effect of age P<0.05).

Vasoconstrictor Responsiveness to Single Leg Contractions

During the CPT trials, peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses were reduced in both young and older adults at 20% and 40% WR_{max} (P<0.05, Figure 10). Additionally, sympathetic stimulation via CPT reduced the total hyperemic and vasodilator responses in young and older adults at 20% WR_{max} (P<0.05), whereas the total responses were only reduced in the young adults at 40% WR_{max} (P<0.05, Figure 11). When expressed as a percent reduction (% change in VC during CPT vs. control), there were no age-related differences for peak (P=0.55 at 20% WR_{max} ; P=0.42 at 40% WR_{max}) or total (P=0.34 at 20% WR_{max} ; P=0.23 at 40% WR_{max}) vasodilator responses (Figure 12).



Absolute Workload Sub-Analysis

The mean \pm SE workloads for the subset of young (n=9) and older (n=9) subjects were 9.7 \pm 0.4 and 9.6 \pm 0.6 W, respectively. Table 9 shows BF and VC data at baseline and in response to single leg contractions during control and CPT trials. In agreement with relative workload responses, young adults demonstrated greater peak vasodilator responses compared to older adults during control and CPT trials (P<0.05 for both). However total vasodilator responses were not significantly different between young and older adults across conditions (P=0.08-0.1) at a comparable absolute workload. Additionally, the magnitude of vasoconstriction (% change in VC during CPT vs. control) was similar for the peak (-20 \pm 7% vs. -25 \pm 4% P=0.53) and total (-22 \pm 8% vs. -28 \pm 4% P=0.47) responses between young and older adults.

Potential Sex Differences in Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Leg Knee-Extension with Acute Sympathetic Stimulation

Within groups: Young men demonstrated greater peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses than young women during both control and CPT at 20% WR_{max} (P<0.05). At 40% WR_{max}, young men demonstrated greater peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses during control (P<0.05), but no differences were observed for peak vasodilator responses during CPT (P=0.09) Total hyperemic and vasodilator responses were not different between young men and women during control or CPT across exercise intensities (P=0.06-0.27). Importantly, there were no sex differences evident in the percent reduction due to CPT in peak (-22±6% vs. -29±6% at 20% WR_{max}; -22±6% vs. -20±12% at 40% WR_{max}, P=0.44-0.88) or total VC (-26±7% vs. -31±8% at 20% WR_{max}; -21±10% vs. -22±13% at 40% WR_{max}, P=0.70-0.96).

There were no sex differences observed in any measure of ROV between older men and women during control or CPT (P=0.18-0.79). Additionally, the percent reduction due to CPT in



peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses within the leg were not different between older men and women across exercise intensities (P=0.40-0.79).

Between groups: Young males demonstrated greater peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses during both control and CPT compared to older men across exercise intensities (P<0.05 for all). There were no statistically significant differences between young and older men for total hyperemic or vasodilator responses during control or CPT across exercise intensities (P=0.07-0.14). Furthermore, the percent reduction due to CPT were not different between young and older men across exercise intensities for peak VC (-22 \pm 6% vs. -31 \pm 5% at 20% WR_{max}; - 22 \pm 6 vs. -33 \pm 10% at 40% WR_{max}; P=0.39-0.90) or total VC (-26 \pm 7% vs. -31 \pm 5 at 20% WR_{max}; - 21 \pm 10% vs. -35 \pm 10% at 40% WR_{max}; P=0.34-0.66).

Older women demonstrated attenuated peak hyperemic (P<0.05) but not vasodilator responses at 20% and 40% WR_{max} (P=0.13-0.18) relative to young females during control trials. There were no differences between the two groups during CPT trials (P=0.17-0.47). No ageassociated differences were observed within young and older females for total hyperemic or vasodilator responses during control or CPT trials across exercise intensities (P=0.08-0.23). Furthermore, there were no age-associated differences between young and older females for the percent reduction due to CPT across exercise intensities for peak (-29 \pm 7% vs. -20 \pm 7% at 20% WR_{max}; -20 \pm 13% vs. -31 \pm 6% at 40% WR_{max}, P=0.38-0.65) or total VC (-31 \pm 8% vs. -41 \pm 10% at 20% WR_{max}; -22 \pm 13% vs. -32 \pm 6% at 40% WR_{max}, P=0.43-0.51).

Discussion

This is the first study to examine the influence of sympathetic vasoconstriction on the contraction-induced rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg of young and older



adults. The novel finding of this study is that acute sympathetic stimulation via a CPT significantly blunts ROV in the contracting leg of both young and older adults, and the magnitude of change is similar between age groups. Additionally, age-related differences in ROV still persist in the face of acute sympathetic stimulation. Taken together, our present findings suggest that sympathetic vasoconstriction does not appear to fully explain age associated reductions in contraction-induced rapid hyperemia and vasodilation in the lower limbs of humans.

Lower Limb Vasoconstrictor Responses and Age-associated Reductions in Contraction-Induced ROV

We have previously demonstrated that contraction-induced ROV is attenuated to a similar extent in the upper and lower limbs of older adults across a range of exercise intensities (120). Furthermore, we have demonstrated that within the forearm, sympathetic stimulation reduces contraction-induced ROV in young, but not older adults (40). Moreover, non-selective α -adrenergic blockade effectively abolishes the age-related differences in ROV in the forearm (40). In the present study, contraction-induced ROV in the leg was blunted during acute sympathetic stimulation to a similar degree between age groups (Figures 10 & 11). While contraction-induced ROV is not reduced in the forearm of older adults during sympathetic stimulation (40), previous evidence has shown that older adults demonstrate greater vascular tone within the leg at rest (274) as well as reduced blood flow and vasodilation during dynamic exercise (142, 185). Taken together, this evidence might suggest that while regulation of vascular tone at the onset of exercise is altered with age, the regulatory mechanisms may differ between limbs. However, it should be noted that the contrasting ROV responses between limbs during sympathetic stimulation with aging might not truly reflect limb specific differences but rather methodological



differences. Along these lines, our previous study in the arm (40) utilized lower body negative pressure to induce acute sympathetic stimulation whereas a CPT was used in the current study. Differences in the magnitude of sympathetic stimulation and consequent hemodynamic changes between the two experimental conditions could influence ROV independent of potential inherent limb differences. In support of this notion, lower body negative pressure and CPT have been shown to elicit divergent hemodynamic responses as well as arterial blood flow patterns at rest (214).

Sympathetic Vasoconstriction, ROV and Sex Differences

Previous work from our group indicates sex may play a role in the ROV responses in the forearm during sympathetic stimulation (40). Specifically, young men exhibited greater sympathetically-mediated reductions in ROV during low-intensity contractions, but not during moderate to higher intensity contractions, suggestive of greater vasoconstrictive responsiveness that is abolished with increasing exercise intensity. In contrast to what we previously reported in the forearm, our current findings in the leg suggest that the reduction in ROV during acute sympathetic stimulation is similar between young men and women regardless of exercise intensity. Moreover, the magnitude of reduction in ROV (expressed as a relative or absolute change) during sympathetic stimulation did not differ between age groups within each sex. It is important to note that these statistical comparisons and conclusions regarding potential sex-related differences are derived from a relatively small sample size (n = 6-7 for each group), which could contribute to the lack of differences observed within and between groups.

Feedforward Mechanisms to Dynamic Exercise

The capacity to rapidly increase blood flow and vasodilation at the onset of contractions has important implications for the regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow during dynamic



exercise. Rapid vasodilation at the onset of exercise contributes to the bi-phasic nature of exercise hyperemia (295), and presumably facilitates the transition from rest to steady-state dynamic exercise. While it is well documented that vascular tone is altered with aging at rest and during repeated muscle contractions (74, 247), far less is known regarding the dynamics of vasodilation leading up to steady-state dynamic exercise. However, emerging evidence points to age-related impairments in the local control of blood flow in contracting human skeletal muscle occurring as early as the first contraction (39, 40, 43, 120, 141), which is due in part to enhanced α -adrenergic mediated vasoconstriction and reductions in nitric oxide (NO)-mediated local vasodilation (40, 43). Decreases in NO bioavailability have also been implicated in the blunted transient leg blood flow response to movement-induced hyperemia in older adults (105, 166, 181, 290). Interestingly, the age-related reductions in forearm blood flow during steady state exercise do not appear to be due to an enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction (237). This evidence suggests that sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction possibly plays a greater role in the age-related impairments in exercise hyperemia at the very onset of exercise compared to under steady-state conditions. Furthermore, this discrepancy also highlights a knowledge gap related to the vasodilator and vasoconstrictor mechanisms involved in the regulation of muscle blood flow during the transition from rest to steady state exercise. Although, we recently demonstrated the speed (i.e. kinetics) of skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation during rhythmic forearm contractions are slower in otherwise healthy aging humans, possibly due to blunted NO signaling (41), the role sympathetic vasoconstriction plays in slowing vasodilator kinetics with age has not been explored.

Attenuation of sympathetic vasoconstriction during exercise is critical in the matching of O_2 supply to demand during dynamic exercise via re-distribution of blood flow to contracting



tissues (e.g. functional sympatholysis) (247). Previous evidence in the forearm of young adults indicates that attenuation of sympathetic vasoconstriction is immediate (after a single muscle contraction) (67). Conversely, sympathetic vasoconstriction appears to limit rapid vasodilation in the forearm of older adults (40) as well as contributes to the age-related reductions in muscle blood flow during steady-state dynamic exercise in the leg (74, 185, 306). In the present study, acute sympathetic stimulation reduced ROV in the leg ~20-30% of both young and older adults, with the magnitude of reduction being similar between age groups and across exercise intensities (Figure 12). Noting previous evidence from our lab of a similar attenuation in ROV between the arm and leg with age following a single muscle contraction (120), it does not appear that a greater tonic sympathetic vasoconstriction explains the drastic age-related differences in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation within the leg. Considering the idea that ROV is thought to play a critical role in modulating skeletal muscle blood flow during steady-state dynamic exercise conditions, the ability to attenuate sympathetic vasoconstriction within the leg after a single contraction may play a critical role in O₂ delivery and exercise tolerance (248).

Experimental Considerations

There are a few experimental considerations that warrant mention. First, we used a CPT to increase sympathetic activity with the goal of enhancing vasoconstriction in the contracting leg. Although we did not directly assess sympathetic outflow via direct measurement of MSNA or norepinephrine spillover, previous evidence has clearly demonstrated that a local CPT is capable of doubling MSNA in both young and older adults (142, 197, 256, 299). Along with inducing sympathetic vasoconstriction, the CPT also resulted in concomitant increases in systemic arterial pressure, which in turn could potentially confound our results. However, we do not believe that the increase in MAP during the CPT confounds our main outcome measure (i.e.



vascular conductance). In this context, the calculation of vascular conductance takes into account changes in arterial pressure. Additionally, our method for calculating ROV (Δ from respective baseline) allowed for comparison despite baseline differences between age groups as well as between trials (control vs. CPT).

The conclusion that there are no age-associated differences in the reduction of ROV in response to acute sympathetic stimulation is in contrast to our original hypothesis. Our conclusion is based off the finding that the relative reduction in ROV during CPT (compared to control conditions) is similar between young and older adults. However, it could be argued that based on the calculation of percent reduction in VC due to CPT [(CPT-control)/control x 100], the much lower VC in older adults during control conditions results in a smaller denominator and thereby possibly making the % reduction appear greater than it actually is. Although this is possible, close examination of our data reveals that this is likely not the case. When examined as an absolute difference (i.e. CPT-Control), there are still no differences in the peak and total VC between young and older adults (P=0.12-0.63). These results, taken in context with the percent reduction due to CPT suggest that sympathetic stimulation reduces ROV within the leg independent of age.

Similar to our previous studies (118, 120), the older adults demonstrated a lower WR_{max} in the leg than their young counterparts. In turn, their absolute work rates at each respective workload (5 ± 1 vs. 8 ± 1 W at 20% WR_{max} and 11 ± 1 vs. 16 ± 1 W at 40% WR_{max}) were lower, which could have influenced our current findings. Also, previous evidence suggests that any age-related difference in the ability to inhibit sympathetic vasoconstriction in the exercising leg is more closely associated with work performed rather than age *per se* (306). Therefore we addressed this potential confound by comparing ROV responses under control and CPT



conditions in a subset of young and older adults matched for a similar absolute workload (~10W). Results from this sub-analysis clearly demonstrate 1) blunted ROV responses with age still persist when matched for an absolute workload, and 2) the magnitude of reduction in the ROV response during acute sympathetic stimulation is still similar between young and older adults. Finally, using the current study design we were unable to examine whether α -adrenergic blockade abolishes the age-related differences in ROV in the leg, similar to our previous work in the forearm (40). However, removal of sympathetic α -adrenergic vasoconstriction via phentolamine abolishes age-related differences in femoral blood flow and vasodilation at rest, as well as during a CPT (76).

Conclusion

The results from the present study are the first to provide experimental evidence that contraction-induced rapid vasodilation within the leg is reduced by sympathetic stimulation, independent of age as well as sex. Furthermore, while sympathetic stimulation reduces rapid vasodilation following a single muscle contraction in the leg of young adults, it does not fully explain the blunted ROV response commonly observed in the leg of older adults.



	Young Adults	Older Adults
	(n = 13)	(n = 12)
Age (years)	24 ± 1	$67 \pm 1*$
Men/Women	7/6	6/6
Height (cm)	176 ± 3	169 ± 2
Weight (kg)	73 ± 3	73 ± 3
Body Mass Index (kg·m ²)	23.4 ± 0.5	$25.7 \pm 1.0 *$
WR _{max} (Watts)	41 ± 4	$26 \pm 3^{*}$
Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	121 ± 3	122 ± 3
Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)	74 ± 2	75 ± 2
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	89 ± 2	91 ± 2

Table 7: Subject Characteristics for Aim 3

Values are means \pm SE. WR_{max}, Work Rate Maximum. * P < 0.05 vs. young adults



		Young		Old	ler
		Control	CPT	Control	CPT
Plood Flow (ml min ⁻¹)	20% WR _{max}	184±15	171±14	135±27	108±22*
Blood Flow (IIII-IIIII)	40% WR _{max}	205±27	181±18	136±27*	114±22
MAP(mmHg)	20% WR _{max}	98±3	112±5†	102±4	107±4†
MAP (IIIIIII)	40% WR _{max}	99±3	111±5†	101±3	108±3†
HR (h, \min^{-1})	20% WR _{max}	70±4	76±4†	63±2	64±2*
	40% WR _{max}	69±4	76±4†	62±2	64±2*
	20% WR _{max}	1.9±0.1	1.6±0.2†	1.3±0.3	0.9±0.2*†
vC (mi·min·mmHg ⁻)	40% WR _{max}	2.1±0.3	1.7±0.2†	1.3±0.3*	1.1±.02

Table 8: Baseline (resting) Hemodynamics under Each Condition

Mean ± SE; MAP, mean arterial pressure; HR, heart rate; VC, vascular conductance. * P<0.05 vs. young adults; † P<0.05 vs. control



			Young (n=9)			Older (n=9)	
		Baseline	ΔPeak	ΔTotal	Baseline	ΔPeak	ΔTotal
Control	Blood Flow (ml·min ⁻¹)	226±36	876±113	141±17	140±29*	560±99*	122±19
	VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	2.0±0.2	9.9±2	1.6±0.2	1.4±0.3*	5.9±1.0*	1.3±0.2
СРТ	Blood Flow (ml·min ⁻¹)	192±23	741±127†	136±27	128±23*	426±74*†	97±19
	VC (ml·min ⁻¹ ·mmHg ⁻¹)	1.7±0.3†	8.3±2†	1.5±0.3†	1.1±0.3*	4.4±0.8*†	0.9±0.2†

Table 9: Leg Hemodynamics at Rest and Following a Single Contraction at ~10W

Mean \pm SE; CPT, cold-pressor test; VC, vascular conductance. * P < 0.05 vs. young adults; † vs. control





Figure 8: Experimental timeline. CPT, cold-pressor test, BL, baseline, WR_{max}, work-rate maximum





Figure 9: Hyperemic [change (Δ) in blood flow (BF); A and B] and vasodilator [Δ vascular conductance (VC); C and D] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following a single leg knee extension at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR_{max} (B and D) during control and sympathetic stimulation (cold-pressor test; CPT) conditions in young and older adults





Figure 10: Peak hyperemic (A and B) and vasodilator (C and D) responses in young and older adults at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR_{max} (B and D). * P<0.05 vs. young; [†] P<0.05 vs control





Figure 11: Total hyperemic (A and B) and vasodilator (C and D) responses in young and older adults at 20% (A and C) and 40% WR_{max} (B and D). * P<0.05 vs. young; [†]P<0.05 vs. control





Figure 12: Percent reduction (% Δ) in peak (A) and total (B) vasodilator responses to single leg knee extension at 20% and 40% WR_{max} in response to sympathetic stimulation in young and older adults. Open circles (\bigcirc) represent females and closed circles (\bullet) represent males of each age group



CHAPTER 5: CHRONIC ENDURANCE EXERCISE TRAINING OFFSETS THE AGE-RELATED ATTENUATION IN CONTRACTION-INDUCED RAPID VASODILATION

A version of Chapter 5 has been previously published: Hughes WE, Ueda K, Casey DP. Chronic endurance exercise training offsets the age-related attenuation in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation. *J Appl Physiol*. 2016; 120:1335-1342.

Introduction

Aging is associated with impairments in vascular function and the regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow, as well as reductions in aerobic exercise capacity (15, 110, 171, 300). These age-related impairments in the regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow, particularly during exercise, are apparent after a single skeletal muscle contraction (39, 40, 43, 120, 141) and persist under steady state conditions (41, 155, 226, 229, 231). Blunted skeletal muscle blood flow responses in older adults have been attributed to alterations in local vasodilatory mechanisms, elevations in sympathetic vasoconstrictive activity or an impaired ability to modulate sympathetic vasoconstriction during exercise (75, 110, 142, 184). Collectively, these adverse changes in the vasculature and decreased limb blood flow can potentially lead to an inadequate matching of O_2 delivery to the metabolic demand of the contracting muscle (15, 155, 247).

Rapid onset vasodilation (ROV) describes the immediate increase in blood flow and vasodilation elicited with a single muscle contraction (51, 252, 295, 297) and is thought to serve a critical role in modulating the blood flow response during steady state exercise conditions (251, 252, 270). The influence of age on ROV is well characterized in the human forearm (39, 40, 43, 141), and more recently in the leg (120). Collectively, these studies indicate that older adults exhibit attenuated peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single muscle contraction (39, 40, 43, 141), which appears to be independent of limb (120). At least in the



forearm, these age-related decrements in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation are thought to be due in part to diminished nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability or signaling and enhanced α adrenergic vasoconstrictor tone (40, 43). However, to date all studies examining ROV in both young and older adults has exclusively examined the hyperemic and vasodilator responses in sedentary or recreationally active individuals.

Chronic exercise training has been shown to ameliorate many age-associated changes in vascular function (184, 204, 258), while physical inactivity is a risk factor for the development of chronic diseases (29, 220). Indeed, there is a strong inverse relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness (e.g. VO_{2peak}) and overall mortality (24, 83), highlighting the benefits of life-long exercise and high levels of physical activity. However, it is unclear whether the attenuated ROV in contracting muscle of older adults is due to aging per se or the reduction of physical activity and functional fitness that often accompanies the aging process (77, 171). Moreover it is unknown whether long term exercise training can prevent the blunting of ROV that occurs in untrained older adults. With this information as background, we tested the hypothesis that chronic endurance exercise training in older adults would ameliorate the age-related impairments in contraction-induced ROV. Additionally, we sought to examine whether a relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness and ROV exists in young and older adults.

Methods

Subjects

Sixteen older endurance exercise trained (9 men, 7 women, age: 59-85 yr) subjects volunteered to participate in this study. To address our primary aim, data from our previous study which included 16 older and 14 young sedentary to recreationally active adults (120) were used for comparison with the present group of older exercise trained adults (see Table 10 for


complete demographics). All subjects completed a general health history screening and written informed consent and were generally healthy, free of any diagnosed cardiovascular or metabolic complications, nonobese (body mass index: $\leq 30 \text{ kg} \cdot \text{m}^2$), nonsmokers, and not taking any vasoactive medications. Exercise trained older adults self-reported chronic endurance exercise training ≥ 4 days per week, ≥ 1 hr per session per day and for at least the past year. On average subjects reported meeting these training requirements for the past 19 ± 4 years and several of them were still actively competing in races (both running and cycling). Trained status was confirmed with a graded, maximal exercise stress test. Studies were performed after an overnight fast, and subjects refrained from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory. Young female subjects were studied during the early follicular phase of their menstrual cycle or the placebo phase of oral contraceptives to control for the potential influence of sex hormones on primary outcome variables (173). All older female subjects were postmenopausal and were not taking any form of hormone replacement therapy. All study protocols were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa.

Pre-Study Day Measurements

Body Composition, Forearm, and Leg Tissue Mass

Body composition was determined by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA; Hologic software version APEX 4.0). Total mass and fat free mass of the left forearm and right leg were determined from regional analysis from the whole-body DEXA scan using bony landmarks for normalization of blood flow and vascular conductance responses. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body weight (kg) divided by height (meters) squared.

Measurement of Exercise Capacity



Peak exercise O_2 consumption (VO_{2peak} ; ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) was determined in all subjects using respiratory gas analysis (Parvo Medics TrueOne 2400, Sandy, UT, USA) during incremental treadmill exercise using a Bruce protocol performed to exhaustion as previously described (88).

Determination of Work Rate Maximum

Work rate maximum (WR_{max}) was determined from a single leg knee extensor incremental maximal exercise test completed during a familiarization session prior to the study day as previously described (120). Briefly, subjects were seated in a semirecumbent position on a modified adjustable bucket seat that accommodated variable body and leg lengths allowing each subject's lower leg to move through a 90-180° range of motion during the knee extension exercise. Resistance was developed by a custom-made computer controlled leg ergometer. Briefly, resistance (torque) was developed by an AC motor turning at a constant RPM that was transferred to the leg shaft, against which subjects contracted. The computer monitored the elapsed time, angle of the leg and controlled the actual torque presented to the leg during contraction. In this way, the subject was required to develop enough power to extend the leg through a full range of motion. WR_{max} testing consisted of an initial workload of 5W that incrementally increased every minute by 3W and 5W in female and male subjects, respectively. Subjects kicked dynamically through a full range of motion at a cadence of 40 kicks per minute. The single leg knee extensor incremental maximal test continued until the subject could not maintain a full range of motion or a cadence of 40 contractions per minute. The final workload completed was recorded as maximal kicking load from which relative workloads were calculated.

Study Day Measurements



Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure

Heart rate (HR) was recorded via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram, and systemic blood pressure was assessed (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin; Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) on the non-exercising hand. Brachial artery pressure was measured in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA) prior to beginning exercise trials while the subjects were in a supine position following 15 minutes of rest.

Single Muscle Contractions

Subjects performed dynamic single contractions in both the arm and leg as previously described (120). Briefly, single forearm contractions were performed with a handgrip device at 10%, 20%, and 40% of the subject's maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), determined (using a handgrip dynamometer) as the average of three maximal squeezes performed on the pre-study measurement day. Single knee extension contractions were performed at 20%, 40%, and 60% WR_{max}. Subjects were instructed to contract and relax on a verbal command from laboratory personnel. WR_{max} and MVC intensities were randomized prior to the experimental protocol, and each contraction intensity was performed in duplicate to calculate the average response for each subject for a given condition. Each contraction (leg and arm) was visually observed by the laboratory personnel to ensure proper timing of contraction. Two minutes of relaxation were given between each contraction to allow continuous measures of limb hemodynamics post-contraction. All single muscle contractions (knee extensions and forearm contractions) were performed on the same day.

Measurement of Blood Flow



Brachial and common femoral (~2-3 cm proximal to bifurcation) artery diameter and blood velocity were determined with a 12-MHz linear-array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI). Blood velocity was measured with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60°. Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Artery diameter measurements were obtained at end diastole at rest (before contraction) and 1 minute post-contraction. Limb blood flow (BF) was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) and artery cross-sectional area (cm²) and expressed as milliliters per minute (ml·min⁻¹).

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data were collected at 250 Hz and analyzed offline with signal processing software (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments). Beat-to-beat mean arterial pressure (MAP) was derived from the Nexfin pressure waveform and was recorded simultaneously with beat-to-beat blood velocity measurements. Heart rate was determined from the electrocardiogram. Baseline BF and MAP represent an average of the last 30 seconds of the resting time period before each muscle contraction and were used to quantify the hyperemic response. Vascular conductance (VC) was calculated as BF/MAP (and expressed as ml·min⁻¹·mmHg⁻¹). Rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses are expressed as the change in (Δ) BF and VC from baseline, respectively. Of particular interest are the peak (Δ VC) and total (VC) dilator responses post-contraction. Total BF (ml) and VC (ml·mmHg⁻¹) were defined as the area under the curve over 30 post contraction cardiac cycles after respective baseline values were subtracted for a given flow or conductance curve. To account for the possible influence of muscle mass, BF and VC responses were also examined after normalizing for muscle mass (kg).



All values are expressed as mean \pm SE. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze demographic variables between groups. To address the primary question of whether chronic exercise training offsets the age-related impairment in contraction-induced ROV, comparisons were made between the older trained adults and our previously published data on young and older untrained adults (120). Independent, one-way ANOVAs were used to compare groups across exercise intensities in both the arm (10%, 20%, and 40%) and leg (20%, 40% and 60%). When significance was detected, Tukey's post hoc analysis was used to identify differences between groups. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the relationship between exercise capacity (VO_{2peak}) and ROV (peak and total VC). All statistical analyses were completed using SigmaPlot software version 11.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Statistical difference was set a priori at P < 0.05.

Results

Subject characteristics are shown in Table 10. Young, untrained and trained older subjects were of similar height, weight, body mass, and percent body fat (P > 0.05). Brachial blood pressures, forearm and leg muscle masses, and forearm MVC were also similar between groups (P > 0.05 for all). There were no differences in WR_{max} between trained and untrained older adults. Compared to young adults, untrained older adults had a lower WR_{max} (P < 0.05), but there were no differences between trained older adults and young adults. Lastly, and important to the current study, exercise trained older adults had higher VO_{2peak} compared to their untrained counterparts (P < 0.05).

Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Muscle Contractions in Trained Older, Untrained Older, and Young Adults



Figure 13 illustrates the temporal rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses at the highest arm (A & C; 40% MVC) and leg (B & D; 60% WR_{max}) exercise intensities in the three groups of subjects (exercise trained older adults, untrained, and young adults). The responses in the young and untrained older adults have been previously published (120) and are included to highlight the effect of chronic exercise training on the temporal vasodilator response following a single muscle contraction in the arm and leg. The peak responses for the arm and leg tended to occur in the first 3-5 cardiac cycles, and this timing of peak responses were similar between groups. The peak hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the arm were greater in trained older adults at moderate exercise intensities (20%-40% MVC) compared to their older untrained counterparts (P < 0.05; Figure 14A & 14B). There were no differences between trained and untrained older adults for total BF at any exercise intensity (Figure 14C & 14D). Additionally, there were no differences across contraction intensities for the peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the arm between trained older adults and young adults (P > 0.05). Peak and total hyperemic (Figure 15A & 15C) and vasodilator (Figure 15B & 15D) responses were greater in the older trained adults across leg exercise intensities compared to older untrained adults (P < 0.05) while there were no differences between trained older and young adults (P > 0.05). Normalizing responses to muscle mass elicited similar results in that peak arm hyperemic and vasodilator responses were greater in trained older adults at moderate exercise intensities compared to untrained counterparts (data not shown P < 0.05). Additionally, peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses were greater in trained older adults across leg exercise intensities compared to untrained older adults, with no differences between trained older and young adults (data not shown, P > 0.05).

Relationship between Exercise Capacity and ROV within the Arm and Leg



Figure 16 illustrates the relationship between VO_{2peak} and peak vasodilator responses at the highest exercise intensities in the arm (16A) and leg (16B). VO_{2peak} was moderately associated with arm peak and total VC across exercise intensities (r = 0.31-0.61; P < 0.05 for all) in the group as a whole. When separated by age, VO_{2peak} was associated with peak (r = 0.59-0.64; P < 0.05) and total (r = 0.39-0.52 P < 0.05) arm VC across exercise intensities in older adults, but only at 40% in young adults (r = 0.53; P < 0.05). Within the leg, VO_{2peak} was associated with peak (r = 0.55 - 0.65; P < 0.05) and total (r = 0.39-0.50, P < 0.05) VC across exercise intensities in the entire group. When separated by age, VO_{2peak} was moderately associated with peak leg vasodilator responses across exercise intensities in older adults (r = 0.55-0.68 P < 0.01 for all, and at 40-60% WR_{max} in young adults (r = 0.60 and 0.65 respectively, P < 0.05 for both). When separated by training status (trained older vs. untrained adults) there were no associations between VO_{2peak} peak or total VC in the arm or leg of untrained older adults (P > 0.05). Conversely, trained older adults exhibited associations between VO_{2peak} and peak ΔVC across arm exercise intensities (r = 0.68-0.70; P < 0.05 for all) and at 40% and 60% WR_{max} in the leg (r = 0.62-0.70; P < 0.05).

ROV, Age, and Physical Fitness: Influence of Workload

As untrained older adults had a lower leg WR_{max} it could be argued that because of the tight relationship between blood flow and metabolic rate, any age or physical fitness related differences may be due to differences the absolute work performed between groups. In order to address this issue, we compared the peak and total responses normalized for work rate (e.g. flow and/or conductance per Watt) between groups. Normalizing the data in this way revealed similar results as presented above for the absolute hyperemic and vasodilator responses. Trained older adults still demonstrated higher peak hyperemic (98 ± 8 vs. 68 ± 8 , 56 ± 4 vs. 41 ± 4 and 44 ± 3



vs. $32 \pm 3 \text{ ml} \cdot \text{min}^{-1} \cdot \text{W}^{-1}$) and vasodilator responses $(1.1 \pm 0.1 \text{ vs. } 0.7 \pm 0.1, 0.6 \pm 0.1 \text{ vs. } 0.4 \pm 0.1, \text{ and } 0.5 \pm 0.04 \text{ vs. } 0.3 \pm 0.03 \text{ ml} \cdot \text{min}^{-1} \cdot \text{mmHg}^{-1} \cdot \text{W}^{-1}$) across exercise intensities (20-60% WR_{max}) compared to untrained older adults (P < 0.05 for all). Additionally, the total hyperemic response normalized for work rate was higher at 20% (15 ± 2 vs. 9 ± 1) and 60% (7 ± 1 vs. 4 ± 0.4) WR_{max} in trained vs. untrained older adults (P < 0.05 for both).

To further address the potential confound of work rate between groups, we compared the peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses in a subset of subjects from each of the three groups that performed similar absolute workloads (mean \sim 10-11 W for each group). The mean \pm SE workloads for the subset of trained older (n=10), untrained older (n=11) and young (n=11)adults were, 10.6 ± 0.4 , 10.5 ± 0.3 , and 10.3 ± 0.3 W, respectively. As illustrated in Figure 17, peak hyperemic (17A) and vasodilator responses (17B) were greater in trained older adults compared to untrained older adults (P < 0.05 for both) when matched for workload, while peak ΔVC was lower in untrained older adults compared to young adults (P < 0.05). Total hyperemic (17C) and vasodilator (17D) responses were not different between groups (P = 0.07 for both). When the responses were normalized for muscle mass in the subset of subjects matched for workload, there were no differences between groups (P = 0.09-0.17) for peak and total Δ BF and ΔVC . In the same subset of subjects, VO_{2peak} was associated with peak ΔVC in the group as a whole (r = 0.48, P < 0.01), but not when separated by training status (r = -0.08-0.44, P > 0.05 for all). Total VC and VO_{2peak} were not associated in any group, regardless of how responses were expressed (r = -0.54-0.39, P > 0.05 for all). There were no significant associations between VO_{2peak} and peak ΔVC (normalized for muscle mass), in the group as a whole (r = 0.15, P > 0.05), or when separated by training status (trained, untrained older adults, and young; r = -0.43-0.48, P > 0.05 for all).



Discussion

We and others have previously shown that contraction-induced rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses are attenuated in untrained or sedentary older adults (39, 40, 43, 120, 141) and this attenuation appears to be similar between the arm and leg (120). In the present crosssectional study we demonstrate for the first time that 1) older adults with a history of chronic endurance exercise training demonstrate greater contraction-induced rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses within both the arm and leg compared to their age matched counterparts, and 2) vasodilator responsiveness to single muscle contractions is moderately associated with exercise capacity (VO_{2peak}). These conclusions are supported by the fact that chronically trained older adults demonstrated a substantially greater peak ROV in the arm (Figure 14) as well as an approximately 2 fold greater peak and total ROV response in the leg (Figure 15) compared to untrained older adults across a range of relative (%) workloads. Moreover, the group differences between the older trained and untrained adults still persist when 1) the ROV responses are normalized to the absolute work rate performed; and 2) the groups are matched for a similar absolute workload (Figure 17). Finally, our findings also demonstrate that exercise capacity is positively related to the peak ROV response, regardless whether the peak ROV responses are expressed at the same relative exercise intensity or matched for workload. Taken together, these results suggest that chronic endurance exercise offsets the age-related attenuation in ROV in both the arm and leg of older adults.

Benefits of Exercise Training on Blood Flow in Older Adults

During sub-maximal dynamic exercise there is a general decline in steady state blood flow and vasodilation with age (155, 226, 229-231, 233, 234, 241), which may be offset with exercise training (15, 218). The decline in exercise blood flow with aging is presumably due to



an imbalance between local vasodilator and vasoconstrictor signaling, elevated sympathetic vasoconstrictive tone, as well as an impaired ability to blunt sympathetic vasoconstriction within the contracting muscle, (73, 140-142, 253). Conversely, lifelong physical activity (185) as well as exercise interventions (184) appears to preserve the ability to blunt sympathetic vasoconstrictive tone (functional sympatholysis) in the leg of older adults and maintain sufficient O_2 delivery in older adults (228, 300). However, it should be noted that the documented benefits of lifelong physical activity or chronic exercise training on the regulation of muscle blood flow during exercise may be sex specific. That is, exercise trained older women do not appear to exhibit the same preservation of exercise hyperemia and vasodilation that trained older men do (218, 229, 230). In the present study, chronic exercise training appears to offset the age-related attenuation of peak and total hyperemic and vasodilator responses following a single muscle contraction in the leg of both older men and women. However, this study was not adequately powered to detect sex by exercise training interactions and therefore we cannot make any conclusions on whether chronic exercise training is less effective in improving ROV in older women compared to men.

Training Benefits Beyond "Active" Tissue

Exercise training adaptations to vascular structure and function are not solely restricted to the active limb (e.g. metabolically active limb) and may be conferred to the vasculature perfusing non-exercising tissue [e.g. inactive skeletal muscle] (22, 213). In the context of the present study, the majority of exercise trained older adults reported participation in primarily activities involving the lower limbs, and as illustrated in Figures 14 and 15, this chronic exercise training offsets age-related impairment of ROV responses in both limbs. Along these lines, lower body exercise training often results in an increase in femoral artery diameter, but also preserves



endothelial function in the brachial artery (e.g. "inactive" limb), such that age-related differences in both conduit and resistance arteries are abolished (71, 307). It should be noted that these training adaptations are apparent in men, as these effects have not been observed in postmenopausal women (221). These favorable vascular adaptations in conduit arteries to exercise training in "inactive" skeletal muscle are hypothesized to be mainly due to repeated bouts of elevated shear stress, with endothelial adaptations evident even after a single bout of acute exercise (288). Taken together, these data confirm and highlight the systemic benefits of chronic exercise training on the vasculature in older adults.

Possible Mechanisms

This study provides insight into how chronic endurance exercise training offsets agerelated attenuations in contraction-induced ROV, however, it is important to emphasize that discerning the underlying mechanisms modulating this response was not the purpose of the present investigation. Instead, this study was designed to highlight and characterize the relationship between chronic exercise training, exercise capacity and age-related attenuations in contraction-induced ROV. Therefore, we will only briefly highlight plausible mechanisms by which exercise training may offset age-related attenuation of the ROV response to single muscle contractions. Previous evidence from our laboratory demonstrate that age related impairments in contraction-induced ROV in the arm are in part, due to a reduction in NO bioavailability or signaling, as well as an increase in sympathetic vasoconstriction (40, 43). In this context, evidence from habitually exercising older adults indicates that lifelong exercise training preserves both NO signaling (204, 282) as well as functional sympatholysis within the leg vasculature in older individuals (185). Therefore, it is plausible that the mechanisms by which



chronic exercise training offsets age-related attenuation of ROV in older adults are similar to those observed under steady state conditions during submaximal dynamic exercise.

Experimental Considerations

It should be noted that our current study design does not allow us to examine whether endurance exercise trained older adults exhibit similar ROV responses relative to trained young adults. Evidence suggests that young, highly-trained adults exhibit augmented exercise blood flow responses at submaximal and maximal workloads relative to young sedentary counterparts in both the arm and leg (302). Therefore it can be assumed that young trained adults might exhibit augmented ROV responses, however this has yet to be confirmed. Given that the aim of the study was to examine how chronic exercise training influences characteristics of ROV in a cross sectional manner, we could not control which specific type of chronic exercise subjects participated in. Furthermore, as we present a large range of chronic exercise trained older adults, we were unable to control the number of years the group as a whole participated in. Along these lines, improvements to vascular function are apparent even with short-term exercising training interventions, particularly in populations with established vascular dysfunction (71, 184, 211, 275, 307). Additionally, while the older trained and untrained groups were well matched for many characteristics besides exercise training and VO_2 , there was a trend (P = 0.11) for a higher % body fat in the untrained compared to exercise trained older adults. Since contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilatation has been shown to be blunted with obesity (23), differences in body composition could contribute in part to the augmented ROV responses observed in the exercise trained group. However, we believe these limitations should not detract from the present study; instead, it should be viewed in a larger picture, in that older adults with a history of performing



habitual endurance exercise demonstrate an augmented contraction-induced rapid vasodilation compared to their sedentary older peers.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate that chronic exercise training or physical activity offsets the age-related attenuation in contraction-induced ROV in both the arm and leg. Additionally, exercise capacity is associated with contraction-induced rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses in older adults. These findings extend upon previous studies demonstrating the ability of chronic aerobic exercise to offset age-related impairments of endothelial function as well as steady state exercise hyperemia and vasodilation, further highlighting the benefits of lifelong exercise training.



Variable	Young Adults (n=14)	Untrained Older Adults (n=16)	Trained Older Adults (n=16)
Age (years)	23 ± 1	$66 \pm 1^{*}$	$66 \pm 2^{*}$
Men/Women	9/5	10/6	9/7
Height (cm)	174 ± 2	172 ± 2	170 ± 2
Weight (kg)	75 ± 3	78 ± 3	72 ± 2
Body Mass Index (kg·m ²)	24.7 ± 0.6	26.5 ± 0.7	24.7 ± 0.7
% Body Fat	27.1 ± 1.9	31.9 ± 1.7	28.0 ± 2.0
Forearm Muscle Mass (kg)	0.94 ± 0.08	0.90 ± 0.06	0.85 ± 0.07
Thigh Muscle Mass (kg)	7.5 ± 0.5	$6.9 \hspace{0.1 in} \pm 0.3 \hspace{0.1 in}$	7.0 ± 0.3
VO_2 peak (ml·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	44.3 ± 2.6	$30.6 \pm 1.5^{*}$	37.5 ± 1.9 †
MVC (kg)	41 ± 3	41 ± 3	40 ± 3
WR _{max} (Watts)	41 ± 4	$29 \pm 2^*$	37 ± 3
Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	117 ± 2	123 ± 3	123 ± 3
Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)	72 ± 2	75 ± 2	77 ± 2
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	87 ± 2	91 ± 2	92 ± 2

 Table 10: Subject Characteristics for Aim 4

Values are means \pm SE. MVC, maximal voluntary contraction; WR_{max}, Work Rate Maximum. * P < 0.05 vs. young adults, † vs. Untrained Older Adults





Figure 13: Hyperemic [change (Δ) in blood flow (BF); A & B] vasodilator [Δ vascular conductance (VC); B & D] responses over 30 cardiac cycles following single muscle contractions at the highest arm (A & C; 40% MVC) and leg exercise intensities (B & D; 60% WR_{max})



Figure 14: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the arm for young, untrained and trained older adults. * P < 0.05 vs. untrained older adults



Figure 15: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg for young and untrained and trained older adults. * P < 0.05 vs. untrained older adults



www.manaraa.com



40% MVC

Figure 16: Relationship between exercise capacity (VO_{2peak}) and peak vasodilator responses (Δ VC peak) in the arm (A) and leg (B) of young and older adults

www.manaraa.com

60% WR_{max}



Figure 17: Peak (A & B) and total (C & D) hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg at an absolute workload of ~11 W for young adults and untrained and trained older adults. * P < 0.05 vs. untrained older adults



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 6: HABITUAL EXERCISE TRAINING IN OLDER ADULTS OFFSETS THE AGE-RELATED PROLONGATION OF VASODILATION WITHIN THE LEG DURING SINGLE LIMB LOWER BODY EXERCISE

A version of this chapter is currently under review within the Journal of Applied Physiology Introduction

Aging is associated with attenuated exercise hyperemic and vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise, as well as during steady-state exercise (80, 110, 120). Both short-term exercise training interventions and habitual exercise training appears to offset these age-related attenuations (15, 118, 204). These impairments in vasodilation with advancing age may act to compromise skeletal muscle blood flow (BF) and potentially reduce oxygen (O₂) delivery to contracting tissue, thereby facilitating premature exercise intolerance (16-18). Importantly, it is believed that sedentary behavior, and by extension, the impaired ability to match skeletal muscle BF to metabolic demand of contracting tissue with age increases cardiovascular disease risk (28, 29). The hyperemic and vasodilator responses at exercise onset and during steady-state have been studied independently (39, 80, 110, 120, 229), however, there is a paucity of evidence regarding how these two events are related. In this context, the mechanisms that initiate the hyperemic and vasodilator response at the onset of exercise may be distinct from those that sustain exercise hyperemia and vasodilation during steady-state exercise.

The onset of exercise illustrates an ongoing challenge to the cardiovascular system in order to meet the metabolic demands within the contracting skeletal muscle. In the transition from rest to exercise BF and vasodilation increase immediately in a biphasic manner, composed of an immediate rapid increase, followed by a slower sustained increase until reaching a plateau (e.g. steady-state) (162, 268, 269). This exercise transient (onset to steady-state) is graded with



exercise intensity and reflects the delicate ratio of oxygen O₂ delivery to O₂ demand within contracting skeletal muscle (16, 17). Examining the rate of adjustment (e.g. kinetic response) of BF and vasodilation provides insight into how regulatory responses at the onset of exercise influence steady-state responses. Along these lines, contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation (ROV) responses demonstrate that there are key regulatory responses at the initiation of exercise without the influence of subsequent skeletal muscle contractions (268). Data from our laboratory demonstrate that contraction-induced ROV is impaired in leg of older adults relative to young adults, an effect which is offset by habitual aerobic exercise training in older adults (118, 120). Given that BF and vasodilator responses both at the onset of exercise (e.g. following a single skeletal muscle contraction) (120) as well as during steady-state exercise are attenuated in older adults (80, 110, 233), it remains unclear whether advancing age also impairs the kinetic response preceding steady-state exercise.

Data from animal models suggest that the time course (i.e. vasodilatory kinetics) of endothelium-dependent vasodilation is impaired in isolated arterioles of older rats (14, 16). Extending upon these findings in animals, Park et al. (215) demonstrated that the time course of responses to intraluminal flow and endothelium-dependent vasodilation (response to acetylcholine)in isolated human skeletal muscle feed arteries of older adults is slowed (greater tau) compared to young adults. Furthermore, Casey, et. al. (41) demonstrated that during rhythmic forearm hand-grip exercise, older untrained adults demonstrate slower forearm vasodilator kinetics (greater tau) at both relative and absolute workloads, mediated in part by nitric oxide (NO). However, no information to date has examined vasodilator kinetics in the legs of older adults. Given that the upper and lower extremities may express different hyperemic and vasodilator responses to exercise (239, 296), the purpose of this study was to examine 1) whether



advancing age prolongs leg vasodilator kinetics preceding steady-state exercise; 2) whether older adults who are self-reported as habitually aerobic exercise trained demonstrate the same agerelated impairments to vasodilator kinetics within the leg; and 3) whether vasodilator kinetics are associated with contraction-induced ROV within the leg. We hypothesized that compared to young adults, advancing age would prolong vasodilator kinetics within the leg, and this effect would be offset by habitual exercise training in older adults. Additionally, we hypothesized that contraction-induced ROV would be inversely associated with the vasodilator kinetic profile in that greater ROV responses would be associated with accelerated vasodilator kinetics.

Methods

A total of 37 subjects were recruited (young adults, older untrained and older trained adults). All subjects completed a general health history screening and written informed consent, and were generally healthy, free of any diagnosed cardiovascular or metabolic complications, non-obese (body mass index: \leq 30 kg·m²), nonsmokers, and not taking any vasoactive medications. Peak aerobic capacity/training status was quantified in all subjects using a maximal graded exercise test. Studies were conducted after an overnight fast, with subjects refraining from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory for vascular testing. Young female subjects were studied during the early follicular phase of their menstrual cycle, or the placebo phase of oral contraceptives to control for the potential influence of sex hormones on primary outcome variables (159). All older female subjects were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa

Experimental Protocol



All subjects completed three separate study days separated by at least 48 hours. Study Day 1 consisted of work-rate maximum testing (WR_{max}) and familiarization with study protocol. Study Day 2 consisted of an incremental treadmill test until exhaustion with gas analysis. Study Day 3 was the experimental testing session and consisted of a resting brachial blood pressure (BP) taken with the subjects in a supine position following 20 minutes of quiet rest. Subjects were then placed in a semi-recumbent position on the custom-made leg-ergometer and equipped with electrocardiogram electrodes and a blood pressure finger cuff. Participants then completed dynamic single contractions, followed by three minutes of rhythmic knee-extension exercise at two randomized contraction intensities (20% and 40% WR_{max}) with simultaneous measurement of femoral artery diameter and mean blood velocity for calculation of BF and vascular conductance (VC). Single contractions always preceded rhythmic exercise, and all exercise intensities were randomized prior to Study Day 3. Single contractions were performed in duplicate to calculate the average response for each subject for a given condition.

Pre-Study Day Measurements

Determination of Work Rate Maximum

WR_{max} was determined from a single leg knee-extensor incremental maximal exercise test completed during a familiarization session prior to the experimental testing day (Study Day 3) as previously described (117, 118). Briefly, subjects were seated in a semi-recumbent position on a modified adjustable bucket seat that accommodates variable body and leg lengths, allowing each subject's lower leg to move through a 90-180 degree range of motion during the kneeextension exercise. Resistance was developed by a custom-made computer controlled leg ergometer. Resistance (torque) was developed by an AC motor turning at a constant RPM that is transferred to the leg shaft, against which subjects contracted. The computer monitored the



elapsed time and the angle of the leg controlling the actual torque presented to the leg during contraction. In this way, the subjects were required to develop enough power to extend the leg through a full range of motion. WR_{max} testing started with an initial workload of 5W that incrementally increases every minute by 3W and 5W in female and male subjects, respectively. Subjects kicked dynamically through a full range of motion at a cadence of 40 contractions per minute. The single leg knee extensor incremental maximal was terminated when the subjects could not maintain a full range of motion or a cadence of 40 contractions per minute. The final workload completed was recorded as maximal kicking load from which relative workloads were calculated.

Measurement of Peak Aerobic Capacity

Peak exercise O_2 consumption (VO_{2peak} ; ml·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) was determined in all subjects using respiratory gas exchange analysis (Parvo Medics TrueOne 2400, Sandy, UT, USA) during incremental treadmill exercise using a Bruce protocol performed to exhaustion, as previously described (88).

Study Day Measurements

Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure

Heart rate (HR) was recorded via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram, and systemic BP were assessed (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin; Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) on the non-exercising hand. Resting brachial artery pressure was measured in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA) prior to beginning exercise trials while the subjects were in a supine position following 20 minutes of rest.



Single Muscle Contractions

Subjects performed dynamic single leg knee-extension contractions as previously described (117, 118, 120). Briefly, contractions were performed at both 20% and 40% WR_{max} which were randomized within each subject. Subjects were instructed to contract and relax on a verbal command from laboratory personnel. Each contraction was visually observed by the laboratory personnel to ensure proper timing of contraction. Two minutes of relaxation was given between each contraction to allow continuous measures of limb hemodynamics post-contraction and allow for limb hemodynamics to return to baseline. It should be noted that some of the single contraction data has been previously reported elsewhere (118, 120) and was included for comparative purposes to address our specific hypotheses.

Steady-State Exercise

Rhythmic single leg knee-extensions were performed at 20% and 40% WR_{max} for three minutes. Subjects contracted to the sound of a metronome (40 contractions per minute) to ensure correct timing. The order of exercise intensity within each subject was randomized prior to each BF study day.

Measurement of Blood Flow

Common femoral (~2-3 cm proximal to bifurcation) artery diameter and blood velocity was determined with a 12-MHz linear-array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI) with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60°. Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Artery diameter measurements were obtained at end diastole at rest (before contraction) and immediately upon cessation of



rhythmic contractions. Leg BF was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity $(cm \cdot s^{-1})$ and artery cross-sectional area (cm^2) and expressed as milliliters per minute $(ml \cdot min^{-1})$.

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data was collected at 250 Hz and analyzed offline with signal processing software (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments). Beat-to-beat mean arterial pressure (MAP) was derived from the Nexfin pressure waveform and was recorded simultaneously with beat-to-beat blood velocity measurements. Heart rate was determined from the electrocardiogram. Baseline BF and MAP values represents an average of the last 30 seconds of the resting time period prior to each muscle contraction (single and rhythmic). VC was calculated as the quotient of BF and MAP (expressed as ml·min⁻¹·mmHg⁻¹). Rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses were expressed as the change in (Δ) BF and VC from baseline, respectively. Of particular interest are the peak and total vasodilator responses post-contraction. Total BF (ml) and VC (ml·mmHg⁻¹) are defined as the area under the curve over 30 post-contraction cardiac cycles after respective baseline values are subtracted for a given flow or conductance curve.

BF and VC kinetic responses were modeled using a systems control analysis where responses were interpolated according to the duty cycle (40 contractions per minute) yielding 120 data points for the entire 3 minute exercise bout. The on-transient kinetics of exercise hyperemia and vasodilation during exercise was analyzed using a non-linear least-square curvefitting procedure containing one, or two component exponential model (analogous to phases of blood flow) based on individual responses and defined as (107, 267, 269):

Equation 2: Exponential Model for Blood Flow and Vasodilator Kinetics

$$VC \text{ or } BF = BF/VC_{baseline} + Amp \left[1 - e^{\frac{t - TD_1}{\tau_1}}\right] \cdot Y_n + Amp_n \left[1 - e^{\frac{t - TD_n}{\tau_n}}\right]$$



Where *BF/VC* is the dependent variable at any time point, and *BF/VC*_{baseline} is the resting value prior to the onset of muscle contractions. *Amp* represents the amplitude of the dependent variable response (BF, VC), *TD* represents the time delay of response, and τ represent the number of duty cycles required to achieve 63% of the phase amplitude for the dependent variable, defined as:

Equation 3: Mean Response Time for Comparison between Multiple Components

$$MRT = \frac{Amp_1}{Amp_1 + Amp_n} (\tau_1 + TD_1) + \frac{Amp_n}{Amp_1 + Amp_n} (\tau_n + TD_n)$$

Where MRT represent the time to reach 63% of total steady-state amplitude, and *n* represents the number of model components (e.g. 1 phase vs. 2 phase model). Time to reach 63% of steady-state amplitude provides insight into how quickly blood flow and vasodilator responses respond to constant-load dynamic exercise. Individual responses were inspected and fit with the appropriate component model. MRT allows for comparisons for subjects that express different component models (e.g. 1 component vs. 2 compartments) (107, 267, 269). Goodness of fit for each model was rationalized inspecting individual and group residual data plots.

All values are expressed as mean \pm SE. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze demographic variables between groups. To determine whether vasodilator kinetics are prolonged with age in the leg, and examine the effect of habitual aerobic exercise training in older adults, independent, one-way ANOVAs were used to compare groups across exercise intensities. When significance was detected, Tukey's *post hoc* analysis was used to identify differences between groups. Pearson product moment correlation coefficients were used to assess the relationship between contraction-induced ROV and vasodilator kinetics preceding steady-state exercise. All statistical analyses and non-linear curve fitting were completed using



SigmaPlot software version 11.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Statistical difference was set a priori at P < 0.05.

Results

Subject characteristics are shown in Table 11. Older untrained adults demonstrated lower WR_{max} and VO_{2peak} relative to young and older trained adults (P < 0.05), while there were no differences between older trained and young adults (P = 0.22-0.81). Young adults were taller than older untrained and older trained adults (P < 0.05) with no differences between older untrained and older trained adults (P < 0.05) with no differences between older untrained and older trained adults (P < 0.05) with no differences between older untrained and older trained adults (P = 0.86). Young, older untrained, and older trained adults were of similar, weight and body mass index (P = 0.35-0.99) and resting brachial blood pressures were similar between groups (P = 0.26-0.36).

Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses to Single Skeletal Muscle Contractions

The rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses to single muscle contractions in the leg have been reported previously by our group (118, 120). Additional subjects were collected and added to existing data to investigate the relationship between ROV and kinetic responses, and did not alter the previously reported group differences in ROV. In brief, older untrained adults exhibited attenuated peak VC responses to single leg knee-extension contractions at 20% and 40% WR_{max} relative to both young and older trained adults (P < 0.05). There were no differences in ROV between young and older trained adults (P = 0.41-0.99).

Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Leg Contractions

Baseline (resting) and exercise hemodynamics prior to each exercise bout are shown in Table 2. Systemic MAP assessed via finger plethysmography was higher in trained older adults prior to contractions at 20% WR_{max}, while BF and VC were not different between groups prior to



either 20% (P = 0.19-0.30) or 40% WR_{max} rhythmic contractions (P = 0.06-0.08). Resting HR was lower in older trained adults relative to young adults only (P < 0.05).

In response to rhythmic knee-extension exercise BF and VC significantly increased in all groups across intensities (P < 0.05). At 40% WR_{max} there were age/training differences observed for steady-state VC (one-way ANOVA P < 0.05) with older untrained adults exhibiting attenuated responses relative to both young and older trained adults (P < 0.05 for both). Steady-state BF responses was lower in older untrained relative to older trained only (P < 0.05), while there were no differences between older trained and young (P = 0.06) or older untrained and young (P = 0.18).

Figure 19 illustrates the overall mean fit kinetic responses for leg BF and VC in all groups at 20% and 40% WR_{max}, while Figure 20 illustrates MRT values across age groups and exercise intensities for BF (A) and VC (B). At 20% WR_{max}, there were no differences in the MRT between young, older untrained and older trained adults for BF or VC (P = 0.84 and 0.98 respectively). Conversely, at 40% WR_{max} older untrained adults demonstrated a prolonged MRT for VC relative to both young adults and older trained adults (P < 0.05). There were no differences between groups for BF MRT at 40% WR_{max} (P = 0.43).

Relationship between ROV and Vasodilator Kinetics

There were no associations between peak ROV responses and VC MRT at 20% WR_{max} (r = -0.08; P = 0.67) or 40% WR_{max} (r = - 0.22; P = 0.20) in the group as a whole (young, older untrained, older trained adults). Additionally when examined as individual groups there were no significant associations for peak ROV and MRT at 20% WR_{max} (r = -0.21-0.48; P = 0.17-0.52) or 40% WR_{max} (r = -0.21 – 0.23; P = 0.52-0.90). Total VC was not associated with VC MRT in the



group as a whole (r = -0.18 - 0.02; P = 0.31 - 0.90) or when examined within each group (r = -0.20 - 0.62; P = 0.06 - 0.89) at 20% or 40% WR_{max}.

Discussion

This is the first study to examine the influence of advancing age and habitual aerobic exercise training on the hyperemic and vasodilator responses across an entire exercise transient (onset, kinetics, and steady-state) with specific focus on the vasodilator kinetic response in a group of young, older untrained and older trained adults. The novel findings of this study demonstrate that: 1) in addition to reductions in vasodilation at the onset and during steady-state exercise, advancing age prolongs the kinetics of vasodilation within the leg preceding steady state exercise at higher workloads; 2) habitual aerobic exercise training in older adults offsets this age-related impairment in leg vasodilator kinetics at higher workloads; and 3) peak contraction-induced ROV is not associated with vasodilator kinetics in a group of young, older untrained and older trained adults. Taken together, these findings suggest that chronic/habitual aerobic exercise transient (onset to steady-state). Furthermore, it does not appear as though peak vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction within the leg are associated with accelerated vasodilator kinetics.

Aging and Vasodilator Kinetics

Previous work from both animal and human models demonstrate that aging impairs hyperemic and vasodilator responses both at the onset of exercise (14, 40, 41, 43, 120, 123), as well as during steady-state exercise (15, 110). However, these findings fail to demonstrate whether the rate of adaptation during exercise is altered with age. Evidence from NIRS-derived skeletal muscle deoxygenation suggests that older adults demonstrate prolonged responses relative to young adults during cycling exercise (66, 188). Extending upon this concept, Casey et.



al. (41) demonstrated that within the exercising forearm, older adults exhibit prolonged vasodilator kinetics (greater tau) at relative and absolute exercise intensities compared to young adults. These age-associated impairments in vasodilator kinetics were attributed in part, to NO bioavailability and/or signaling as evidenced by slowing of tau in young, but not older adults during inhibition of NO synthase. Similarly, Park et. al. (215) showed that in isolated human skeletal muscle feed arteries, older adults exhibited prolonged vasodilator responses to simulated flow, as well as in response to acetylcholine, suggesting that the age-related decline in endothelial function mediates some of the slowing of vasodilation in response to exercise. When taken in context with available animal data (16) this suggests that aging results in a mismatch between O_2 delivery and consumption within exercising aged skeletal muscle, an effect that is related to endothelium-dependent vasodilator function. Within the current study, older untrained adults exhibited prolonged vasodilator kinetics during the highest exercise intensity (40% WR_{max}) relative to young adults and older trained adults (Figure 20). Additionally, when a subset (n=30) was matched for an absolute workload ranging from 8-12W (9W, ~26%-36% WR_{max}), older untrained adults still demonstrated a prolonged VC MRT compared to young and habitually aerobic exercise older trained adults (P < 0.05). These results suggest that advancing age affects the dynamics of vasodilation across the entire exercise transient (onset to steadystate) in response to both relative vs. absolute exercise intensities.

Exercise Training and Vasodilator Kinetics

Habitual exercise training programs or short-term exercise interventions have been shown to exert beneficial vascular benefits in response to both single contractions, as well as rhythmic exercise in older adults (15, 118). Within the present study, habitually aerobic exercise trained older adults exhibited greater contraction-induced ROV responses (118), accelerated vasodilator



kinetics, as well as greater steady-state BF and VC responses relative to older untrained adults at the highest exercise intensity (40% WR_{max}) but no different than young adults (Table 12 and Figure 20). Importantly, chronic exercise trained older adults also exhibited accelerated vasodilator kinetics at the highest exercise intensity (40% WR_{max}) relative to untrained older adults, but no different than young adults (Figure 20). This is in agreement with our hypothesis that habitually aerobic exercise older trained adults would demonstrate accelerated vasodilator kinetics relative to older untrained adults. Previous data from Shoemaker et. al. (269) demonstrated that in previously untrained young healthy males, 10 days of endurance exercise training (cycle ergometry at 65% VO_{2peak}) accelerated femoral artery mean blood velocity and VC kinetics, however no training-induced differences were observed at rest or once steady-state was achieved. Additionally, older adults who undergo short term exercise training interventions (cycling or single leg extension exercise) have exhibited either no change in mean blood velocity (19) or NIRS-derived deoxygenated hemoglobin concentration ([HHB]), yet demonstrated an improved ratio of the change (Δ) in deoxygenated hemoglobin to change in pulmonary oxygen uptake (an estimate for matching of microvascular BF to muscle oxygen utilization) (188). Mechanistically, this improvement in vasodilator kinetics may be attributed to changes in improved O₂ utilization in skeletal muscle (19), as well as improvements in vascular function such as enhanced endothelium-dependent vasodilation (18, 165). Given these results from both human and animal data, it appears that habitual aerobic exercise training in older adults preserves vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise, as well as during steady-state conditions. The novel findings of the present study illustrate that the age-related slowing of leg vasodilator kinetics is offset with habitual aerobic exercise training.

Relationship between Vasodilator Kinetics and Contraction-Induced ROV



Historically, hemodynamic responses to rhythmic exercise have typically been reported after steady-state exercise has been achieved, as this demarcates matching between O₂ demand and O₂ utilization (130). While these studies give insight into steady-state hyperemia and vasodilation during rhythmic exercise, they overlook the kinetic response, or rate of adaptation, during the transition to steady-state exercise at a constant workload. In this context, humans rarely operate at constant steady-state but rather undergo transitions between exercise intensities (e.g. rest to exercise and/or stepwise transition from a lower intensity to a high intensity). Examining the kinetic response to constant-load exercise provides some insight into the capacity of the vasculature to respond or adapt to a metabolic pertubation. In doing so, the gap between the local regulation of BF and vasodilation at the onset of exercise and steady-state is diminished. Within the current study, no relationship was observed between peak contractioninduced ROV and VC MRT in the group as a whole (young, older untrained, older trained), or when examined as individual groups at either exercise intensity.

Experimental Considerations

There are a few experimental considerations that warrant discussion. First, the current data only provide a cross-sectional representation on the effects of habitual exercise training with advancing age, and we did not make comparisons to an exercise-trained young adult population. Previous evidence from our lab, as well as others has shown that exercise training elicits beneficial vascular effects both at the onset of exercise (118) as well as during rhythmic exercise (15). Second, there are a number of methods that have been utilized to model BF and vasodilator kinetics in response to simulated flow and rhythmic exercise. As such, the extent and application of these respective findings can only be taken in the context of which they were examined. In the current study, BF and vasodilator responses were examined in the common femoral artery while



the subject kicked at a cadence of 40 times per minute. Previous investigations into the BF and vasodilator kinetic responses to exercise have used a variety of cadences (20-60 kicks per minute), examined responses bi-laterally (162, 267), or have utilized near-infrared spectroscopy to interrogate microvascular oxygen/de-oxygenated dynamics (32, 144, 146). In this regard, the present study provides data on the kinetics of vasodilation in a large conduit artery that feeds into a larger skeletal muscle (quadriceps). There is evidence to suggest that vasodilator kinetics within capillaries differs from that of conduit arteries (107). Furthermore, Koga, et. al. demonstrated that during upright cycling, skeletal muscle deoxygenation and microvascular hemodynamics differ between specific muscles within the quadriceps (144). It is important to note, the purpose of this study was not to examine microvascular oxygen dynamics, but rather interrogate how advancing age alters bulk BF to contracting skeletal muscle across an exercise transient.

Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to quantify and characterize the relationship between the dynamics of blood flow and vasodilation across the entire exercise transient (onset, kinetics, and steady-state) in the same subjects, and whether aging and habitual aerobic exercise training alters these responses. Our current data, along with previous data (41) collectively suggest that the vasodilator kinetics (i.e. VC MRT) are attenuated in older untrained adults relative to young adults. Furthermore, this age-related prolongation in vasodilator kinetics is offset by chronic aerobic exercise training in older adults. Finally, no relationship between peak contraction-induced vasodilation and vasodilator kinetics was observed. Taken together, these results demonstrate the age-related reductions in the hyperemic and vasodilator responses to exercise are offset with chronic exercise training.





Figure 18: Expected experimental timeline. WR_{max} , work rate maximum; VO_{2peak} , peak oxygen consumption. Diagonal hash marks indicate a period of 20 minutes of quiet rest



www.manaraa.com

Variable	Young	Older	Older Trained
variable	(n=10)	(n=13)	(n=14)
Age (yr)	$24 \pm 1^{*}$ †	66 ± 1	63 ± 2
Men/Women	7/3	8/5	8/6
Height (cm)	179 ± 3	171 ± 2	171 ± 2
Weight (kg)	79 ± 4	72 ± 3	72 ± 3
Body Mass Index (kg \cdot m ²)	24.8 ± 0.7	24.6 ± 0.9	24.5 ± 0.8
VO ₂ peak (ml·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	$49.7 \pm 3.1*$	32.4 ± 1.9	$40.4 \pm 2.5*$
WR _{max} (Watts)	$39 \pm 4*$	28 ± 2	$39 \pm 3*$
Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	117 ± 2	123 ± 3	123 ± 4
Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)	71 ± 1	74 ± 2	76 ± 2
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	87 ± 1	90 ± 2	92 ± 2

 Table 11: Subject Characteristics for Aim 5

Values are means \pm SE. WR_{max}, Work-rate Maximum. * P < 0.05 vs. untrained older adults; † vs. trained older adults


		Young		Older Untrained			Older Trained	
		20%	40%	20%	40%		20%	40%
		WR _{max}	WR _{max}	 WR _{max}	WR _{max}	_	WR _{max}	WR _{max}
HR	Baseline	66±3	66±3	 62±2	63±2		59±2	59±2
$(\mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{min}^{-1})$	Exercise (Δ from BL)	26±3	32±2	24±2	29±2		21±2	29±3
MAP	Baseline	98±3	99±3	105±3	106±5		111±3*	110±3
(mmHg)	Exercise (Δ from BL)	19±3	25±3	34±4*	37±4*		30±3	40±3*
BF	Baseline	222±26	236±29	173±30	165±19		239±23	213±20
$(ml \cdot min^{-1})$	Exercise (Δ from BL)	1101 ± 135	1254±147	910±109	946±79†		1310±147	1650 ± 172
VC	Baseline	2.3±0.2	2.4±0.3	1.7 ± 0.3	1.6 ± 0.2		2.2±0.2	2.0 ± 0.2
(ml·min ⁻ ¹·mmHg ⁻¹)	Exercise (Δ from BL)	9.1±1.3	10.4±1.3	6.2±0.8	6.3±0.7*†		9.4±1.4	10.9±1.4

Table 12: Systemic and Leg Hemodynamics at Rest and during Exercise

Values are mean±SE. BL, baseline; WR_{max}, work-rate maximum; BF, leg blood flow; VC, leg vascular conductance; HR, heart rate. * P < 0.05 vs. Young; † P < 0.05 vs. older trained





Figure 19: Group mean fit for the on-transient blood flow and vasodilator kinetics at 20% and 40% WR_{max}





Figure 20: Mean response time for blood flow (A) and vasodilator (B) kinetics in young, older untrained and older trained adults during dynamic knee-extension exercise at 20% and 40% WR_{max}. * P < 0.05 vs. young adults, † vs. older trained adults

CHAPTER 7: IMPACT OF ENHANCING NITRIC OXIDE BIOAVAILABILITY ON LEG BLOOD FLOW AND VASODILATOR KINETICS WITH AGE

Introduction

Nitric oxide (NO) plays a key role in modulating the hyperemic and vasodilator responses to exercise (112, 210, 253). NO-mediated vasodilation within the skeletal muscle vasculature declines with age (283), and it is unclear whether this is due to reductions in bioavailable NO or alterations in NO signaling (187, 210, 283). Previous evidence within the forearm demonstrate that local inhibition of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) reduces the hyperemic and vasodilator responses both at the onset of skeletal muscle contractions, as well as the transition period(kinetics) preceding steady-state exercise (41, 43, 135, 160). Importantly, previous evidence indicates this NO-mediated reduction in O₂ delivery is apparent during the initial phase of exercise (~180 seconds), but compensated with a marked elevation in O₂ extraction (via higher arterio-venous O₂ difference) (48). Taken together, these results highlight the role of NO within the transition from rest to dynamic exercise, however, the impact of agerelated reductions NO bioavailability on exercise hyperemia and vasodilation across exercise transient remains inadequately understood.

Over the past decade, inorganic, or dietary nitrate has been increasingly recognized as a novel mechanism to enhance NO bioavailability by augmenting the nitrate–nitrite–NO pathway independent of endogenously produced NO (50, 126, 161). Subsequently, this increase in NO bioavailability offers new avenues for the improvement of a variety of age-related health outcomes (i.e. blood pressure and exercise capacity) (65, 126, 156, 161). In particular, evidence from animal models demonstrate that dietary nitrate increases the O₂ driving pressure at the capillary-myocyte interface during rest to exercise transitions, a critical period of time for



matching of O_2 delivery to O_2 demand (85). However, the available data on enhancing NO bioavailability and blood flow in humans is conflicting (138, 238), and the role of NO in modulating blood flow and vasodilator responses across an entire exercise transient (onset to steady-state) remains unclear. Early efforts involved interventions to reduce oxidative stress, thereby theoretically enhancing NO bioavailability; however the effects of these approaches may not be solely due to enhancement of NO bioavailability. For example, infusion of the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine abolishes age-related differences in vascular conductance at rest, but does not augment exercise hyperemia in older sedentary subjects within the leg, (204). Additionally, Kirby et. al. (141) demonstrated that infusion of ascorbic acid does not augment contractioninduced rapid onset vasodilation, but does enhance steady-state blood flow in the forearm of older adults, such that there were no differences relative to young adults. In an effort to potentiate NO signaling, Limberg et. al. (160) demonstrated that in the forearm of young healthy adults, phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibition had no effect on blood flow and vasodilation in response to handgrip exercise. Conversely, Nyberg et. al. (210) showed that PDE-5 inhibition augmented O₂ delivery in the leg of older, but not young adults indicating that some of the agerelated reductions in leg blood flow during exercise are due to altered NO signaling. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine whether potentiating NO bioavailability independent of enzymatic synthesis of NO via acute dietary nitrate supplementation in older adults improves blood flow and vasodilation in the leg across the exercise transient (i.e. onset, kinetics, and steady-state).

Methods

A total of 10 sedentary older subjects participated in a randomized, double-blind crossover study. All subjects completed a general health history screening and written informed



consent, and in general were healthy, free of any diagnosed cardiovascular or metabolic complications, nonobese (body mass index: $\leq 30 \text{ kg} \cdot \text{m}^2$), and nonsmokers. Studies were conducted in the morning after an overnight fast, with subjects refraining from exercise, alcohol, and caffeine for 24 hours before reporting to the laboratory. Older female subjects were postmenopausal (> 1 year after last menstrual cycle) and not taking any form of hormone replacement therapy. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Iowa. This study is a registered clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier NCT03459027).

Experimental Protocol

All subjects completed 3 study days (Figure 21). Study Day 1 consisted of work-rate maximum testing (WR_{max}), familiarization with study protocol, and two clinical functional measurements (timed up and go, 30-second sit to stand). Study Day 2 and Study Day 3 were the experimental testing sessions (nitrate or placebo), and consisted of subjects placed in a resting supine position for 20 minutes, followed by resting measurements of brachial blood pressure. A venous catheter for venous blood samples was placed in the antecubital vein under aseptic conditions. Participants were then placed in a semi-recumbent position on a custom made legergometer and completed single and rhythmic leg extension exercise with their right leg at two different contraction intensities (20% and 40% WR_{max}). Measurements of femoral artery diameter and mean blood velocity were recorded for calculation of blood flow and vascular conductance At least 5 days were allotted between Study Day 2 and Study Day 3, which served as a "washout" period. All exercise intensities and supplementation order were randomized prior to the experimental protocol.

Pre-Study Day Measurements:



Determination of Work Rate Maximum

WR_{max} was determined from a single leg knee-extensor incremental maximal exercise test completed during a familiarization session prior to the experimental testing day (Study Day 3) as previously described (120). Briefly, subjects were seated in a semi-recumbent position on a modified adjustable bucket seat that accommodates variable body and leg lengths, allowing each subject's lower leg to move through a 90-180 degree range of motion during single leg kneeextension exercise. Resistance was developed by a custom-made computer controlled leg ergometer. Resistance (torque) was developed by an AC motor turning at a constant RPM that is transferred to the leg shaft against which subjects contracted. The computer monitored the elapsed time and the angle of the leg controlling the actual torque presented to the leg during contraction. In this way, the subjects were required to develop enough power to extend the leg through a full range of motion. WR_{max} testing started with an initial workload of 5W that incrementally increases every minute by 3W and 5W in female and male subjects, respectively. Subjects kicked dynamically through a full range of motion at a cadence of 40 kicks per minute. The single leg knee extensor incremental maximal was terminated when the subjects could not maintain a full range of motion or a cadence of 40 contractions per minute. The final workload completed was recorded as WR_{max} from which relative workloads were calculated.

Additionally, two standardized clinical functional measurements were performed by subjects: 1) a timed "up and go" test, designed to examine mobility (222), and 2) a 30 second sitto-stand test as a measure of lower body strength (128). These clinical function tests were used to characterize the physical health of older adults.

Study Day Measurements

Heart Rate and Systemic Blood Pressure



Heart rate (HR) was recorded via continuous three-lead electrocardiogram, and systemic BP was assessed (beat-to-beat) via finger plethysmography (Nexfin; Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) on the non-exercising hand. Resting brachial artery pressure was measured in duplicate using an automated cuff (Cardiocap/5, Datex-Ohmeda, Louisville, CO, USA) prior to beginning exercise trials while the subjects were in a supine position following 20 minutes of rest.

Venous Blood Sampling

Venous blood samples were collected from the antecubital vein for determination of NO metabolites, [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻]. Blood was collected in tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and immediately centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 minutes. Plasma samples were then aliquoted into Eppendorf tubes at frozen at -80C for future analysis. Measurements of plasma [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻] were performed within 30 minutes of thawing using a Sievers chemiluminescence NO analyzer (NOA 280i; Sievers Instruments, Boulder, CO). Plasma samples were de-proteinated using an ice cold ethanol precipitation. Briefly, plasma was added in a 1:2 ratio to ice-cold (0°C) ethanol and placed on ice for 30 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was used for determination of [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻] (13, 58). Plasma [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻] were determined by their addition to vanadium III chloride in hydrochloric acid at 90C and to potassium iodide in acetic acid at room temperature, respectively.

Single Muscle Contractions

Subjects performed dynamic single leg knee-extensions as previously described (120). Briefly, contractions were performed at both 20% and 40% WR_{max} which were randomized



within each subject. Subjects were instructed to contract and relax on a verbal command from laboratory personnel. Each contraction was visually observed by the laboratory personnel to ensure proper timing of contraction. Two minutes of relaxation was given between each contraction to allow continuous measures of limb hemodynamics post-contraction and allow for limb hemodynamics to return to baseline.

Steady-State Exercise

Rhythmic single leg knee-extensions were performed at 20% and 40% WR_{max} (randomized) for three minutes. Subjects contracted to the sound of a metronome (40 contractions per minute). Contraction and relaxation cycles were visualized by lab personnel to ensure correct timing.

Measurement of Blood Flow

Common femoral (~2-3 cm proximal to bifurcation) artery diameter and blood velocity was determined with a 12-MHz linear-array Doppler probe (model M12L; Vivid 7, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI) with a probe insonation angle previously calibrated to 60° . Measured velocity waveforms were synchronized to a data acquisition system (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments, Akron, OH) via a Doppler audio transformer (113). Artery diameter measurements were obtained at end diastole at rest (before contraction) and immediately upon cessation of rhythmic contractions. Leg blood flow was calculated as the product of mean blood velocity (cm·s⁻¹) and artery cross-sectional area (cm²) and expressed as milliliters per minute (ml·min⁻¹).

Nitrate Supplementation

Subjects consumed a beverage containing either active beetroot powder (Humanⁿ; 250 mg NO_3^- and 20 mg NO_2^-) or placebo (non-active beetroot powder with same color, taste and



consistency). Blood plasma sampling and exercise trials were repeated 120 minutes following consumption of either beverage. Analysis of plasma $[NO_3^-]$, $[NO_2^-]$ are similar to previous work from our lab (25) and others utilizing dietary nitrate supplementation (50, 126), and demonstrate that plasma $[NO_2^-]$ is elevated above baseline at 120 minutes following acute consumption (119).

Data Analysis and Statistics

Data was collected at 250 Hz and analyzed offline with signal processing software (WinDaq; DATAQ Instruments). Beat-to-beat mean arterial pressure (MAP) was derived from the Nexfin pressure waveform and was recorded simultaneously with beat-to-beat blood velocity measurements. Heart rate was determined from the electrocardiogram. Baseline BF and MAP represented an average of the last 30 seconds of the resting time period prior to each muscle contraction (single and rhythmic) and are used to quantify the hyperemic response. Vascular conductance (VC) was calculated as the quotient of BF and MAP (and expressed as ml·min⁻¹·mmHg⁻¹). Rapid hyperemic and vasodilator responses were expressed as the change in (Δ) BF and VC from baseline, respectively. Of particular interest are the peak and total vasodilator responses post-contraction. Total BF (ml) and VC (ml·mmHg⁻¹) were defined as the area under the curve over 30 post contraction cardiac cycles after respective baseline values are subtracted for a given flow or conductance curve.

Kinetic Analysis

BF and VC kinetic responses were modeled using a systems control analysis where responses were interpolated according to the duty cycle (40 contractions per minute) yielding 120 data points for the entire 3 minute exercise bout. The on-transient kinetics of exercise hyperemia and vasodilation during exercise was analyzed using a non-linear least-square curve-



fitting procedure containing one, or two component exponential model (analogous to phases of blood flow) based on individual responses and defined as (107, 267, 269):

Equation 4: Exponential Model for Blood Flow and Vasodilator Kinetics

$$BF \text{ or } VC = BF/VC_{baseline} + Amp \left[1 - e^{\frac{t - TD_1}{\tau_1}}\right] \cdot Y_n + Amp_n \left[1 - e^{\frac{t - TD_n}{\tau_n}}\right]$$

Where *BF/VC* is the dependent variable at any time point, and *BF/VC*_{baseline} is the resting value prior to the onset of muscle contractions. *Amp* represents the amplitude of the dependent variable response (BF, VC), *TD* represents the time delay of response, and τ represents the number of duty cycles required to achieve 63% of the steady-state amplitude for the dependent variable, where:

Equation 5: Mean Response Time for Comparison between Multiple Compartments

$$MRT = \frac{Amp_1}{Amp_1 + Amp_n} (\tau_1 + TD_1) + \frac{Amp_n}{Amp_1 + Amp_n} (\tau_n + TD_n)$$

Where MRT represent the time to reach 63% of total steady-state amplitude, and *n* represents the number of model components (e.g. 1 phase vs. 2 phase model). Time to reach 63% of steady-state amplitude provides insight into how quickly blood flow and vasodilator responses respond to constant-load dynamic exercise. Individual responses were inspected and fit with the appropriate component model. MRT allows for comparisons for subjects that express different component models (e.g. 1 component vs. 2 compartments)

All values were expressed as mean \pm SE. The primary question was whether supplementation with dietary nitrate improves exercise hyperemia and vasodilation across an exercise transient above that of a placebo in older adults. In order to address this aim, main comparisons between the active and placebo group over time were made using a two-way ANOVA. Relationships between functional capacity (sit-to-stand and timed up-and-go) and WR_{max} were analyzed via Pearson product-moment correlation. All curve-fitting and statistical



analyses were completed using SigmaPlot software version 11.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA). Statistical difference was set *a priori* at P < 0.05.

Results

Subject characteristics are presented in Table 13. All ten subjects completed the randomized crossover study consuming both the dietary nitrate and placebo beverages. Resting BP measurements during the dietary nitrate and placebo days are listed in Table 14. There were no group x time interactions for measures of BP in response to either dietary nitrate or placebo supplementation. The average count of completed sit-to-stand cycles was 19 ± 1 (over 30 seconds), and subjects completed the timed-up and go over the course of $4.9\pm0.2s$. There were no associations between WR_{max} and clinical measures of functional capacity (timed up-and-go r = -0.30, P = 0.41; sit-to-stand r = 0.23, P = 0.53).

Plasma Measures of [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻]

Acute ingestion of dietary nitrate rich beetroot juice increased plasma [NO₃⁻] 221% (48.3±5.0 μ M to 143.2±7.3 μ M; P < 0.05) and [NO₂⁻] 22% (783.6±24.2 to 950.1±32.8 nM; P < 0.05). In response to placebo supplementation plasma [NO₃⁻] increased 30% (39.7±4.9 μ M to 82.8±4.7 μ M; P < 0.05) while [NO₂⁻] remained unchanged after placebo (792.1±31 to 811.1±34.7 nM, P = 0.45). The increase in plasma [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻] in response to acute dietary nitrate supplementation were greater than that of placebo (P < 0.05).

Contraction-Induced Rapid Onset Vasodilation

Figure 22 illustrates peak (A & B) and total (C & D) VC responses pre- and postnitrate/placebo supplementation at 20% (A & C) and 40% WR_{max} (B & D). Acute supplementation with dietary nitrate or placebo had no effect on peak or total vasodilator responses following a single skeletal muscle contraction in older adults (interaction P = 0.37-



0.81). Similarly, acute dietary nitrate supplementation had no effect on the rapid hyperemic responses (pre vs. post) compared to placebo supplementation at 20% for peak (617 ± 79 to $564\pm100 \text{ ml}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ vs. 655 ± 79 to $636\pm69 \text{ ml}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$; interaction P = 0.74) and total (121 ± 20 to $111\pm25 \text{ ml}$ vs. 127 ± 24 to $108\pm16 \text{ ml}$; interaction P = 0.70), or 40% peak (719 ± 89 to $654\pm108 \text{ ml}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$ vs. 740 ± 69 to $636\pm69 \text{ ml}\cdot\text{min}^{-1}$; interaction P = 0.78) and total (138 ± 21 to $136\pm29 \text{ ml}$ vs. 139 ± 23 to $132\pm20 \text{ ml}$; interaction P = 0.81).

Vasodilator Kinetics

Figure 23 depicts the mean kinetic responses in the dietary nitrate and placebo groups at 20% (A) and 40% WR_{max} (B), while Figure 24 illustrates the group means for VC MRT pre- and post- supplementation at 20% (A) and 40% WR_{max} (B). There were no differences in MRT between dietary nitrate and placebo groups pre vs. post supplementation for MRT in BF (interaction P = 0.46 and 0.93 for 20% and 40% WR_{max}, respectively) or VC (interaction P = 0.89 and 0.59 for 20% and 40% WR_{max}, respectively). A main effect of time was observed for BF and VC at 40% WR_{max} (P < 0.05).

Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Leg Contractions

Systemic and leg hemodynamics for all subjects in response to dietary nitrate and placebo conditions at rest and during steady-state exercise are presented in Table 15. There was no effect of dietary nitrate or placebo on hyperemic or vasodilator steady-state responses during rhythmic exercise at 20% (interaction P = 0.68 and 0.57, respectively) or 40% WR_{max} (interaction P = 0.48 and 0.70, respectively). Heart rate responses (Δ from BL) during steady-state exercise were not different pre vs. post supplementation in either the dietary nitrate or placebo group (interaction P = 0.93 and 0.23 for 20% and 40% WR_{max}, respectively). Similarly, MAP responses were not



different (pre vs. post supplementation) or between groups (dietary nitrate vs. placebo) at 20% (interaction P = 0.21) or 40% WR_{max} (interaction P = 0.87).

Discussion

The key findings from the present study are: despite increases in plasma [NO₃⁻] and [NO₂⁻] via acute dietary nitrate, there were no improvements in 1) rapid hyperemic or vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise (contraction-induced ROV); 2) kinetics of vasodilation preceding steady-state exercise; or 3) steady-state hyperemic and vasodilator responses at two different exercise intensities (20% and 40% WR_{max}). Collectively, these finding suggest that acute dietary nitrate supplementation does not improve hyperemic and vasodilator responses in the leg across an exercise transient in older adults

Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Rapid Hyperemic and Vasodilator Responses

Previous evidence has illustrated a role for NO in age-associated reductions in contraction-induced ROV within the forearm (43). Specifically, acute inhibition of eNOS blunts contraction-induced ROV responses in young, but not older adults, in response to forearm handgrip exercise. These results suggest that endogenously produced NO exerts a vasodilator effect at the onset of exercise and this vasodilator effect is reduced with age (43). Over the past decade, several studies have demonstrated a beneficial effect of acute and chronic nitrate supplementation on various cardiovascular and performance parameters at rest as well as during exercise. Such benefits include reductions in blood pressure (50, 65, 119, 133), increased maximal oxygen uptake, time trial performance, critical power, as well as reaction time in both healthy and diseased populations (9, 10, 50, 136, 137). However, the mechanisms that potentially link nitrate supplementation to exercise performance remain poorly understood. Given that older adults exhibit an attenuated contraction induced ROV compared to their



younger counterparts (120), we hypothesized that enhancing NO bioavailability via dietary nitrate supplementation would enhance contraction-induced BF and vasodilation in older adults within the present study. In contrast to our hypothesis, acute supplementation with dietary nitrate did not enhance contraction-induced ROV (peak or total) within the leg of older adults (Figure 22). While these results do not detract from the role of NO as an important vasodilator within the leg, they do add to the body of evidence for the lack of effect that dietary nitrate has on hyperemic and vasodilator responses to exercise, particularly in normoxic conditions (42, 138).

Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Vasodilator Kinetics

In addition to contributing to age-associated reductions in hyperemia and vasodilation at the onset of exercise, lack of NO has been implicated in mediating the age-associated prolongation of vasodilator kinetics preceding steady-state exercise. Casey et. al. (41) demonstrated that during forearm handgrip exercise older adults exhibit a slower blood flow and vasodilator response preceding steady-state exercise relative to young adults, which was attributed to a decreased NO bioavailability and/or signaling. Park, et. al. (215) as well as Behnke and Delp (16) have demonstrated that the kinetics of vasodilation in response to acetylcholine and simulated flow are slower in isolated arterioles from older humans and rats, suggesting an endothelium-dependent mechanism is responsible for the slower vasodilator responses with age. Taken together, these results suggest that advancing age prolongs the kinetics of vasodilation preceding steady-state exercise in an endothelium-dependent manner.

As demonstrated in Chapter 6, the kinetics of vasodilation are slower in the leg of untrained older adults relative to both young, as well as chronically exercise trained older adults. Given that aging is associated with reduced endothelium-dependent vasodilation we hypothesized that elevating plasma $[NO_3^-]$ and $[NO_2^-]$ via dietary nitrate would mitigate age-



associated prolongation of vasodilator kinetics within the leg of older adults. However, our results do not support this hypothesis in that acute supplementation with dietary nitrate had no effect on the kinetics of vasodilation compared to placebo at two relative exercise intensities (20% and 40% WR_{max}) within the leg of older adults (Figure 23 & 24). Kellawan, et. al. (135) demonstrated within the forearm of young adults that eNOS inhibition prolongs MRT of vasodilation to rhythmic handgrip exercise, while PDE-5 inhibition had no effect on vasodilator kinetics. When combined (eNOS + PDE-5 inhibition), there were no differences from control trials, essentially demonstrating a preserved vasodilator kinetic response in the face of reduced NO bioavailability/signaling. Adjacent to these findings, Christensen et. al. (48) reported that at least in young adults eNOS inhibition reduces O₂ delivery during the initial phase of dynamic leg exercise, however responses normalize as exercise continued (~180 seconds). While the current study failed to demonstrate an effect of dietary nitrate on vasodilator kinetics within the leg of older adults, enhancement of NO signaling via the cGMP pathway may provide alternative insight into the role for NO on exercise hyperemia and vasodilation.

Effects of Acute Dietary Nitrate on Blood Flow and Vasodilator Responses to Rhythmic Contractions

To date, the effect of acutely elevating plasma $[NO_3^-]$ and $[NO_2^-]$ via dietary nitrate on steady-state conduit blood flow and vasodilation in humans is conflicting. Kim, et. al. demonstrated in young healthy men that acute supplementation with dietary nitrate (12.9 mmol) did not influence hyperemic responses during low-intensity forearm handgrip exercise, despite elevations in plasma $[NO_3^-]$ and $[NO_2^-]$ and reductions in aortic pulse-wave velocity (138). Conversely, Richards, et. al. (238) reported that acute supplementation with dietary nitrate increases forearm blood flow via local vasodilation, despite elevations in forearm VO₂. The lack



of effect within the current study may potentially be explained by three factors. First, the dosage used may have been too little. In support of this, within the current study, the concentration of nitrate and nitrite were ~4.03 mmol and ~0.29 mmol respectively. This concept is discussed further in depth within experimental considerations. Second, it has previously been established that the effectiveness of the nitrate-nitrite-NO pathway is enhanced during hypoxia. This is supported by data from both our laboratory (42), as well as others (238). Specifically, data from our lab indicate that acute ingestion of dietary nitrate in older adults enhances exercise-induced forearm vasodilator responses during hypoxic exposure (42) and 8 weeks of sodium nitrate supplementation improves forearm blood flow in patients with peripheral artery disease, a population known to have decreased endothelial function (148). Additionally, the study by Richards et. al. (238) also noted enhanced vasodilation during hypoxic exposure with acute dietary nitrate supplementation. Finally, limb differences in vascular responses may explain the lack of effect of dietary nitrate on the hyperemic and vasodilator responses within the current study (239, 296). In this context, this is the first study to examine the effect of dietary nitrate on blood flow and vasodilator responses to exercise within the leg. Taken together, our current data does not support a role for acute dietary nitrate supplementation in enhancing skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation during steady-state exercise within a population of otherwise healthy older adults. Along these lines, it may be that some form of overt endothelial dysfunction or exposure to cardiovascular disease risk factors (e.g. hypertension, obesity, etc) is needed in order to elicit benefits from supplementation with dietary nitrate

Experimental Considerations

There are several experimental considerations that warrant addressing. First, it is possible that the dose used within this study was too low (~4.03 mmol NO_3^- and ~0.29 mmol NO_2^-).



Indeed, there was a lack of effect of dietary nitrate on cardiovascular parameters at rest (no change in blood pressure), which is in contrast to previous studies (55, 119, 133, 152). Human and animal studies have previously used higher doses of dietary nitrate both acutely and chronically (26, 133, 238, 276, 308) demonstrating a dose-response effect. In this regard, Kapil et. al.(133) reported step-wise increases (1.3 and 2 fold increase) in plasma nitrite with ingestion of 4 and 12 mmol of potassium nitrate respectively. Furthermore, animal models (young rats) demonstrate that higher doses of dietary nitrate $(1 \text{ mmol} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{day}^{-1})$ slows the fall in microvascular partial pressure of oxygen at the onset of electrically stimulated contractions (signifying a higher oxygen driving pressure at capillary-myocyte interface), and this effect is both specific to the dose as well as muscle fiber type (84-87). Furthermore, it is possible that the lack of effect on blood flow and vasodilator kinetics within the leg is perhaps due to an increase in O_2 consumption/utilization, rather than an increase in bulk skeletal muscle blood flow. In this context, Richards, et. al. demonstrated that acute dietary nitrate during moderate to high intensity forearm handgrip exercise improves blood flow via local vasodilation, an effect that is not associated with reduced skeletal muscle VO_2 . One key discrepancy between this and the current study besides the population studied, is that the current study used lower body leg kicking exercise which utilizes a larger muscle mass relative to forearm handgrip exercise. It is interesting to note however, that previous evidence supports a role for dietary nitrate in enhancing knee-extensor contractile efficiency in young adults (9). It could be argued that no significance was found in any variable due to low effect sizes observed within this study. Given the low effect sizes observed (Cohen's d-ROV: 0.30-0.47; kinetics: 0.25-0.36; steady-state: 0.20-(0.34), exploratory analysis indicated that even if the sample population was doubled around the mean, an acute dose of dietary nitrate supplementation still would have no effect on blood flow



and vasodilator responses across an exercise transient in older adults. Finally, we cannot rule out a possible effect of prior exercise/"priming" exercise influencing vasodilator kinetics (main effect of time at 40% WR_{max}). In this regard, previous evidence using pulmonary VO₂ kinetics as well as NIRS-derived muscle deoxygenation kinetics has demonstrated a "priming" effect on VO₂ kinetics that is associated with improved oxygen delivery to contracting muscle in response to repeated bouts of exercise (189). Within the experimental design we attempted to minimize this effect as post-measurements were performed 2 hours after consumption of the nitrate/placebo beverage and exercise intensities were randomized within each subject.

Conclusion

This is the first study to examine the impact of dietary nitrate on blood flow and vasodilator responses across an exercise transient in older adults during lower body exercise. Acute dietary nitrate supplementation with beetroot juice did not improve hyperemic and vasodilator responses at any point across an exercise transient (ROV, kinetics, or steady-state) in older adults. These results suggest that dietary nitrate may not be effective in modulating the hyperemic and vasodilator responses during lower body exercise in older adults, whether it is at the very onset, preceding steady-state exercise, or once steady-state exercise has been achieved. Whether dietary nitrate consumption improves these responses in populations with risk factors for cardiovascular disease, or with known cardiovascular disease warrants further study.





Figure 21: A. Experimental timeline overview. B: Pre and post measurements within each study day. C: Within study day time line



 Table 13: Subject Characteristics for Aim 6

Variable	
Age (years)	68±1
Men/Women	7/3
Height (cm)	171±3
Weight (kg)	76±4
Body Mass Index (kg·m ²)	25.8±1
WR _{max} (Watts)	28±2
Values are means \pm SE. WR _{max} ,	Work Rate
Maximum	



Variable	Nit	Nitrate		cebo	ANOVA Terms			
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Group	Time	Interaction	
Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	125±3	129±3	123±3	129±3	0.64	< 0.001	0.40	
Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)	78±2	76±2	76±2	77±2	0.78	0.75	0.11	
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	92±2	92±2	90±2	93±2	0.72	0.01	0.13	
Brachial Pulse Pressure (mmHg)	48±2	53±2	48±2	52±2	0.73	0.01	0.83	

 Table 14: Resting Hemodynamics

Values are means \pm SE









Figure 23: Group kinetic responses at 20% and 40% work-rate maximum (WR_{max}) prior to and post-supplementation with dietary nitrate and placebo



Figure 24. Mean response time pre and post supplementation with dietary nitrate and placebo at 20% and 40% work-rate maximum (WR_{max})

			NITRATE				PLACEBO				
		BL	20% (Δ from BL)	BL	40% (Δ from BL)	BL	20% (Δ from BL)	BL	40% (Δ from BL)		
PRE	$\frac{\text{HR}}{(\text{b} \cdot \text{min}^{-1})}$	61±2	25±3	62±2	31±2	63±2	24±3	60±2	24±2		
	MAP (mmHg)	109±4	33±5	113±6	35±5	105±4	26±5	109±4	39±4		
	BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	180±36	873±95	207±35	1080±126	222±37	928±93	210±55	1127±134		
	$\frac{VC}{(ml \cdot min^{-1} \cdot mmHg^{-1})}$	1.6±0.3	5.9±0.8	1.8±0.3	7.1±1.1	2.1±0.3	6.8±0.7	1.9±0.5	7.3±1.0		
POST	$\frac{\mathrm{HR}}{(\mathrm{b}\cdot\mathrm{min}^{-1})}$	59±2	25±3	60±2	30±3	63±2	30±3	60±2	32±3		
	MAP (mmHg)	106±6	24±5	112±4	34±6	114±5	26±5	112±4	39±6		
	BF (ml·min ⁻¹)	242±47	895±108	294±65	1306±136	210±31	993±152	184±32	1138±176		
	$\frac{VC}{(ml \cdot min^{-1} \cdot mmHg^{-1})}$	2.3±0.4	6.6±0.1	2.6±0.6	8.5±1.2	1.8±0.3	7.0±1.2	1.6±0.3	7.6±1.5		

Table 15: Systemic and Leg Hemodynamics

Mean±SE. HR, Heart rate; MAP, mean arterial pressure; BF, blood flow; VC, vascular conductance; BL, baseline



Chapter 8: CONCLUSIONS

Skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilator responses to exercise are attenuated with advancing age both at the onset of exercise, as well as during steady-state exercise. Mechanisms for these age-associated attenuations have been examined within the forearm, and are attributed to endothelial and neural components. Through a series of experiments we have attempted to comprehensively address age-related changes in skeletal muscle blood flow within the leg across an entire exercise transient in older adults, as well as explore interventional approaches aimed at improving skeletal muscle blood flow during leg exercise in older adults. The purpose of this research was to 1) determine whether mechanical factors are involved in the age-related attenuation of contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilation within the forearm; 2) examine whether contraction-induced ROV is attenuated in the leg of older adults, and whether these attenuations are similar to those seen in the arm; 3) examine whether sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to the age-related attenuation of contraction-induced ROV within the leg; 4) determine whether chronic aerobic exercise training in older adults offsets age-related attenuations in contraction-induced ROV; 5) examine whether advancing age prolongs the rate of adaptation (e.g. vasodilator kinetic response) of blood flow and vasodilation to rhythmic leg kicking exercise, as well as determine whether attenuations in ROV at the onset of exercise are related to vasodilator kinetics; and 6) determine whether chronic exercise training or acute supplementation of dietary nitrate augment blood flow and vasodilator responses to exercise in older adults across and exercise transient (onset to steady-state). Outlined below are the specific aims addressed throughout this dissertation with original hypotheses and a brief descript of results as to whether they support these original hypotheses.



Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1 (Chapter 2)

Specific Aim 1.1 Examine whether the relative mechanical contribution to contractioninduced ROV is altered in older adults.

Hypothesis 1.1 Due to increases in vessel stiffness, extravascular compression will not elicit similar elevations in vasodilation as compared to contraction-induced ROV.

Not Supported: The mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV within the forearm was not altered with advancing age. Older adults demonstrated reductions in total ROV in response to single skeletal muscle contractions and to single extra-vascular compression; however the relative mechanical contribution to at-heart level ROV responses were not different between young and older adults.

Specific Aim 1.2 Examine the influence of perfusion pressure on contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of older adults.

Hypothesis 1.2 Elevation of perfusion pressure will augment contraction-induced ROV within the forearm of older adults.

Supported: Elevation and reductions in perfusion pressure by placing the experimental arm below and above heart level, respectively, altered both contraction-induced and compression-induced ROV responses in young and older adults. Additionally, the relative mechanical contribution to contraction-induced ROV was greater when perfusion pressure was enhanced (e.g. below-heart level).



Specific Aim 1.3 Examine the relationship between upper limb arterial stiffness and contraction-induced ROV in older adults.

Hypothesis 1.3 Elevations in upper limb arterial stiffness will be inversely associated with contraction-induced ROV within older adults.

Not Supported: Peripheral conduit artery stiffness as measured by carotidradial pulse-wave velocity was not related to contraction-induced ROV despite age-related differences in carotid-radial PWV at rest.

Specific Aim 2 (Chapter 3)

Specific Aim 2.1 Characterize the influence of age on contraction-induced ROV within the leg.

Hypothesis 2.1 Advanced age will reduce contraction induced ROV within the leg of older adults.

Supported: Older adults demonstrated blunted contraction-induced ROV responses (44%-50%) within the leg relative to young adults.

Specific Aim 2.2 Examine whether age-related ROV responses vary between limbs.

Hypothesis 2.2 The lower limbs will exhibit a greater reduction in contraction-

induced ROV in older adults relative to the upper limbs.

Not Supported: Despite differences in muscle mass between the arm and leg, age-related reductions in contraction-induced ROV were similar between the arm and leg.

Specific Aim 3 (Chapter 4)



<u>Specific Aim 3.1</u> Determine whether enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction contributes to the attenuated contraction-induced ROV response observed in the leg of older adults.

Hypothesis 3.1 Acute elevations in sympathetic nervous system activity will reduce ROV to a greater extent in young compared to older adults.

Not Supported: Acute sympathetic stimulation via a cold-pressor test significantly blunted contraction-induced ROV within the leg to a similar extent in young and older adults regardless of exercise intensity.

Specific Aim 4 (Chapter 5)

Specific Aim 4.1 Determine whether long term exercise training can prevent the blunting of ROV that occurs in untrained older adults.

Hypothesis 4.1 Chronic endurance exercise training in older adults will ameliorate the age-related impairments in contraction-induced ROV.

Supported: Older adults with an extensive history of chronic/habitual aerobic exercise training demonstrated augmented contraction-induced ROV responses within the leg relative to age-matched untrained older adults. Furthermore, these responses in trained older adults were similar to young adults.

Specific Aim 4.2 Characterize the relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, age, and contraction-induced ROV.

Hypothesis 4.2 A higher cardiorespiratory fitness will be strongly related to contraction-induced ROV across the age-span.



Supported: Vasodilator responsiveness to single skeletal muscle contractions were positively associated with cardiorespiratory fitness whether expressed in relative or absolute exercise intensity terms.

Specific Aim 5 (Chapter 6)

Specific Aim 5.1 Examine whether the kinetics of blood flow and vasodilation are impaired within the leg of sedentary older adults, and whether chronic exercise training mitigates these reductions.

Hypothesis 5.1 Aging will result in attenuated vasodilator kinetics within the leg of older adults, and chronic exercise training will offset these age-related attenuations.

Supported: Untrained older adults demonstrated prolonged vasodilator kinetics relative to young adults, and chronically aerobic exercise trained older adults demonstrated no impairments in vasodilator kinetics.

Specific Aim 5.2 Characterize the relationship between hyperemic and vasodilator responses at the onset of exercise to the kinetics of blood flow and vasodilation during steady-state exercise in the leg.

Hypothesis 5.2 The blood flow and vasodilator responses following a single muscle contraction will be inversely related to the overall kinetic profile of blood flow and vasodilation during steady-state exercise.

Not Supported: Vasodilator responses to single skeletal muscle contractions were not related to vasodilator kinetics preceding steady-state exercise.



Specific Aim 6 (Chapter 7)

Specific Aim 6.1 Examine whether dietary nitrate improves leg blood flow and vasodilation in older adults, both at the onset, as well as during steady-state exercise.

Hypothesis 6.1 Acute ingestion of dietary nitrate will improve leg blood flow and vasodilation in older adults across an exercise transient in older adults.

Not Supported: Acute ingestion of dietary nitrate did not alter leg blood flow and vasodilation during any domain of exercise (onset, kinetics, or steady-state) above that of a placebo in older adults.

Summary and Implications

Utilizing predominately a cross-sectional design, the information gathered from these series of experiments demonstrates that normal healthy aging results in reductions in blood flow and vasodilation across an entire exercise transient. That is, from the very onset of exercise, and carrying over into steady-state exercise, older untrained adults exhibit reduced, and slower responses to rhythmic knee-extension contractions. Prospective mechanisms contributing to the age-related reduction in blood flow and vasodilation were examined, suggesting that enhanced sympathetic vasoconstriction may not fully explain these reductions. Additionally, chronic exercise training, but not acute dietary nitrate supplementation enhances the blood flow and vasodilator responses to dynamic knee-extension exercise in older adults. The implications of this data suggest that while normal healthy aging is associated with reductions in skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation across an exercise transient, habitual exercise training ameliorates these maladaptive responses to normal aging. Taken in a larger context, these results highlight the deleterious effects of sedentary aging, as well as the potent effects of exercise training in a



population that is prone to development of cardiovascular disease. The age-associated reductions in skeletal muscle blood flow and vasodilation to dynamic exercise could predispose this population to the development of premature exercise intolerance, facilitating a cascade of maladaptive responses, ultimately enhancing risk for cardiovascular disease. While dietary nitrate does not enhance these blood flow and vasodilator responses to exercise, this may be due to the relatively healthy population studied, and some form of overt cardiovascular disease or presence of risk factors must be present to observe beneficial effects of dietary nitrate on exercise blood flow and vasodilation. Specifically, while acute dietary nitrate does not enhance blood flow and vasodilator responses across an exercise transient, additional experiments are needed to determine if dietary nitrate improves these responses 1) over a longer duration (chronic supplementation), 2) whether potential improvements are dependent on the dose of dietary nitrate consumed, and 3) whether populations that exhibit more overt forms of cardiovascular disease (e.g. hypertension, peripheral artery disease, heart failure) demonstrate effects on skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise.



References

1. **Allen NB, Badon S, Greenlund KJ, Huffman M, Hong Y, and Lloyd-Jones DM**. The association between cardiovascular health and health-related quality of life and health status measures among U.S. adults: a cross-sectional study of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 2001-2010. *Health and quality of life outcomes* 13: 152, 2015.

2. **Alp NJ, and Channon KM**. Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular disease. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* 24: 413-420, 2004.

3. Andersen P, and Saltin B. Maximal perfusion of skeletal muscle in man. *The Journal of physiology* 366: 233-249, 1985.

4. Arena R, Guazzi M, Lianov L, Whitsel L, Berra K, Lavie CJ, Kaminsky L, Williams M, Hivert MF, Cherie Franklin N, Myers J, Dengel D, Lloyd-Jones DM, Pinto FJ, Cosentino F, Halle M, Gielen S, Dendale P, Niebauer J, Pelliccia A, Giannuzzi P, Corra U, Piepoli MF, Guthrie G, Shurney D, Arena R, Berra K, Dengel D, Franklin NC, Hivert MF, Kaminsky L, Lavie CJ, Lloyd-Jones DM, Myers J, Whitsel L, Williams M, Corra U, Cosentino F, Dendale P, Giannuzzi P, Gielen S, Guazzi M, Halle M, Niebauer J, Pelliccia A, Piepoli MF, Pinto FJ, Guthrie G, Lianov L, and Shurney D. Healthy lifestyle interventions to combat noncommunicable disease-a novel nonhierarchical connectivity model for key stakeholders: a policy statement from the American Heart Association, European Society of Cardiology, European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, and American College of Preventive Medicine. *European heart journal* 36: 2097-2109, 2015.

5. **Armstrong ML, Dua AK, and Murrant CL**. Potassium initiates vasodilatation induced by a single skeletal muscle contraction in hamster cremaster muscle. *The Journal of physiology* 581: 841-852, 2007.

6. **Armstrong ML, Dua AK, and Murrant CL**. Time course of vasodilation at the onset of repetitive skeletal muscle contractions. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 292: R505-515, 2007.

7. **Aronow WS**. Peripheral arterial disease of the lower extremities. *Archives of Medical Science : AMS* 8: 375-388, 2012.

8. **Avolio AP, Chen SG, Wang RP, Zhang CL, Li MF, and O'Rourke MF**. Effects of aging on changing arterial compliance and left ventricular load in a northern Chinese urban community. *Circulation* 68: 50-58, 1983.

9. Bailey SJ, Fulford J, Vanhatalo A, Winyard PG, Blackwell JR, DiMenna FJ, Wilkerson DP, Benjamin N, and Jones AM. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances muscle contractile efficiency during knee-extensor exercise in humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 109: 135-148, 2010.

10. Bailey SJ, Winyard P, Vanhatalo A, Blackwell JR, Dimenna FJ, Wilkerson DP, Tarr J, Benjamin N, and Jones AM. Dietary nitrate supplementation reduces the O2 cost of low-intensity exercise and enhances tolerance to high-intensity exercise in humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 107: 1144-1155, 2009.

11. **Baker SE, Limberg JK, Ranadive SM, and Joyner MJ**. Neurovascular control of blood pressure is influenced by aging, sex, and sex hormones. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 311: R1271-r1275, 2016.

12. **Barry E, Galvin R, Keogh C, Horgan F, and Fahey T**. Is the Timed Up and Go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC geriatrics* 14: 14, 2014.

13. **Bateman RM, Ellis CG, and Freeman DJ**. Optimization of Nitric Oxide Chemiluminescence Operating Conditions for Measurement of Plasma Nitrite and Nitrate. *Clinical Chemistry* 48: 570-573, 2002.



14. **Bearden SE**. Advancing age produces sex differences in vasomotor kinetics during and after skeletal muscle contraction. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 293: R1274-1279, 2007.

15. **Beere PA, Russell SD, Morey MC, Kitzman DW, and Higginbotham MB**. Aerobic exercise training can reverse age-related peripheral circulatory changes in healthy older men. *Circulation* 100: 1085-1094, 1999.

16. **Behnke BJ, and Delp MD**. Aging blunts the dynamics of vasodilation in isolated skeletal muscle resistance vessels. *Journal of applied physiology* 108: 14-20, 2010.

17. **Behnke BJ, Delp MD, Dougherty PJ, Musch TI, and Poole DC**. Effects of aging on microvascular oxygen pressures in rat skeletal muscle. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology* 146: 259-268, 2005.

18. Behnke BJ, Ramsey MW, Stabley JN, Dominguez JM, 2nd, Davis RT, 3rd, McCullough DJ, Muller-Delp JM, and Delp MD. Effects of aging and exercise training on skeletal muscle blood flow and resistance artery morphology. *Journal of applied physiology* 113: 1699-1708, 2012.

19. Bell C, Paterson DH, Kowalchuk JM, Moy AP, Thorp DB, Noble EG, Taylor AW, and Cunningham DA. Determinants of oxygen uptake kinetics in older humans following single-limb endurance exercise training. *Experimental physiology* 86: 659-665, 2001.

20. **Bellumori M, Uygur M, and Knight CA**. High-Speed Cycling Intervention Improves Rate-Dependent Mobility in Older Adults. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 49: 106-114, 2017.

21. Best SA, Okada Y, Galbreath MM, Jarvis SS, Bivens TB, Adams-Huet B, and Fu Q. Age and sex differences in muscle sympathetic nerve activity in relation to haemodynamics, blood volume and left ventricular size. *Experimental physiology* 99: 839-848, 2014.

22. Birk GK, Dawson EA, Atkinson C, Haynes A, Cable NT, Thijssen DH, and Green DJ. Brachial artery adaptation to lower limb exercise training: role of shear stress. *Journal of applied physiology* 112: 1653-1658, 2012.

23. Blain GM, Limberg JK, Mortensen GF, and Schrage WG. Rapid onset vasodilatation is blunted in obese humans. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)* 205: 103-112, 2012.

24. **Blair SN, Kohl HW, 3rd, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., Clark DG, Cooper KH, and Gibbons LW**. Physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy men and women. *Jama* 262: 2395-2401, 1989.

25. **Bock JM, Ueda K, Schneider AC, Hughes WE, Limberg JK, Bryan NS, and Casey DP**. Inorganic nitrate supplementation attenuates peripheral chemoreflex sensitivity but does not improve cardiovagal baroreflex sensitivity in older adults. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 314: H45-h51, 2018.

26. **Bondonno CP, Croft KD, Puddey IB, Considine MJ, Yang X, Ward NC, and Hodgson JM**. Nitrate causes a dose-dependent augmentation of nitric oxide status in healthy women. *Food & function* 3: 522-527, 2012.

27. **Booth FW, Gordon SE, Carlson CJ, and Hamilton MT**. Waging war on modern chronic diseases: primary prevention through exercise biology. *Journal of applied physiology* 88: 774-787, 2000.

28. **Booth FW, Laye MJ, and Roberts MD**. Lifetime sedentary living accelerates some aspects of secondary aging. *Journal of applied physiology* 111: 1497-1504, 2011.

29. **Booth FW, Roberts CK, and Laye MJ**. Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Comprehensive Physiology* 2: 1143-1211, 2012.

30. **Bradley SJ, Kingwell BA, and McConell GK**. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition reduces leg glucose uptake but not blood flow during dynamic exercise in humans. *Diabetes* 48: 1815-1821, 1999.

31. **Bredt DS**. Endogenous nitric oxide synthesis: biological functions and pathophysiology. *Free radical research* 31: 577-596, 1999.



32. **Breese BC, Poole DC, Okushima D, Bailey SJ, Jones AM, Kondo N, Amano T, and Koga S**. The effect of dietary nitrate supplementation on the spatial heterogeneity of quadriceps deoxygenation during heavy-intensity cycling. *Physiological reports* 5: 2017.

33. **Brock RW, Tschakovsky ME, Shoemaker JK, Halliwill JR, Joyner MJ, and Hughson RL**. Effects of acetylcholine and nitric oxide on forearm blood flow at rest and after a single muscle contraction. *Journal of applied physiology* 85: 2249-2254, 1998.

34. **Buckwalter JB, Ruble SB, Mueller PJ, and Clifford PS**. Skeletal muscle vasodilation at the onset of exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 85: 1649-1654, 1998.

35. **Buskirk ER, and Hodgson JL**. Age and aerobic power: the rate of change in men and women. *Federation proceedings* 46: 1824-1829, 1987.

36. **Caballer VB, Lison JF, Rosado-Calatayud P, Amer-Cuenca JJ, and Segura-Orti E**. Factors associated with the 6-minute walk test in nursing home residents and community-dwelling older adults. *Journal of physical therapy science* 27: 3571-3578, 2015.

37. **Calbet JA, Lundby C, Koskolou M, and Boushel R**. Importance of hemoglobin concentration to exercise: acute manipulations. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology* 151: 132-140, 2006.

38. **Calbet JA, Lundby C, Sander M, Robach P, Saltin B, and Boushel R**. Effects of ATP-induced leg vasodilation on VO2 peak and leg O2 extraction during maximal exercise in humans. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 291: R447-453, 2006.

39. **Carlson RE, Kirby BS, Voyles WF, and Dinenno FA**. Evidence for impaired skeletal muscle contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in aging humans. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 294: H1963-1970, 2008.

40. **Casey DP, and Joyner MJ**. Influence of alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction on the blunted skeletal muscle contraction-induced rapid vasodilation with aging. *Journal of applied physiology* 113: 1201-1212, 2012.

41. **Casey DP, Ranadive SM, and Joyner MJ**. Aging is associated with altered vasodilator kinetics in dynamically contracting muscle: role of nitric oxide. *Journal of applied physiology* 119: 232-241, 2015.

42. **Casey DP, Treichler DP, Ganger CTt, Schneider AC, and Ueda K**. Acute dietary nitrate supplementation enhances compensatory vasodilation during hypoxic exercise in older adults. *Journal of applied physiology* 118: 178-186, 2015.

43. **Casey DP, Walker BG, Ranadive SM, Taylor JL, and Joyner MJ**. Contribution of nitric oxide in the contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in young and older adults. *Journal of applied physiology* 115: 446-455, 2013.

44. **Chan NN, MacAllister RJ, Colhoun HM, Vallance P, and Hingorani AD**. Changes in endotheliumdependent vasodilatation and alpha-adrenergic responses in resistance vessels during the menstrual cycle in healthy women. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 86: 2499-2504, 2001.

45. **Chase NL, Sui X, Lee DC, and Blair SN**. The association of cardiorespiratory fitness and physical activity with incidence of hypertension in men. *American journal of hypertension* 22: 417-424, 2009.

46. **Chen WT, Brace RA, Scott JB, Anderson DK, and Haddy FJ**. The mechanism of the vasodilator action of potassium. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY)* 140: 820-824, 1972.

47. **Christensen PM, Nordsborg NB, Nybo L, Mortensen SP, Sander M, Secher NH, and Bangsbo J**. Thigh oxygen uptake at the onset of intense exercise is not affected by a reduction in oxygen delivery caused by hypoxia. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 303: R843-849, 2012.

48. **Christensen PM, Nyberg M, Mortensen SP, Nielsen JJ, Secher NH, Damsgaard R, Hellsten Y, and Bangsbo J**. Leg oxygen uptake in the initial phase of intense exercise is slowed by a marked reduction in oxygen delivery. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 305: R313-321, 2013.


49. Clegg AP, Barber SE, Young JB, Forster A, and Iliffe SJ. Do home-based exercise interventions improve outcomes for frail older people? Findings from a systematic review. *Reviews in clinical gerontology* 22: 68-78, 2012.

50. **Clements WT, Lee SR, and Bloomer RJ**. Nitrate ingestion: a review of the health and physical performance effects. *Nutrients* 6: 5224-5264, 2014.

51. **Clifford PS**. Skeletal muscle vasodilatation at the onset of exercise. *The Journal of physiology* 583: 825-833, 2007.

52. **Clifford PS, and Hellsten Y**. Vasodilatory mechanisms in contracting skeletal muscle. *Journal of applied physiology* 97: 393-403, 2004.

53. **Clifford PS, Kluess HA, Hamann JJ, Buckwalter JB, and Jasperse JL**. Mechanical compression elicits vasodilatation in rat skeletal muscle feed arteries. *The Journal of physiology* 572: 561-567, 2006.

54. **Clifford PS, and Tschakovsky ME**. Rapid vascular responses to muscle contraction. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 36: 25-29, 2008.

55. **Coles LT, and Clifton PM**. Effect of beetroot juice on lowering blood pressure in free-living, disease-free adults: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Nutrition journal* 11: 106, 2012.

56. **Cooper LL, Palmisano JN, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Mitchell GF, and Hamburg NM**. Microvascular Function Contributes to the Relation Between Aortic Stiffness and Cardiovascular Events: The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation Cardiovascular imaging* 9: 2016.

57. **Corcondilas A, Koroxenidis GT, and Shepherd JT**. EFFECT OF A BRIEF CONTRACTION OF FOREARM MUSCLES ON FOREARM BLOOD FLOW. *J Appl Physiol* 19: 142-146, 1964.

58. **Cox RD, and Frank CW**. Determination of nitrate and nitrite in blood and urine by chemiluminescence. *Journal of analytical toxicology* 6: 148-152, 1982.

59. **Crecelius AR, Kirby BS, Luckasen GJ, Larson DG, and Dinenno FA**. Mechanisms of rapid vasodilation after a brief contraction in human skeletal muscle. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 305: H29-40, 2013.

60. **Crecelius AR, Luckasen GJ, Larson DG, and Dinenno FA**. KIR channel activation contributes to onset and steady-state exercise hyperemia in humans. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 307: H782-791, 2014.

61. Credeur DP, Holwerda SW, Restaino RM, King PM, Crutcher KL, Laughlin MH, Padilla J, and Fadel PJ. Characterizing rapid-onset vasodilation to single muscle contractions in the human leg. *Journal of applied physiology* 118: 455-464, 2015.

62. **Davy KP, Seals DR, and Tanaka H**. Augmented cardiopulmonary and integrative sympathetic baroreflexes but attenuated peripheral vasoconstriction with age. *Hypertension* 32: 298-304, 1998.

63. **Davy KP, Tanaka H, Andros EA, Gerber JG, and Seals DR**. Influence of age on arterial baroreflex inhibition of sympathetic nerve activity in healthy adult humans. *The American journal of physiology* 275: H1768-1772, 1998.

64. **DeFina LF, Haskell WL, Willis BL, Barlow CE, Finley CE, Levine BD, and Cooper KH**. Physical activity versus cardiorespiratory fitness: two (partly) distinct components of cardiovascular health? *Progress in cardiovascular diseases* 57: 324-329, 2015.

65. **Dejam A, Hunter CJ, and Gladwin MT**. Effects of dietary nitrate on blood pressure. *The New England journal of medicine* 356: 1590; author reply 1590, 2007.

66. **DeLorey DS, Kowalchuk JM, and Paterson DH**. Effect of age on O(2) uptake kinetics and the adaptation of muscle deoxygenation at the onset of moderate-intensity cycling exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 97: 165-172, 2004.

67. **DeLorey DS, Wang SS, and Shoemaker JK**. Evidence for sympatholysis at the onset of forearm exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 93: 555-560, 2002.

68. **Delp MD**. Control of skeletal muscle perfusion at the onset of dynamic exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 31: 1011-1018, 1999.



69. **Delp MD, Behnke BJ, Spier SA, Wu G, and Muller-Delp JM**. Ageing diminishes endotheliumdependent vasodilatation and tetrahydrobiopterin content in rat skeletal muscle arterioles. *The Journal of physiology* 586: 1161-1168, 2008.

70. **Delp MD, and O'Leary DS**. Integrative control of the skeletal muscle microcirculation in the maintenance of arterial pressure during exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 97: 1112-1118, 2004.

71. **DeSouza CA, Shapiro LF, Clevenger CM, Dinenno FA, Monahan KD, Tanaka H, and Seals DR**. Regular aerobic exercise prevents and restores age-related declines in endothelium-dependent vasodilation in healthy men. *Circulation* 102: 1351-1357, 2000.

72. **Dinenno FA, Dietz NM, and Joyner MJ**. Aging and forearm postjunctional alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction in healthy men. *Circulation* 106: 1349-1354, 2002.

73. **Dinenno FA, Jones PP, Seals DR, and Tanaka H**. Limb blood flow and vascular conductance are reduced with age in healthy humans: relation to elevations in sympathetic nerve activity and declines in oxygen demand. *Circulation* 100: 164-170, 1999.

74. **Dinenno FA, and Joyner MJ**. Alpha-adrenergic control of skeletal muscle circulation at rest and during exercise in aging humans. *Microcirculation (New York, NY : 1994)* 13: 329-341, 2006.

75. **Dinenno FA, Masuki S, and Joyner MJ**. Impaired modulation of sympathetic alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction in contracting forearm muscle of ageing men. *The Journal of physiology* 567: 311-321, 2005.

76. **Dinenno FA, Tanaka H, Stauffer BL, and Seals DR**. Reductions in basal limb blood flow and vascular conductance with human ageing: role for augmented alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction. *The Journal of physiology* 536: 977-983, 2001.

77. **DiPietro L**. Physical activity in aging: changes in patterns and their relationship to health and function. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* 56 Spec No 2: 13-22, 2001.

78. **Donato AJ, Black AD, Jablonski KL, Gano LB, and Seals DR**. Aging is associated with greater nuclear NF kappa B, reduced I kappa B alpha, and increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines in vascular endothelial cells of healthy humans. *Aging cell* 7: 805-812, 2008.

79. **Donato AJ, Morgan RG, Walker AE, and Lesniewski LA**. Cellular and molecular biology of aging endothelial cells. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology* 89: 122-135, 2015.

80. **Donato AJ, Uberoi A, Wray DW, Nishiyama S, Lawrenson L, and Richardson RS**. Differential effects of aging on limb blood flow in humans. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 290: H272-278, 2006.

81. **Dyke CK, Proctor DN, Dietz NM, and Joyner MJ**. Role of nitric oxide in exercise hyperaemia during prolonged rhythmic handgripping in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 488 (Pt 1): 259-265, 1995.

82. **Fadel PJ, Wang Z, Watanabe H, Arbique D, Vongpatanasin W, and Thomas GD**. Augmented sympathetic vasoconstriction in exercising forearms of postmenopausal women is reversed by oestrogen therapy. *The Journal of physiology* 561: 893-901, 2004.

83. Farrell SW, Kampert JB, Kohl HW, 3rd, Barlow CE, Macera CA, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., Gibbons LW, and Blair SN. Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness levels and other predictors on cardiovascular disease mortality in men. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 30: 899-905, 1998.

84. **Ferguson SK, Hirai DM, Copp SW, Holdsworth CT, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, and Poole DC**. Dose dependent effects of nitrate supplementation on cardiovascular control and microvascular oxygenation dynamics in healthy rats. *Nitric oxide : biology and chemistry / official journal of the Nitric Oxide Society* 39: 51-58, 2014.

85. **Ferguson SK, Hirai DM, Copp SW, Holdsworth CT, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, and Poole DC**. Effects of nitrate supplementation via beetroot juice on contracting rat skeletal muscle microvascular oxygen pressure dynamics. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology* 187: 250-255, 2013.



86. **Ferguson SK, Hirai DM, Copp SW, Holdsworth CT, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, and Poole DC**. Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation via beetroot juice on exercising muscle vascular control in rats. *The Journal of physiology* 591: 547-557, 2013.

87. **Ferguson SK, Holdsworth CT, Wright JL, Fees AJ, Allen JD, Jones AM, Musch TI, and Poole DC.** Microvascular oxygen pressures in muscles comprised of different fiber types: Impact of dietary nitrate supplementation. *Nitric oxide : biology and chemistry / official journal of the Nitric Oxide Society* 2014.

88. **Fielding RA, Frontera WR, Hughes VA, Fisher EC, and Evans WJ**. The reproducibility of the Bruce protocol exercise test for the determination of aerobic capacity in older women. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 29: 1109-1113, 1997.

89. **FissIthaler B, Dimmeler S, Hermann C, Busse R, and Fleming I**. Phosphorylation and activation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase by fluid shear stress. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica* 168: 81-88, 2000.

90. **Fleg JL, and Strait J**. Age-associated changes in cardiovascular structure and function: a fertile milieu for future disease. *Heart failure reviews* 17: 545-554, 2012.

91. **Fleming I, and Busse R**. Molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 284: R1-12, 2003.

92. **Fleming I, and Busse R**. Signal transduction of eNOS activation. *Cardiovascular research* 43: 532-541, 1999.

93. **Folkow B**. Regulation of the peripheral circulation. *British heart journal* 33: Suppl:27-31, 1971.

94. **Forstermann U, and Sessa WC**. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *European heart journal* 33: 829-837, 837a-837d, 2012.

95. **Fulton JS, and McSwiney BA**. The pulse wave velocity and extensibility of the brachial and radial artery in man. *The Journal of physiology* 69: 386-392, 1930.

96. **Ganz P, and Vita JA**. Testing endothelial vasomotor function: nitric oxide, a multipotent molecule. *Circulation* 108: 2049-2053, 2003.

97. **Gielen S, Sandri M, Erbs S, and Adams V**. Exercise-induced modulation of endothelial nitric oxide production. *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology* 12: 1375-1384, 2011.

98. Gifford JR, Garten RS, Nelson AD, Trinity JD, Layec G, Witman MA, Weavil JC, Mangum T, Hart C, Etheredge C, Jessop J, Bledsoe A, Morgan DE, Wray DW, Rossman MJ, and Richardson RS.

Symmorphosis and skeletal muscle VO2 max : in vivo and in vitro measures reveal differing constraints in the exercise-trained and untrained human. *The Journal of physiology* 594: 1741-1751, 2016.

99. **Gilligan DM, Panza JA, Kilcoyne CM, Waclawiw MA, Casino PR, and Quyyumi AA**. Contribution of endothelium-derived nitric oxide to exercise-induced vasodilation. *Circulation* 90: 2853-2858, 1994.

100. **Gimbrone MA, Jr., and Garcia-Cardena G**. Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. *Circulation research* 118: 620-636, 2016.

101. **Gonzales JU**. Gait performance in relation to aortic pulse wave velocity, carotid artery elasticity and peripheral perfusion in healthy older adults. *Clinical physiology and functional imaging* 33: 245-251, 2013.

102. **Gradinaru D, Borsa C, Ionescu C, and Prada GI**. Oxidized LDL and NO synthesis--Biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction and ageing. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 151: 101-113, 2015.

103. **Green DJ, Hopman MT, Padilla J, Laughlin MH, and Thijssen DH**. Vascular Adaptation to Exercise in Humans: Role of Hemodynamic Stimuli. *Physiological reviews* 97: 495-528, 2017.

104. **Green DJ, Maiorana A, O'Driscoll G, and Taylor R**. Effect of exercise training on endotheliumderived nitric oxide function in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 561: 1-25, 2004.

105. **Groot HJ, Trinity JD, Layec G, Rossman MJ, Ives SJ, and Richardson RS**. Perfusion pressure and movement-induced hyperemia: evidence of limited vascular function and vasodilatory reserve with age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 304: H610-619, 2013.



106. **Haddy FJ, and Scott JB**. Metabolic factors in peripheral circulatory regulation. *Federation proceedings* 34: 2006-2011, 1975.

107. **Harper AJ, Ferreira LF, Lutjemeier BJ, Townsend DK, and Barstow TJ**. Human femoral artery and estimated muscle capillary blood flow kinetics following the onset of exercise. *Experimental physiology* 91: 661-671, 2006.

108. **Hartwich D, Fowler KL, Wynn LJ, and Fisher JP**. Differential responses to sympathetic stimulation in the cerebral and brachial circulations during rhythmic handgrip exercise in humans. *Experimental physiology* 95: 1089-1097, 2010.

109. **Hawley JA, Hargreaves M, Joyner MJ, and Zierath JR**. Integrative biology of exercise. *Cell* 159: 738-749, 2014.

110. **Hearon CM, Jr., and Dinenno FA**. Regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise in ageing humans. *The Journal of physiology* 2015.

111. Heinonen I, Saltin B, Kemppainen J, Sipila HT, Oikonen V, Nuutila P, Knuuti J, Kalliokoski K, and Hellsten Y. Skeletal muscle blood flow and oxygen uptake at rest and during exercise in humans: a pet study with nitric oxide and cyclooxygenase inhibition. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 300: H1510-1517, 2011.

112. Hellsten Y, Nyberg M, Jensen LG, and Mortensen SP. Vasodilator interactions in skeletal muscle blood flow regulation. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 6297-6305, 2012.

113. Herr MD, Hogeman CS, Koch DW, Krishnan A, Momen A, and Leuenberger UA. A real-time device for converting Doppler ultrasound audio signals into fluid flow velocity. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 298: H1626-1632, 2010.

114. **Hirai DM, Copp SW, Holdsworth CT, Ferguson SK, McCullough DJ, Behnke BJ, Musch TI, and Poole DC**. Skeletal muscle microvascular oxygenation dynamics in heart failure: exercise training and nitric oxide-mediated function. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 306: H690-698, 2014.

115. Hortobagyi T, Lesinski M, Gabler M, VanSwearingen JM, Malatesta D, and Granacher U. Effects of Three Types of Exercise Interventions on Healthy Old Adults' Gait Speed: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports medicine (Auckland, NZ)* 45: 1627-1643, 2015.

116. **Hughes WE, Kruse NT, and Casey DP**. Age-associated impairments in contraction-induced rapid onset vasodilatation within the forearm are independent of mechanical factors. *Experimental physiology* 2018.

117. **Hughes WE, Kruse NT, and Casey DP**. Sympathetic nervous system activation reduces contraction-induced rapid vasodilation in the leg of humans independent of age. *Journal of applied physiology* 123: 106-115, 2017.

118. **Hughes WE, Ueda K, and Casey DP**. Chronic endurance exercise training offsets the age-related attenuation in contraction-induced rapid vasodilation. *Journal of applied physiology* 120: 1335-1342, 2016.

119. **Hughes WE, Ueda K, Treichler DP, and Casey DP**. Effects of acute dietary nitrate supplementation on aortic blood pressure and aortic augmentation index in young and older adults. *Nitric oxide : biology and chemistry / official journal of the Nitric Oxide Society* 59: 21-27, 2016.

120. **Hughes WE, Ueda K, Treichler DP, and Casey DP**. Rapid onset vasodilation with single muscle contractions in the leg: influence of age. *Physiological reports* 3: 2015.

121. Hughson RL, and Tschakovsky ME. Cardiovascular dynamics at the onset of exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 31: 1005-1010, 1999.

122. **Jablonski KL, Seals DR, Eskurza I, Monahan KD, and Donato AJ**. High-dose ascorbic acid infusion abolishes chronic vasoconstriction and restores resting leg blood flow in healthy older men. *Journal of applied physiology* 103: 1715-1721, 2007.



123. Jackson DN, Moore AW, and Segal SS. Blunting of rapid onset vasodilatation and blood flow restriction in arterioles of exercising skeletal muscle with ageing in male mice. *The Journal of physiology* 588: 2269-2282, 2010.

124. **Jasperse JL, Shoemaker JK, Gray EJ, and Clifford PS**. Positional differences in reactive hyperemia provide insight into initial phase of exercise hyperemia. *Journal of applied physiology* 119: 569-575, 2015.

125. **Jensen FB**. Red blood cell pH, the Bohr effect, and other oxygenation-linked phenomena in blood O2 and CO2 transport. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica* 182: 215-227, 2004.

126. **Jones AM**. Dietary nitrate supplementation and exercise performance. *Sports medicine* (*Auckland, NZ*) 44 Suppl 1: S35-45, 2014.

127. **Jones AM, and Poole DC**. Oxygen uptake dynamics: from muscle to mouth--an introduction to the symposium. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 37: 1542-1550, 2005.

128. **Jones CJ, Rikli RE, and Beam WC**. A 30-s chair-stand test as a measure of lower body strength in community-residing older adults. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport* 70: 113-119, 1999.

129. **Jor'dan AJ, Manor B, and Novak V**. Slow gait speed - an indicator of lower cerebral vasoreactivity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience* 6: 135, 2014.

130. **Joyner MJ, and Casey DP**. Regulation of increased blood flow (hyperemia) to muscles during exercise: a hierarchy of competing physiological needs. *Physiological reviews* 95: 549-601, 2015.

131. **Joyner MJ, Wallin BG, and Charkoudian N**. Sex differences and blood pressure regulation in humans. *Experimental physiology* 101: 349-355, 2016.

132. **Joyner MJ, and Wilkins BW**. Exercise hyperaemia: is anything obligatory but the hyperaemia? *The Journal of physiology* 583: 855-860, 2007.

133. Kapil V, Milsom AB, Okorie M, Maleki-Toyserkani S, Akram F, Rehman F, Arghandawi S, Pearl V, Benjamin N, Loukogeorgakis S, Macallister R, Hobbs AJ, Webb AJ, and Ahluwalia A. Inorganic nitrate supplementation lowers blood pressure in humans: role for nitrite-derived NO. *Hypertension* 56: 274-281, 2010.

134. **Kaplon RE, Walker AE, and Seals DR**. Plasma norepinephrine is an independent predictor of vascular endothelial function with aging in healthy women. *Journal of applied physiology* 111: 1416-1421, 2011.

135. **Kellawan JM, Limberg JK, Scruggs ZM, Nicholson WT, Schrage WG, Joyner MJ, and Curry TB**. Phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition preserves exercise-onset vasodilator kinetics when NOS activity is reduced. *Journal of applied physiology* 124: 276-282, 2018.

136. Kelly J, Fulford J, Vanhatalo A, Blackwell JR, French O, Bailey SJ, Gilchrist M, Winyard PG, and Jones AM. Effects of short-term dietary nitrate supplementation on blood pressure, O2 uptake kinetics, and muscle and cognitive function in older adults. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 304: R73-83, 2013.

137. Kenjale AA, Ham KL, Stabler T, Robbins JL, Johnson JL, Vanbruggen M, Privette G, Yim E, Kraus WE, and Allen JD. Dietary nitrate supplementation enhances exercise performance in peripheral arterial disease. *Journal of applied physiology* 110: 1582-1591, 2011.

138. **Kim JK, Moore DJ, Maurer DG, Kim-Shapiro DB, Basu S, Flanagan MP, Skulas-Ray AC, Kris-Etherton P, and Proctor DN**. Acute dietary nitrate supplementation does not augment submaximal forearm exercise hyperemia in healthy young men. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme* 40: 122-128, 2015.

139. **Kirby BS, Carlson RE, Markwald RR, Voyles WF, and Dinenno FA**. Mechanical influences on skeletal muscle vascular tone in humans: insight into contraction-induced rapid vasodilatation. *The Journal of physiology* 583: 861-874, 2007.



140. **Kirby BS, Crecelius AR, Voyles WF, and Dinenno FA**. Modulation of postjunctional alphaadrenergic vasoconstriction during exercise and exogenous ATP infusions in ageing humans. *The Journal of physiology* 589: 2641-2653, 2011.

141. **Kirby BS, Voyles WF, Simpson CB, Carlson RE, Schrage WG, and Dinenno FA**. Endotheliumdependent vasodilatation and exercise hyperaemia in ageing humans: impact of acute ascorbic acid administration. *The Journal of physiology* 587: 1989-2003, 2009.

142. **Koch DW, Leuenberger UA, and Proctor DN**. Augmented leg vasoconstriction in dynamically exercising older men during acute sympathetic stimulation. *The Journal of physiology* 551: 337-344, 2003.

143. Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Asumi M, Sugawara A, Totsuka K, Shimano H, Ohashi Y, Yamada N, and Sone H. Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *Jama* 301: 2024-2035, 2009.

144. **Koga S, Okushima D, Barstow TJ, Rossiter HB, Kondo N, and Poole DC**. Near-infrared spectroscopy of superficial and deep rectus femoris reveals markedly different exercise response to superficial vastus lateralis. *Physiological reports* 5: 2017.

145. Koga S, Poole DC, Shiojiri T, Kondo N, Fukuba Y, Miura A, and Barstow TJ. Comparison of oxygen uptake kinetics during knee extension and cycle exercise. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 288: R212-220, 2005.

146. Koga S, Rossiter HB, Heinonen I, Musch TI, and Poole DC. Dynamic heterogeneity of exercising muscle blood flow and O2 utilization. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 46: 860-876, 2014.
147. Korthuis RJ. Integrated Systems Physiology: from Molecule to Function to Disease. In: *Skeletal Muscle Circulation*. San Rafael (CA): Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences

Copyright (c) 2011 by Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences., 2011.

148. **Kruse NT, Ueda K, Hughes WE, and Casey DP**. Eight weeks of nitrate supplementation improves blood flow and reduces the exaggerated pressor response during forearm exercise in peripheral arterial disease. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 2018.

149. **Lakatta EG, and Levy D**. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part I: aging arteries: a "set up" for vascular disease. *Circulation* 107: 139-146, 2003.

150. **Lakatta EG, and Levy D**. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part II: the aging heart in health: links to heart disease. *Circulation* 107: 346-354, 2003.

151. **Lamb IR, Novielli NM, and Murrant CL**. Capillary response to skeletal muscle contraction: evidence that redundancy between vasodilators is physiologically relevant during active hyperaemia. *The Journal of physiology* 2018.

152. Larsen FJ, Ekblom B, Sahlin K, Lundberg JO, and Weitzberg E. Effects of dietary nitrate on blood pressure in healthy volunteers. *The New England journal of medicine* 355: 2792-2793, 2006.

153. Laughlin MH, and Armstrong RB. Muscle blood flow during locomotory exercise. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 13: 95-136, 1985.

154. **Laurent S, Tropeano AI, Lillo-Lelouet A, Jondeau G, Laloux B, and Boutouyrie P**. Local pulse pressure is a major determinant of large artery remodelling. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology* 28: 1011-1014, 2001.

155. **Lawrenson L, Poole JG, Kim J, Brown C, Patel P, and Richardson RS**. Vascular and metabolic response to isolated small muscle mass exercise: effect of age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 285: H1023-1031, 2003.

156. **Lidder S, and Webb AJ**. Vascular effects of dietary nitrate (as found in green leafy vegetables and beetroot) via the nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway. *British journal of clinical pharmacology* 75: 677-696, 2013.



157. **Lieberman EH, Gerhard MD, Uehata A, Selwyn AP, Ganz P, Yeung AC, and Creager MA**. Flowinduced vasodilation of the human brachial artery is impaired in patients <40 years of age with coronary artery disease. *The American journal of cardiology* 78: 1210-1214, 1996.

158. **Limberg JK, De Vita MD, Blain GM, and Schrage WG**. Muscle blood flow responses to dynamic exercise in young obese humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 108: 349-355, 2010.

159. **Limberg JK, Eldridge MW, Proctor LT, Sebranek JJ, and Schrage WG**. Alpha-adrenergic control of blood flow during exercise: effect of sex and menstrual phase. *Journal of applied physiology* 109: 1360-1368, 2010.

160. Limberg JK, Malterer KR, Mikhail Kellawan J, Schrage WG, Wilkins BW, Nicholson WT, Eisenach JH, Joyner MJ, and Curry TB. Potentiation of the NO-cGMP pathway and blood flow responses during dynamic exercise in healthy humans. *European journal of applied physiology* 117: 237-246, 2017.

161. **Lundberg JO, Carlstrom M, Larsen FJ, and Weitzberg E**. Roles of dietary inorganic nitrate in cardiovascular health and disease. *Cardiovascular research* 89: 525-532, 2011.

162. **MacDonald MJ, Shoemaker JK, Tschakovsky ME, and Hughson RL**. Alveolar oxygen uptake and femoral artery blood flow dynamics in upright and supine leg exercise in humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 85: 1622-1628, 1998.

163. **Malik AR, Kondragunta V, and Kullo IJ**. Forearm vascular reactivity and arterial stiffness in asymptomatic adults from the community. *Hypertension* 51: 1512-1518, 2008.

164. **Matthews JN, Altman DG, Campbell MJ, and Royston P**. Analysis of serial measurements in medical research. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* 300: 230-235, 1990.

165. **McCullough DJ, Davis RT, 3rd, Dominguez JM, 2nd, Stabley JN, Bruells CS, and Behnke BJ**. Effects of aging and exercise training on spinotrapezius muscle microvascular PO2 dynamics and vasomotor control. *Journal of applied physiology* 110: 695-704, 2011.

166. **McDaniel J, Hayman MA, Ives S, Fjeldstad AS, Trinity JD, Wray DW, and Richardson RS**. Attenuated exercise induced hyperaemia with age: mechanistic insight from passive limb movement. *The Journal of physiology* 588: 4507-4517, 2010.

167. **McDermott MM**. Lower extremity manifestations of peripheral artery disease: the pathophysiologic and functional implications of leg ischemia. *Circulation research* 116: 1540-1550, 2015.

168. **McDermott MM, Tian L, Ferrucci L, Liu K, Guralnik JM, Liao Y, Pearce WH, and Criqui MH**. Associations between lower extremity ischemia, upper and lower extremity strength, and functional impairment with peripheral arterial disease. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56: 724-729, 2008.

169. **McEniery CM, Wallace S, Mackenzie IS, McDonnell B, Yasmin, Newby DE, Cockcroft JR, and Wilkinson IB**. Endothelial function is associated with pulse pressure, pulse wave velocity, and augmentation index in healthy humans. *Hypertension* 48: 602-608, 2006.

170. **McEniery CM, Wilkinson IB, and Avolio AP**. Age, hypertension and arterial function. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology* 34: 665-671, 2007.

171. **Milanovic Z, Pantelic S, Trajkovic N, Sporis G, Kostic R, and James N**. Age-related decrease in physical activity and functional fitness among elderly men and women. *Clinical interventions in aging* 8: 549-556, 2013.

172. Minet C, Vivodtzev I, Tamisier R, Arbib F, Wuyam B, Timsit JF, Monneret D, Borel JC, Baguet JP, Levy P, and Pepin JL. Reduced six-minute walking distance, high fat-free-mass index and hypercapnia are associated with endothelial dysfunction in COPD. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology* 183: 128-134, 2012.

173. **Minson CT, Halliwill JR, Young TM, and Joyner MJ**. Influence of the menstrual cycle on sympathetic activity, baroreflex sensitivity, and vascular transduction in young women. *Circulation* 101: 862-868, 2000.



174. **Mitchell GF**. Effects of central arterial aging on the structure and function of the peripheral vasculature: implications for end-organ damage. *Journal of applied physiology* 105: 1652-1660, 2008.

175. Mitchell GF, Hwang SJ, Vasan RS, Larson MG, Pencina MJ, Hamburg NM, Vita JA, Levy D, and **Benjamin EJ**. Arterial stiffness and cardiovascular events: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 121: 505-511, 2010.

176. Mitchell GF, van Buchem MA, Sigurdsson S, Gotal JD, Jonsdottir MK, Kjartansson O, Garcia M, Aspelund T, Harris TB, Gudnason V, and Launer LJ. Arterial stiffness, pressure and flow pulsatility and brain structure and function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility--Reykjavik study. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 134: 3398-3407, 2011.

177. Mitchell GF, Vita JA, Larson MG, Parise H, Keyes MJ, Warner E, Vasan RS, Levy D, and Benjamin EJ. Cross-sectional relations of peripheral microvascular function, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and aortic stiffness: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 112: 3722-3728, 2005.

178. **Mohrman DE, and Sparks HV**. Myogenic hyperemia following brief tetanus of canine skeletal muscle. *The American journal of physiology* 227: 531-535, 1974.

179. **Montgomery PS, and Gardner AW**. The clinical utility of a six-minute walk test in peripheral arterial occlusive disease patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 46: 706-711, 1998.

180. **Moreau KL, Donato AJ, Tanaka H, Jones PP, Gates PE, and Seals DR**. Basal leg blood flow in healthy women is related to age and hormone replacement therapy status. *The Journal of physiology* 547: 309-316, 2003.

181. **Mortensen SP, Askew CD, Walker M, Nyberg M, and Hellsten Y**. The hyperaemic response to passive leg movement is dependent on nitric oxide: a new tool to evaluate endothelial nitric oxide function. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 4391-4400, 2012.

182. **Mortensen SP, Gonzalez-Alonso J, Bune LT, Saltin B, Pilegaard H, and Hellsten Y**. ATP-induced vasodilation and purinergic receptors in the human leg: roles of nitric oxide, prostaglandins, and adenosine. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 296: R1140-1148, 2009.

183. **Mortensen SP, Gonzalez-Alonso J, Damsgaard R, Saltin B, and Hellsten Y**. Inhibition of nitric oxide and prostaglandins, but not endothelial-derived hyperpolarizing factors, reduces blood flow and aerobic energy turnover in the exercising human leg. *The Journal of physiology* 581: 853-861, 2007.

184. **Mortensen SP, Nyberg M, Gliemann L, Thaning P, Saltin B, and Hellsten Y**. Exercise training modulates functional sympatholysis and alpha-adrenergic vasoconstrictor responsiveness in hypertensive and normotensive individuals. *The Journal of physiology* 592: 3063-3073, 2014.

185. **Mortensen SP, Nyberg M, Winding K, and Saltin B**. Lifelong physical activity preserves functional sympatholysis and purinergic signalling in the ageing human leg. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 6227-6236, 2012.

186. **Mudau M, Genis A, Lochner A, and Strijdom H**. Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular journal of Africa* 23: 222-231, 2012.

187. **Muller-Delp JM, Spier SA, Ramsey MW, and Delp MD**. Aging impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilation in rat skeletal muscle arterioles. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 283: H1662-1672, 2002.

188. **Murias JM, Kowalchuk JM, and Paterson DH**. Speeding of VO2 kinetics with endurance training in old and young men is associated with improved matching of local O2 delivery to muscle O2 utilization. *Journal of applied physiology* 108: 913-922, 2010.

189. **Murias JM, Spencer MD, Delorey DS, Gurd BJ, Kowalchuk JM, and Paterson DH**. Speeding of VO2 kinetics during moderate-intensity exercise subsequent to heavy-intensity exercise is associated with improved local O2 distribution. *Journal of applied physiology* 111: 1410-1415, 2011.

190. **Murrant CL, and Sarelius IH**. Local control of blood flow during active hyperaemia: what kinds of integration are important? *The Journal of physiology* 593: 4699-4711, 2015.



191. **Naik JS, Valic Z, Buckwalter JB, and Clifford PS**. Rapid vasodilation in response to a brief tetanic muscle contraction. *Journal of applied physiology* 87: 1741-1746, 1999.

192. **Najjar SS, Scuteri A, and Lakatta EG**. Arterial aging: is it an immutable cardiovascular risk factor? *Hypertension* 46: 454-462, 2005.

193. Narkiewicz K, Phillips BG, Kato M, Hering D, Bieniaszewski L, and Somers VK. Gender-selective interaction between aging, blood pressure, and sympathetic nerve activity. *Hypertension* 45: 522-525, 2005.

194. **National Center for Health S**. Health, United States. In: *Health, United States, 2010: With Special Feature on Death and Dying*. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics (US), 2011.

195. **Newcomer SC, Leuenberger UA, Hogeman CS, Handly BD, and Proctor DN**. Different vasodilator responses of human arms and legs. *The Journal of physiology* 556: 1001-1011, 2004.

196. **Newcomer SC, Leuenberger UA, Hogeman CS, and Proctor DN**. Heterogeneous vasodilator responses of human limbs: influence of age and habitual endurance training. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 289: H308-315, 2005.

197. **Ng AV, Callister R, Johnson DG, and Seals DR**. Sympathetic neural reactivity to stress does not increase with age in healthy humans. *The American journal of physiology* 267: H344-353, 1994.

198. **Nishiyama SK, Wray DW, and Richardson RS**. Aging affects vascular structure and function in a limb-specific manner. *Journal of applied physiology* 105: 1661-1670, 2008.

199. **Nishiyama SK, Wray DW, and Richardson RS**. Sex and limb-specific ischemic reperfusion and vascular reactivity. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 295: H1100-h1108, 2008.

200. Noble MA, Munro AW, Rivers SL, Robledo L, Daff SN, Yellowlees LJ, Shimizu T, Sagami I, Guillemette JG, and Chapman SK. Potentiometric analysis of the flavin cofactors of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *Biochemistry* 38: 16413-16418, 1999.

201. **Nordanstig J, Broeren M, Hensater M, Perlander A, Osterberg K, and Jivegard L**. Six-minute walk test closely correlates to "real-life" outdoor walking capacity and quality of life in patients with intermittent claudication. *Journal of vascular surgery* 60: 404-409, 2014.

202. North BJ, and Sinclair DA. The intersection between aging and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation research* 110: 1097-1108, 2012.

203. Novella S, Dantas AP, Segarra G, Vidal-Gomez X, Mompeon A, Garabito M, Hermenegildo C, and Medina P. Aging-related endothelial dysfunction in the aorta from female senescence-accelerated mice is associated with decreased nitric oxide synthase expression. *Experimental gerontology* 48: 1329-1337, 2013.

204. **Nyberg M, Blackwell JR, Damsgaard R, Jones AM, Hellsten Y, and Mortensen SP**. Lifelong physical activity prevents an age-related reduction in arterial and skeletal muscle nitric oxide bioavailability in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 5361-5370, 2012.

205. **Nyberg M, Christensen PM, Mortensen SP, Hellsten Y, and Bangsbo J**. Infusion of ATP increases leg oxygen delivery but not oxygen uptake in the initial phase of intense knee-extensor exercise in humans. *Experimental physiology* 99: 1399-1408, 2014.

206. **Nyberg M, Jensen LG, Thaning P, Hellsten Y, and Mortensen SP**. Role of nitric oxide and prostanoids in the regulation of leg blood flow and blood pressure in humans with essential hypertension: effect of high-intensity aerobic training. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 1481-1494, 2012.

207. **Nyberg M, Mortensen SP, Cabo H, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Vina J, and Hellsten Y**. Roles of sedentary aging and lifelong physical activity in exchange of glutathione across exercising human skeletal muscle. *Free radical biology & medicine* 73: 166-173, 2014.

208. **Nyberg M, Mortensen SP, Saltin B, Hellsten Y, and Bangsbo J**. Low blood flow at onset of moderate-intensity exercise does not limit muscle oxygen uptake. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 298: R843-848, 2010.



209. **Nyberg M, Piil P, Egelund J, Sprague RS, Mortensen SP, and Hellsten Y**. Effect of PDE5 inhibition on the modulation of sympathetic alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction in contracting skeletal muscle of young and older recreationally active humans. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 309: H1867-1875, 2015.

210. **Nyberg M, Piil P, Egelund J, Sprague RS, Mortensen SP, and Hellsten Y**. Potentiation of cGMP signaling increases oxygen delivery and oxidative metabolism in contracting skeletal muscle of older but not young humans. *Physiological reports* 3: 2015.

211. **Nyberg M, Seidelin K, Andersen TR, Overby NN, Hellsten Y, and Bangsbo J**. Biomarkers of vascular function in premenopausal and recent postmenopausal women of similar age: effect of exercise training. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 306: R510-517, 2014.

212. **Nyberg SK, Berg OK, Helgerud J, and Wang E**. Blood flow regulation and oxygen uptake during high-intensity forearm exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 122: 907-917, 2017.

213. **Padilla J, Simmons GH, Bender SB, Arce-Esquivel AA, Whyte JJ, and Laughlin MH**. Vascular effects of exercise: endothelial adaptations beyond active muscle beds. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md)* 26: 132-145, 2011.

214. Padilla J, Young CN, Simmons GH, Deo SH, Newcomer SC, Sullivan JP, Laughlin MH, and Fadel PJ. Increased muscle sympathetic nerve activity acutely alters conduit artery shear rate patterns. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 298: H1128-1135, 2010.

215. Park SY, Ives SJ, Gifford JR, Andtbacka RH, Hyngstrom JR, Reese V, Layec G, Bharath LP, Symons JD, and Richardson RS. Impact of age on the vasodilatory function of human skeletal muscle feed arteries. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 310: H217-225, 2016.

216. **Parker BA, Ridout SJ, and Proctor DN**. Age and flow-mediated dilation: a comparison of dilatory responsiveness in the brachial and popliteal arteries. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 291: H3043-3049, 2006.

217. **Parker BA, Smithmyer SL, Jarvis SS, Ridout SJ, Pawelczyk JA, and Proctor DN**. Evidence for reduced sympatholysis in leg resistance vasculature of healthy older women. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 292: H1148-1156, 2007.

218. **Parker BA, Smithmyer SL, Pelberg JA, Mishkin AD, and Proctor DN**. Sex-specific influence of aging on exercising leg blood flow. *Journal of applied physiology* 104: 655-664, 2008.

219. **Pawelczyk JA, and Levine BD**. Heterogeneous responses of human limbs to infused adrenergic agonists: a gravitational effect? *Journal of applied physiology* 92: 2105-2113, 2002.

220. **Pedersen BK, and Saltin B**. Evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in chronic disease. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports* 16 Suppl 1: 3-63, 2006.

221. **Pierce GL, Eskurza I, Walker AE, Fay TN, and Seals DR**. Sex-specific effects of habitual aerobic exercise on brachial artery flow-mediated dilation in middle-aged and older adults. *Clinical science (London, England : 1979)* 120: 13-23, 2011.

222. **Podsiadlo D, and Richardson S**. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 39: 142-148, 1991.

223. **Poole DC, and Behnke BJ**. Control of muscle exercise hyperaemia: are the mechanisms found in transition? *Experimental physiology* 100: 373-374, 2015.

224. **Poole DC, and Jones AM**. Oxygen uptake kinetics. *Comprehensive Physiology* 2: 933-996, 2012.

225. **Poole DC, and Musch TI**. Mechanistic insights into how advanced age moves the site of (.)VO2 kinetics limitation upstream. *Journal of applied physiology* 108: 5-6, 2010.

226. **Poole JG, Lawrenson L, Kim J, Brown C, and Richardson RS**. Vascular and metabolic response to cycle exercise in sedentary humans: effect of age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 284: H1251-1259, 2003.



227. **Prevention CfDCa**. The State of Aging and Health in America 2013. edited by Services UDoHaH. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013.

228. **Proctor DN, and Joyner MJ**. Skeletal muscle mass and the reduction of VO2max in trained older subjects. *Journal of applied physiology* 82: 1411-1415, 1997.

229. **Proctor DN, Koch DW, Newcomer SC, Le KU, and Leuenberger UA**. Impaired leg vasodilation during dynamic exercise in healthy older women. *Journal of applied physiology* 95: 1963-1970, 2003.

230. **Proctor DN, Koch DW, Newcomer SC, Le KU, Smithmyer SL, and Leuenberger UA**. Leg blood flow and VO2 during peak cycle exercise in younger and older women. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 36: 623-631, 2004.

231. **Proctor DN, Le KU, and Ridout SJ**. Age and regional specificity of peak limb vascular conductance in men. *Journal of applied physiology* 98: 193-202, 2005.

232. **Proctor DN, and Newcomer SC**. Is there a difference in vascular reactivity of the arms and legs? *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 38: 1819-1828, 2006.

233. **Proctor DN, and Parker BA**. Vasodilation and vascular control in contracting muscle of the aging human. *Microcirculation (New York, NY : 1994)* 13: 315-327, 2006.

234. **Proctor DN, Shen PH, Dietz NM, Eickhoff TJ, Lawler LA, Ebersold EJ, Loeffler DL, and Joyner MJ**. Reduced leg blood flow during dynamic exercise in older endurance-trained men. *Journal of applied physiology* 85: 68-75, 1998.

235. **Radegran G, and Saltin B**. Nitric oxide in the regulation of vasomotor tone in human skeletal muscle. *The American journal of physiology* 276: H1951-1960, 1999.

236. **Remensnyder JP, Mitchell JH, and Sarnoff SJ**. Functional sympatholysis during muscular activity. Observations on influence of carotid sinus on oxygen uptake. *Circulation research* 11: 370-380, 1962.

237. **Richards JC, Luckasen GJ, Larson DG, and Dinenno FA**. Role of alpha-adrenergic vasoconstriction in regulating skeletal muscle blood flow and vascular conductance during forearm exercise in ageing humans. *The Journal of physiology* 592: 4775-4788, 2014.

238. Richards JC, Racine ML, Hearon CM, Jr., Kunkel M, Luckasen GJ, Larson DG, Allen JD, and Dinenno FA. Acute ingestion of dietary nitrate increases muscle blood flow via local vasodilation during handgrip exercise in young adults. *Physiological reports* 6: 2018.

239. **Richardson RS, Secher NH, Tschakovsky ME, Proctor DN, and Wray DW**. Metabolic and vascular limb differences affected by exercise, gender, age, and disease. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 38: 1792-1796, 2006.

240. **Richardson RS, Wary C, Wray DW, Hoff J, Rossiter HB, Layec G, and Carlier PG**. MRS Evidence of Adequate O(2) Supply in Human Skeletal Muscle at the Onset of Exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 47: 2299-2307, 2015.

241. **Ridout SJ, Parker BA, and Proctor DN**. Age and regional specificity of peak limb vascular conductance in women. *Journal of applied physiology* 99: 2067-2074, 2005.

242. **Rogers AM, Saunders NR, Pyke KE, and Tschakovsky ME**. Rapid vasoregulatory mechanisms in exercising human skeletal muscle: dynamic response to repeated changes in contraction intensity. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 291: H1065-1073, 2006.

243. **Rossiter HB**. Exercise: Kinetic considerations for gas exchange. *Comprehensive Physiology* 1: 203-244, 2011.

244. **Rowell LB**. *Central circulatory adjustments to dynamic exercise*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1993.

245. **Sadamoto T, Bonde-Petersen F, and Suzuki Y**. Skeletal muscle tension, flow, pressure, and EMG during sustained isometric contractions in humans. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology* 51: 395-408, 1983.

246. **Saltin B**. Exercise hyperaemia: magnitude and aspects on regulation in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 583: 819-823, 2007.



247. **Saltin B, and Mortensen SP**. Inefficient functional sympatholysis is an overlooked cause of malperfusion in contracting skeletal muscle. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 6269-6275, 2012.

248. **Saltin B, Radegran G, Koskolou MD, and Roach RC**. Skeletal muscle blood flow in humans and its regulation during exercise. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica* 162: 421-436, 1998.

249. **Sandoo A, van Zanten JJ, Metsios GS, Carroll D, and Kitas GD**. The endothelium and its role in regulating vascular tone. *The open cardiovascular medicine journal* 4: 302-312, 2010.

250. **Sarelius I, and Pohl U**. Control of muscle blood flow during exercise: local factors and integrative mechanisms. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)* 199: 349-365, 2010.

251. **Saunders NR, Pyke KE, and Tschakovsky ME**. Dynamic response characteristics of local muscle blood flow regulatory mechanisms in human forearm exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 98: 1286-1296, 2005.

252. **Saunders NR, and Tschakovsky ME**. Evidence for a rapid vasodilatory contribution to immediate hyperemia in rest-to-mild and mild-to-moderate forearm exercise transitions in humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 97: 1143-1151, 2004.

253. **Schrage WG, Eisenach JH, and Joyner MJ**. Ageing reduces nitric-oxide- and prostaglandinmediated vasodilatation in exercising humans. *The Journal of physiology* 579: 227-236, 2007.

254. **Schrage WG, Joyner MJ, and Dinenno FA**. Local inhibition of nitric oxide and prostaglandins independently reduces forearm exercise hyperaemia in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 557: 599-611, 2004.

255. Schrage WG, Wilkins BW, Johnson CP, Eisenach JH, Limberg JK, Dietz NM, Curry TB, and Joyner MJ. Roles of nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase in leg vasodilation and oxygen consumption during prolonged low-intensity exercise in untrained humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 109: 768-777, 2010.

256. **Seals DR**. Sympathetic activation during the cold pressor test: influence of stimulus area. *Clinical physiology (Oxford, England)* 10: 123-129, 1990.

257. **Seals DR, Jablonski KL, and Donato AJ**. Aging and vascular endothelial function in humans. *Clinical science (London, England : 1979)* 120: 357-375, 2011.

258. **Seals DR, Walker AE, Pierce GL, and Lesniewski LA**. Habitual exercise and vascular ageing. *The Journal of physiology* 587: 5541-5549, 2009.

259. **Segal SS, and Kurjiaka DT**. Coordination of blood flow control in the resistance vasculature of skeletal muscle. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 27: 1158-1164, 1995.

260. **Sejersted OM, Hargens AR, Kardel KR, Blom P, Jensen O, and Hermansen L**. Intramuscular fluid pressure during isometric contraction of human skeletal muscle. *Journal of applied physiology: respiratory, environmental and exercise physiology* 56: 287-295, 1984.

261. **Shepherd JT**. Circulatory response to exercise in health. *Circulation* 76: Vi3-10, 1987.

262. **Sheriff DD**. Role of mechanical factors in governing muscle blood flow. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)* 199: 385-391, 2010.

263. **Sheriff DD, and Hakeman AL**. Role of speed vs. grade in relation to muscle pump function at locomotion onset. *Journal of applied physiology* 91: 269-276, 2001.

264. **Sheriff DD, Rowell LB, and Scher AM**. Is rapid rise in vascular conductance at onset of dynamic exercise due to muscle pump? *The American journal of physiology* 265: H1227-1234, 1993.

265. **Sheriff DD, and Van Bibber R**. Flow-generating capability of the isolated skeletal muscle pump. *The American journal of physiology* 274: H1502-1508, 1998.

266. **Shoemaker JK, Halliwill JR, Hughson RL, and Joyner MJ**. Contributions of acetylcholine and nitric oxide to forearm blood flow at exercise onset and recovery. *The American journal of physiology* 273: H2388-2395, 1997.

267. **Shoemaker JK, Hodge L, and Hughson RL**. Cardiorespiratory kinetics and femoral artery blood velocity during dynamic knee extension exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 77: 2625-2632, 1994.



268. **Shoemaker JK, and Hughson RL**. Adaptation of blood flow during the rest to work transition in humans. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 31: 1019-1026, 1999.

269. **Shoemaker JK, Phillips SM, Green HJ, and Hughson RL**. Faster femoral artery blood velocity kinetics at the onset of exercise following short-term training. *Cardiovascular research* 31: 278-286, 1996.

270. **Shoemaker JK, Tschakovsky ME, and Hughson RL**. Vasodilation contributes to the rapid hyperemia with rhythmic contractions in humans. *Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology* 76: 418-427, 1998.

271. **Sindler AL, Delp MD, Reyes R, Wu G, and Muller-Delp JM**. Effects of ageing and exercise training on eNOS uncoupling in skeletal muscle resistance arterioles. *The Journal of physiology* 587: 3885-3897, 2009.

272. **Sinkler SY, Fernando CA, and Segal SS**. Differential alpha-adrenergic modulation of rapid onset vasodilatation along resistance networks of skeletal muscle in old versus young mice. *The Journal of physiology* 594: 6987-7004, 2016.

273. **Siu KL, Gao L, and Cai H**. Differential Roles of Protein Complexes NOX1-NOXO1 and NOX2p47phox in Mediating Endothelial Redox Responses to Oscillatory and Unidirectional Laminar Shear Stress. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 291: 8653-8662, 2016.

274. **Smith EG, Voyles WF, Kirby BS, Markwald RR, and Dinenno FA**. Ageing and leg postjunctional alpha-adrenergic vasoconstrictor responsiveness in healthy men. *The Journal of physiology* 582: 63-71, 2007.

275. **Spence AL, Carter HH, Naylor LH, and Green DJ**. A prospective randomized longitudinal study involving 6 months of endurance or resistance exercise. Conduit artery adaptation in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 591: 1265-1275, 2013.

276. **Stanaway L, Rutherfurd-Markwick K, Page R, and Ali A**. Performance and Health Benefits of Dietary Nitrate Supplementation in Older Adults: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients* 9: 2017.

277. **Stuehr D, Pou S, and Rosen GM**. Oxygen reduction by nitric-oxide synthases. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276: 14533-14536, 2001.

278. **Sugawara J, Komine H, Hayashi K, Maeda S, and Matsuda M**. Relationship between augmentation index obtained from carotid and radial artery pressure waveforms. *Journal of hypertension* 25: 375-381, 2007.

279. **Sundlof G, and Wallin BG**. Effect of lower body negative pressure on human muscle nerve sympathetic activity. *The Journal of physiology* 278: 525-532, 1978.

280. Sutton-Tyrrell K, Najjar SS, Boudreau RM, Venkitachalam L, Kupelian V, Simonsick EM, Havlik R, Lakatta EG, Spurgeon H, Kritchevsky S, Pahor M, Bauer D, and Newman A. Elevated aortic pulse wave velocity, a marker of arterial stiffness, predicts cardiovascular events in well-functioning older adults. *Circulation* 111: 3384-3390, 2005.

281. **Sverrisdottir YB, Jansson LM, Hagg U, and Gan LM**. Muscle sympathetic nerve activity is related to a surrogate marker of endothelial function in healthy individuals. *PloS one* 5: e9257, 2010.

282. **Taddei S, Galetta F, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti G, Franzoni F, Giusti C, and Salvetti A**. Physical activity prevents age-related impairment in nitric oxide availability in elderly athletes. *Circulation* 101: 2896-2901, 2000.

283. **Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti G, Bernini G, Magagna A, and Salvetti A**. Age-related reduction of NO availability and oxidative stress in humans. *Hypertension* 38: 274-279, 2001.

284. **Tanaka H, Desouza CA, Jones PP, Stevenson ET, Davy KP, and Seals DR**. Greater rate of decline in maximal aerobic capacity with age in physically active vs. sedentary healthy women. *Journal of applied physiology* 83: 1947-1953, 1997.



285. **Tanaka H, Dinenno FA, and Seals DR**. Reductions in central arterial compliance with age are related to sympathetic vasoconstrictor nerve activity in healthy men. *Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension* 2017.

286. **Thomas GD, and Segal SS**. Neural control of muscle blood flow during exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 97: 731-738, 2004.

287. **Thompson LP, and Mohrman DE**. Blood flow and oxygen consumption in skeletal muscle during sympathetic stimulation. *The American journal of physiology* 245: H66-71, 1983.

288. **Tinken TM, Thijssen DH, Hopkins N, Dawson EA, Cable NT, and Green DJ**. Shear stress mediates endothelial adaptations to exercise training in humans. *Hypertension* 55: 312-318, 2010.

289. **Trinity JD, Groot HJ, Layec G, Rossman MJ, Ives SJ, Morgan DE, Gmelch BS, Bledsoe A, and Richardson RS**. Passive leg movement and nitric oxide-mediated vascular function: the impact of age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 308: H672-679, 2015.

290. **Trinity JD, Groot HJ, Layec G, Rossman MJ, Ives SJ, Runnels S, Gmelch B, Bledsoe A, and Richardson RS**. Nitric oxide and passive limb movement: a new approach to assess vascular function. *The Journal of physiology* 590: 1413-1425, 2012.

291. **Trinity JD, McDaniel J, Venturelli M, Fjeldstad AS, Ives SJ, Witman MA, Barrett-O'Keefe Z, Amann M, Wray DW, and Richardson RS**. Impact of body position on central and peripheral hemodynamic contributions to movement-induced hyperemia: implications for rehabilitative medicine. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 300: H1885-1891, 2011.

292. **Trinity JD, Wray DW, Witman MA, Layec G, Barrett-O'Keefe Z, Ives SJ, Conklin JD, Reese V, and Richardson RS**. Contribution of nitric oxide to brachial artery vasodilation during progressive handgrip exercise in the elderly. *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology* 305: R893-899, 2013.

293. **Tschakovsky ME, and Hughson RL**. Rapid blunting of sympathetic vasoconstriction in the human forearm at the onset of exercise. *Journal of applied physiology* 94: 1785-1792, 2003.

294. **Tschakovsky ME, and Hughson RL**. Venous emptying mediates a transient vasodilation in the human forearm. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 279: H1007-1014, 2000.

295. Tschakovsky ME, Rogers AM, Pyke KE, Saunders NR, Glenn N, Lee SJ, Weissgerber T, and Dwyer EM. Immediate exercise hyperemia in humans is contraction intensity dependent: evidence for rapid vasodilation. *Journal of applied physiology* 96: 639-644, 2004.

296. Tschakovsky ME, Saunders NR, Webb KA, and O'Donnell DE. Muscle blood-flow dynamics at exercise onset: do the limbs differ? *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 38: 1811-1818, 2006.
297. Tschakovsky ME, Shoemaker JK, and Hughson RL. Vasodilation and muscle pump contribution to immediate exercise hyperemia. *The American journal of physiology* 271: H1697-1701, 1996.

Vaitkevicius PV, Fleg JL, Engel JH, O'Connor FC, Wright JG, Lakatta LE, Yin FC, and Lakatta EG.
 Effects of age and aerobic capacity on arterial stiffness in healthy adults. *Circulation* 88: 1456-1462, 1993.

299. Victor RG, and Leimbach WN, Jr. Effects of lower body negative pressure on sympathetic discharge to leg muscles in humans. *Journal of applied physiology* 63: 2558-2562, 1987.

300. **Wahren J, Saltin B, Jorfeldt L, and Pernow B**. Influence of age on the local circulatory adaptation to leg exercise. *Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation* 33: 79-86, 1974.

301. **Walden R, Adar R, Rubinstein ZJ, and Bass A**. Distribution and symmetry of arteriosclerotic lesions of the lower extremities: an arteriographic study of 200 limbs. *Cardiovascular and interventional radiology* 8: 180-182, 1985.

302. Walther G, Nottin S, Karpoff L, Perez-Martin A, Dauzat M, and Obert P. Flow-mediated dilation and exercise-induced hyperaemia in highly trained athletes: comparison of the upper and lower limb vasculature. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)* 193: 139-150, 2008.



303. Wang KL, Cheng HM, Chuang SY, Spurgeon HA, Ting CT, Lakatta EG, Yin FC, Chou P, and Chen CH. Central or peripheral systolic or pulse pressure: which best relates to target organs and future mortality? *Journal of hypertension* 27: 461-467, 2009.

304. Wang Z, Zhang J, Li B, Gao X, Liu Y, Mao W, and Chen SL. Resveratrol ameliorates low shear stressinduced oxidative stress by suppressing ERK/eNOSThr495 in endothelial cells. *Molecular medicine reports* 10: 1964-1972, 2014.

305. Weiss A, Mirelman A, Giladi N, Barnes LL, Bennett DA, Buchman AS, and Hausdorff JM. Transition Between the Timed up and Go Turn to Sit Subtasks: Is Timing Everything? *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 17: 864.e869-864.e815, 2016.

306. **Wray DW, Nishiyama SK, and Richardson RS**. Role of alpha1-adrenergic vasoconstriction in the regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow with advancing age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 296: H497-504, 2009.

307. **Wray DW, Uberoi A, Lawrenson L, and Richardson RS**. Evidence of preserved endothelial function and vascular plasticity with age. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 290: H1271-1277, 2006.

308. Wylie LJ, Kelly J, Bailey SJ, Blackwell JR, Skiba PF, Winyard PG, Jeukendrup AE, Vanhatalo A, and Jones AM. Beetroot juice and exercise: pharmacodynamic and dose-response relationships. *Journal of applied physiology* 115: 325-336, 2013.

